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Chairman's Statemen

TEHES et

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), |

present the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31st December, 2020 (the “Year”).

2020 is a difficult year for the Company. Trading in the Shares of
the Company has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on
30th April, 2021, pending the publication of the audited annual
results of the Group for the financial year ended 31st December,
2020 (the 2020 Annual Results”).

According to the announcement of the Company dated 29th April,
2021, the delay in publication of the 2020 Annual Results was due
to the fact that the audit works had not been completed, which
could only be completed upon the satisfactory completion of a
comprehensive review on the write-down of inventory of
approximately HK$52,409,000 of the Company (the “Impairment
Loss”) due to the defects of certain electronics components

inventory in the supply chain business.
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2021, the I'mpairment Loss related to seven purchases of electronic
parts and components (the “Problematic Purchases”) under the
electronics products trading business (the “Electronic Products
Business”), a subsegment of the Group’s discontinued supply chain
business once engaged by the Company which commenced in 2018
In March

the financial and

and had its last transaction entered into during 2020.
2020, having evaluated, among other things,
inventory risks involved in the Electronic Products Business
particularly brought to light from incidents of the Problematic
Purchases, and the uncertainties on the macro environment
attributed by the COVID-19 pandemic, the management of the
Company resolved to cease the Electronic Products Business and to
wind down the Dispersed Metals Business with an aim to cease all

supply chain business by the end of 2020.

BUSINESS AND INVESTMENT

The Group has continued and focused on its business of trading of
mineral properties during the Year and to a lesser extent carried out
its supply chain business in trading in electronic products and
dispersed metals. The Group successfully completed the investment
of 18.45% interest in CNNC Financial Leasing Limited (“CNNC
Leasing”) in February 2019.
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As mentioned in the announcement, dated 13th November, 2020,
of the Company, the board of CNNC Leasing (an associate of the
Company, the equity interest of which was then held as to
approximately 18.45% by the Group) had approved to enter into an
absorption and merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with
China Nuclear E&C Financial Leasing Co., Ltd (F#ZEZRERE AR
A B]) ("CNECFL”) and the shareholders of CNECFL (“CNECFL
Shareholders”) in relation to the merger (the “Merger”) of CNNC
Leasing with CNECFL. The Merger provided an enlarged capital base
(the
business. With the public utilities projects of CNECFL succeeded by

“New Equity Interest”) for CNNC Leasing to expand its

CNNC Leasing, CNNC Leasing is expected to be able to diversify its
business. The Group’s interests in CNNC Leasing were reduced from
approximately 18.45% to approximately 11.36% (as enlarged by the
New Equity Interest).

With a view to addressing, amongst others, a comprehensive review
on the Impairment Loss, the Company, with the recommendations
of the Audit Committee, engaged (i) the Independent Expert to
perform an independent review on the Issues (the “Review"); (i) an
independent corporate investigation and risk consulting firm (the
“Background Investigation Agent”) to perform certain background
investigation on the customers and suppliers of the Electronic
Products Business, their directors and shareholders, and relevant
personnel of the Group who were considered to have involved (in
varying degrees and/or capacities) in the Electronic Products Business
(iii) the
Consultant to perform a review on the Group’s existing internal

(the “Background Investigation”); and Internal Control
control systems and procedures, and make recommendations on
remedial actions (where applicable) in response to its findings (the
Review”, together with the Review and the

“Internal Control

Background Investigation, the “Investigative Works").

The Independent Director Committee is of the view, which the Audit
Committee and the Board concurred, that, based on the findings
from the Investigative Works, (i) there were significant internal
control weaknesses, in terms of both the control environment and
the implementation, concerning the Electronic Products Business; (ii)
there were obvious downplaying (and at times disregard) on risk
management and lack of due care and skills involved on the part of
the Operation Team; and (iii) the combination of system and human
factors was the principal root causes leading to the Problematic
Purchases, which together contributed to the failure on the part of
the Company to detect and identify the Problematic Purchases, and
ultimately led to the happening of the Problematic Purchases and
the involvement of the Company in transactions that were of
doubtful commercial substance.
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In relation to the four personnel of the operation team (the
“QOperation Team”) identified in the Review to be responsible for the
executive and decision-making functions of the Electronic Products
Business throughout its operation from 2018 to 2020, the two
former chief executive officers of the Company have resigned as of
the date of this report, both due to the policy of regular rotation of
managerial personnel of the Group, whilst the Group has terminated
the employment of the other two personnel of the Operation Team
with effect from July 2022, due to the findings from the Review,
and has since been removed from all positions of the Group (the
“Employment Termination”). The Independent Director Committee is
of the view, which the Audit Committee and the Board concurred,
the Employment Termination is appropriate and proportionate to the
magnitude and seriousness of the lack of due care and skills during
their services with the Group that ultimately led to the Problematic
Purchases and the consequential Impairment Loss, and is satisfied
in the

that such course of action taken was reasonable

circumstances.

Provided the fact that (i) the Electronic Products Business has

completely ceased; (ii) the relevant four personnel principally
responsible for the Electronic Products Business at the relevant time,
being the Operation Team, has either been resigned or removed
from all positions of the Group; and (iii) the internal control
deficiencies identified in the Internal Control Review have been
rectified, with enhancement measures taken to improve the internal
control environment, the Independent Director Committee is of the
view, which the Audit Committee and the Board concurred, that the
Company has sufficiently rectified the root causes leading to the
Problematic Purchases to the extent possible, and is satisfied that
there exists sufficient safeguards and measures to avoid events
similar to the Problematic Purchases from happening again in the

continuing business(es) of the Group.

VIEWS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND THE
BOARD ON THE AUDITOR’S OPINION

As set out in the Company’s announcement dated 15th August,
2022 in relation to the major findings of the Investigative Works
(the “Major Findings Announcement”), a series of Investigative
Works have been performed by the Company with the assistance of
various professional advisers to, amongst others, identify the root
cause(s) leading to the Problematic Purchases, and identify whether
staff misconduct or transfer of benefits existed (the “Issues”). Based
on the findings from the Investigative Works, the audit committee of
the Company and the Board are of the view that (i) there were
significant internal control weaknesses, in terms of both the control

environment and the implementation, concerning the Electronic
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Products Business; (ii) there were obvious downplaying (and at times
disregard) on risk management and lack of due care and skills
involved on the part of the team of personnel responsible for the
executive and decision-making functions of the Electronic Products
Business (the “Operation Team”); and (iii) the combination of system
and human factors was the principal root causes leading to the
Problematic Purchases, which together contributed to the failure on
the part of the Company to detect and identify the Problematic
Purchases, and ultimately led to the happening of the Problematic
Purchases and the involvement of the Company in transactions that
were of doubtful commercial substance.

In addition, (i) all transactions of the Electronic Products Business
were ceased during the Year with outstanding accounts receivable
collected by the subsequent year of 2021; (ii) the relevant personnel
were principally responsible for the Electronic Products Business at
the relevant time, being the Operation Team, has either been
resigned or removed from all positions of the Group; and (iii) an
internal control review, with a view to, amongst others, assessing
and identifying significant weaknesses in the relevant procedures,
systems and controls of the Group in relation to its existing business
and the
deficiencies identified therein have been rectified, with enhancement

operations, have been carried out, internal control

measures taken to improve the internal control environment.

Accordingly, the Audit Committee and the Board are of the view
that (i) having taken into account the practical limitations not
controllable by the Company (e.g., the time
the uncooperative

lapse since the
occurrence of the Problematic Purchases,
customers and suppliers) encountered, the Investigative Works
represented a best-effort attempt, having carried out appropriate
and reasonably practicable procedures and having the full support
and cooperation by the Company, and has investigated into and
addressed the Issues to the extent possible and practicable; (ii) the
Company has sufficiently rectified the root causes leading to the
Problematic Purchases to the extent possible, and is satisfied that
there exists sufficient safeguards and measures to avoid events
similar to the Problematic Purchases from happening again in the
continuing business(es) of the Group; (iii) no material adverse impact
has been brought by the Problematic Purchases onto the continuing
business operation of the Company; and (iv) other than the
Impairment Loss arising from the Problematic Purchases, which was
one-off in nature, no material adverse impact has been brought by
the Problematic Purchases onto the financial position of the
Company.
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We have noted that the auditor of the Company (the "Auditor”)
issued a disclaimer opinion on the financial statements of the Year.
However, having taken into account the abovementioned factors into
consideration, the Audit Committee and the Board consider that the
Company has fully cooperated with the Company’s auditor and has
made its best efforts to obtain and provide all available audit
evidence (including, but without limitation, the findings and
resultant reports of the Investigative Works and unfettered access to
the contemporary records and documents possessed by the

Company) to the Auditor. However, due to certain limitations
encountered by the Investigative Works (as further detailed in the
Major Findings Announcement) and circumstances beyond the
control of the Company, such available audit evidence were deemed
insufficient to attain the level of assurance to the Auditor’s
satisfaction in its view, which led to the Auditor’s disclaimer of

opinion disclosed herein.

We have also noted the Auditor has issued an unmodified audit
report (except qualified opinion on the results from discontinued
operation and its comparative figures, the supply chain business for
2020 are
discontinued operation.) on the 2021 financial statements of the

the vyear ended 31st December, re-presented as
Company which signifies that the Issues associated with the supply

chain business have been resolved.

RESULTS

During the Year, the Group has recorded revenue generated from
trading of natural uranium and supply chain business of
approximately HK$1,662,470,000 (2019: approximately
HK$3,176,849,000) for the Year, a decrease of approximately 48%
over last year. The significant decrease in revenue is mainly due to
the slowdown in the supply chain business in the second half of the
Year. A net loss of approximately HK$46,097,000 was recorded as
compared to a net loss of approximately HK$219,323,000 recorded
in the corresponding period last year. The significant loss in the year
2019 was mainly due to the impairment loss of the Group’s
Mongolian Mining Project of approximately HK$210,367,000.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Year 2021 will continue to be a challenging year. The Group will
continue to adjust its strategy, focus on the continued development
of its natural uranium trading business and to actively seek
high-quality uranium resources projects to complement the
development of the CNNC Group. It is expected that the stable
development of CNNC Leasing will provide an annual distribution of
not less than 90% profit of CNNC Leasing in accordance to its

articles of association, which will bring stable cash flow and
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substantial returns to the Group. The Group had incurred the
Impairment Loss due to defects of certain electronics components
inventory in the supply chain business. The Group had initiated
claims against the relevant suppliers, however, the claiming process,
if successful, could be lengthy. The impairment loss was provided in
full in the year 2020 on a prudent basis. The Group will explore all
the possibilities in an attempt to recover the amount to the greatest
possible extent in the year 2021.

The Group will continue to communicate and negotiate with the
Mongolian Government for the set up of a joint venture company to
enable the application of the mining licenses of the Group’s
Mongolian Mining Project interests in the Project.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my heartfelt appreciation to our
for their
supports and my gratitude to the Group's

shareholders, customers and business partners
long-standing
management team and staff for their endeavours and contributions

in the past year.

Zhong lJie
Chairman
Hong Kong, 9th September, 2022
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MARKET AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During the Year, the Group has continued its business of trading of
mineral properties and to a lesser extent its supply chain business,
including the trading of electronics, dispersed metals (“Dispersed
Metals Business”) and other products.

Trading in the Shares has been suspended with effect from 9:00
a.m. on 30th April, 2021, pending the publication of the audited
annual results of the Group for the financial year ended
31st December, 2020 (the “2020 Annual Results”). According to the
announcement of the Company dated 29th April, 2021, the delay in
publication of the 2020 Annual Results was due to the fact that the
audit works had not been completed, which could only be
completed upon the satisfactory completion of a comprehensive
review on the inventory write-down (previously referred to as
“impairment loss of inventory”) of approximately HK$52,409,000 of
the Company.

According to the announcement of the Company dated 13th May,
2021,
electronic parts and components (the “Problematic Purchases”)

the inventory write-down related to seven purchases of
under the electronics products trading business (the “Electronic
Products Business”), a subsegment of the Group’s supply chain
business once engaged by the Company which commenced in 2018
and had its last trading transaction entered into during the Year.

In March 2020, having evaluated, among other things, the financial
and inventory risks involved in the Electronic Products Business
particularly brought to light from incidents of the Problematic
Purchases, and the uncertainties on the macro environment
attributed by the COVID-19 pandemic, the management of the
Company resolved to cease the Electronic Products Business and to
wind down the Dispersed Metals Business within the supply chain

business segment with an aim to cease all supply chain business.
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The Group has recorded revenue from trading of natural uranium
and supply chain business of approximately HK$1,662,470,000 (2019
Year: approximately HK$3,169,836,000) for the Year, a decrease of
approximately 48% over the 2019 Year. The significant decrease in
revenue is mainly due to the cessation of trading in electronic
products and dispersed metals during the Year as mentioned above.
During the Year, a net loss of approximately HK$46,097,000 was
recorded as compared to a net loss of approximately
HK$219,323,000 recorded in the 2019 Year. The reduction of net
loss was mainly due to (i) a gain of deemed disposal of interest in
an associate immediately following a merger of an associate of
approximately HK$24,999,000 (2019 Year: nil); and (ii) an absence of
an impairment loss on exploration and evaluation assets (2019 Year:
approximately HK$210,367,000); partially offset by (i) a gross loss of
approximately HK$13,722,000 mainly arising from the inventory
write-down for the Problematic Purchases having embedded in the
(2019 Year:
HK$32,641,000); and (ii) an impairment loss on property, plant, and

cost of sales a gross profit of approximately
equipment in relation to the Group’s projects in Mongolia in the
amount of approximately HK$11,459,000 (2019 Year: nil).

During the Year, the Group continued to communicate and
negotiate with the Mongolian Government to set up a joint venture
company for the application of the mining licenses of the Group's
Mongolian Mining Project. As mentioned in the announcements
dated 9th January, 3rd February, 17th March, 28th April, 4th and
22nd May, 5th June, 6th July, 12th October and 13th November,
2020 of the Company, in the hearing of the Appellate Court with
new evidence presented 2020, the Appellate Court
concluded the decision of the Capital City Administrative Court of
First-Instance of Mongolia (the “Court”) was right, but considered
that the Group had the rights to make the application with the new

in June,

evidence to the Court again. The Group’s application to the Court
to “resume the litigation period” (i.e. the period during which one
can litigate) was refused, as the Court considered that the Group
did not put forward the application within the litigation period, and
could not prove that the delay was due to the wrongful action of
Governmental Organisation. Upon appeal, the Appellate Court
considered that it had no reasons to reverse the judgment of the

below court.
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On 29th October,
included,

2020,
amongst others,
Resources and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (“MRPAM”, the

a working committee (“Committee”)
representatives from the Mineral

respondent of the lawsuit) was set up with a view to help resolve
the disputes regarding the expiry of the exploration licenses of the
Group. The management believes it is a positive sign of the
MRPAM'’s intention towards resolving the disputes, though at this
stage, there is no guarantee that the matter shall be resolved in
favour of the Group.

The Company is closely monitoring the progress and the work of the
Committee and will make further announcement(s) as and when
appropriate.

OPERATIONS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a "Revenue”
sales” of approximately HK$1,662,470,000 (2019 Year:
approximately HK$3,169,836,000) and approximately
HK$1,676,192,000 (2019 Year: approximately HK$3,137,195,000)
respectively, a significant decrease of approximately 48% in both

and “Cost of

revenue and cost of sales over last year, which resulted in a “Gross
loss” of approximately HK$13,722,000 in the Year (2019 Year: gross
profit approximately HK$32,641,000),
approximately 142% over last year.

a significant decrease of
The significant decrease in
revenue and the resulting gross loss are mainly due to a significant
decrease in the turnover generated from the supply chain business
in the second half of the Year, due to the cessation of trading in
electronic products in the first half of the Year and subsequently the
and the
inventory write-down concerning the Problematic

trading of dispersed metals by the end of the VYear,
inclusion of
Purchases in the cost of sales.

“Other income and gains and losses”, of approximately
HK$4,665,000 (2019 Year: approximately HK$7,656,000), was mainly
interest income generated from the bank and customers’ overdue
charges under the Electronic Products Business. “Net exchange gains
(losses)” of approximately HK$290,000 were the net exchange gains
recorded during the Year (2019 Year:
approximately HK$2,597,000) where were mainly due to the assets
in the appreciate USD offset by the assets
denominated in the depreciated MNT.

net exchange loss of

denominated
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“Share of result of an associate” recorded a loss of approximately
HK$4,140,000 during the Year (2019 Year: approximately
HK$1,896,000) mainly due to the Expected Credit Loss adjustment
of the differences of accounting standards between the HKFRSs and
that of the PRC audited results although the associate recorded
profit under the PRC accounting standards in both years. The share
of result of associate was generated from the Group’'s
approximately 18.45% (which was subsequently diluted to
approximately 11.36% after the Merger mentioned below) share of
the registered capital in CNNC Financial Leasing Company Limited
(P E R E BB A A ("CNNC Leasing”).

During the Year, the Group has incurred “Finance costs” of
approximately HK$16,693,000 (2019 Year: approximately
HK$17,365,000) from various short-term and long-term bank
facilities of which the Group had secured during the Year for the
Group’s business trading activities and equity investment in CNNC
Leasing.

The Group had incurred an inventory write-down of approximately
HK$52,409,000 (2019 Year: Nil) which was included in the cost of
sales due to defects of certain electronics components inventory
(from the Problematic Purchases) in the supply chain business. The
Group had initiated claims against the relevant suppliers, however,
the claiming process, if successful, could be lengthy. Further details
are set out in the announcements dated 8th January and
15th March, 2021 of the Company.

The Group had incurred an impairment loss of approximately
HK$210,367,000 in the 2019 Year on the Group’s Mongolian
Mining Project (2020: Nil). Such impairment loss was recorded based
on the fair market valuation of the Mongolia Mining Project, with
consideration being taken on the downward movement of the
market price of the natural uranium and the initiation of the
lawsuit. Further details of the lawsuit are set out in the sub-section
headed “Market and Business Overview"” above.

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
YEAR

Summing up the combined effects of the foregoing, a net loss for
the Year amounted to approximately HK$46,097,000 (2019 Year:
loss approximately HK$219,323,000). After taken into account of the
other comprehensive income of approximately HK$20,242,000 (2019
Year: expense of approximately HK$12,449,000) relating to
exchange differences arising from the translation to presentation
currency, and share of exchange difference of an associate, the total
comprehensive expense for the Year amounted to approximately

HK$25,855,000 (2019 Year: expense of approximately

HK$231,772,000).
14
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FUTURE STRATEGIES

As set out in the 2019 Annual Report, the 2020 Interim Report and
the announcement dated 15th March, 2021 of the Company, the
uncertainties on the macro environment attributed by the COVID-19
pandemic, the financial and inventory risks involved in the Electronic
Products Business particularly brought to light from incidents of the
Problematic Purchases, the management of the Company resolved to
cease the Electronic Products Business and to wind down the
Dispersed Metals Business within the supply chain business segment
in the Year and focus more in the uranium products trading
business, in which the Group had established competitive
advantages, and to actively seek high-quality uranium resources
projects to complement the development of its parent group.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
23rd February, 2022, the Company (for itself and on behalf of each
of its subsidiaries) and China National Uranium Corporation, Limited
(FE#HERRAQA
Company, (for itself and on behalf of each of its subsidiaries other
than the Group (“CNUC Group"”)) entered
connected transactions framework agreement (“FA"), pursuant to

) ("CNUC"), an indirect holding company of the

into a continuing

which the Group agreed to i) act as the prioritised supplier of CNUC
Group for its short term demand for natural uranium products and
of CNUC Group for its
medium-to-long-term demand for natural uranium products; and ii)

the regional sole supplier
act as the exclusive authorised distributor for the sale and
distribution of uranium products produced by the R&ssing uranium
mine (being indirectly owned by CNUC as to approximately
68.62%), for on-sale to third party customers in all countries and
regions around the world except the PRC. The Group believes the
transactions contemplated under the FA are in line with the Group’s
strategic pursuit of becoming CNUC Group’s major platform in
overseas uranium resources exploration, development and trading,
and will facilitate the Group in further strengthening its uranium
trading business and expand its reach into the PRC and worldwide
market, which in turn will enhance the Group’s profitability in the
long run. The continuing connected transactions contemplated under
the FA are expected to occur on a regular and continuing basis and

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group.

On 23rd June, 2022, the FA,
thereunder, and the proposed annual caps under the Continuing

the transactions contemplated

Connected Transactions have been approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company.
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Being a member of CNUC Group and having considered the
competitive edges of the Group, the Group is considered to be in a
better strategic position to be designated as the procurement arm of
CNUC Group in the international uranium market. On 1st July,
2022, the Company completed a delivery of approximately 533,000
pounds of uranium products to the CNUC Group under the FA.

As mentioned in the announcement, dated 13th November, 2020,
of the Company, the board of CNNC Leasing (an associate of the
Company,
approximately 18.45% by the Group) had approved to enter into an

the equity interest of which was then held as to

absorption and merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with
China Nuclear E&C Financial Leasing Co., Ltd (F#ZEREREER
A @) ("CNECFL") and the shareholders of CNECFL (“"CNECFL
Shareholders”) in relation to the merger (the “Merger”) of CNNC
Leasing with CNECFL. Pursuant to the Merger: (i) CNNC Leasing
absorbed and merged with CNECFL, and the assets,
businesses, employees, contracts and all other rights and obligations
of CNECFL were succeeded and undertaken by CNNC Leasing; and
(i) CNNC Leasing allotted and issued RMB1,247,526,100 new
(the “New Equity Interest”) to the CNECFL
Shareholders, representing approximately 38.41% of the registered
capital of RMB3,247,536,100 of CNNC Leasing (as enlarged by the
New Equity Interest). The Merger provided an enlarged capital base
for CNNC Leasing to expand its business. With the public utilities
projects of CNECFL succeeded by CNNC Leasing, CNNC Leasing is
expected to be able to diversify its business. The Group’s interests in
18.45% to
approximately 11.36% (as enlarged by the New Equity Interest).

liabilities,

registered capital

CNNC Leasing was reduced from approximately
CNNC Leasing has 7 directors in total, of which one of the directors
was nominated by the Group. CNNC Leasing
recognised as an associate of the Group, and hence, according to

remains to be

the accounting policy of the Group, the Group will continue to
share the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of CNNC
Leasing.

The associate of the Group (Société des Mines d'Azelik S.A.
(“Somina™)) is still facing severe cash flow problems and will not be
able to resume production within a short period of time. The Group
will closely monitor the situation and continue to work with the
other shareholders of Somina for its future plans.

The Group will continue to negotiate with the Mongolian
Government for the setting up of a joint venture company for the
project. Th.:é__Group will endeavour to expedite the process although
the project has not been, to a material extent, adversely affected by
its slow progress, as the market price of natural uranium products
has remained low until the third quarter of 2021.
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For the Mongolian Mining Project, the Group filed the lawsuit in
January 2020 but was unsuccessful. For further details, please refer
to the sub-section headed “Market and Business Overview"” above.
The Group would continue to closely monitor the progress and will
make further announcement(s) as and when appropriate to inform
its shareholders and potential investors if there is any significant
development in respect of the case.

The Group aims to expand and diversify its business by leveraging
on the strengths of CNNC, in the field of nuclear energy, to develop
projects with reasonable returns and continues to explore other
possible investment opportunities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
As at 31st December, 2020, the Group employed 23 (2019 Year:
22) full-time employees of whom 5 (2019 Year: 4) were based in
Hong Kong, 14 (2019 Year: 14) were based in the PRC and 4 (2019
Year: 4) were based in Mongolia. Total staff costs incurred during
the Year amounted to approximately HK$16,223,000 (2019 Year:
approximately HK$11,746,000).

Remuneration policies and packages for the Group’s employees are
based on their performance, working experiences and conditions
prevailing in the industry. Depending on the financial results of the
Group and the performance of individual employees, eligible staff
may also be granted discretionary performance bonuses, in addition
to basic salaries, retirement schemes and medical benefit schemes.
To raise work quality and management abilities of its employees, the
Group provides job rotation, in-house training and external training
courses to employees.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
The Group recorded a net cash
HK$41,628,000 (2019 Year: net cash outflow of approximately
HK$76,123,000) during the Year, which was mainly due to the cash
dividend received, net of the PRC withholding tax, from an associate
of approximately HK$23,300,000 (2019 Year: nil), combined with a
release of restricted cash of approximately HK$13,571,000 (2019
Year: a placement of restricted cash of approximately
HK$19,004,000) in relation to a decrease in the balance of the
restricted cash required by various banks for bank facilities and bills

inflow of approximately

payable. During the Year, the Group has continued to engage in the
business activities of trading natural uranium, however, the
management decided to cease Electronic Products Business and
Dispersed Metals Business in 2020 and had the last transactions

completed in 2020.
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At 31st December, 2020, the Group had net current liabilities
amounting to approximately HK$124,700,000 (at 31st December,
2019: approximately HK$100,080,000) and the current liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$308,787,000 (at 31st December,
2019: approximately HK$811,994,000). During the Year, the Group
has continued to engage in the business activities of trading in
natural uranium, as well as trading in electronic products and
dispersed metals (all trading of electronic products and dispersed
metals had ceased by the end of the Year). As at 31st December,
2020, the Group had trade receivables of approximately
HK$29,305,000 (at 31st December, 2019: approximately
HK$247,843,000) and no trade payable (at 31st December, 2019:
approximately HK$153,398,000). Capital expenditures on property,
plant and equipment were approximated HK$280,000 during the
Year (2019 Year: approximately HK$170,000).

During the Year, the Group did not have any capital expenditures
on exploration and evaluation assets (2019 Year: Nil). The Group did
not have any commitment to purchase additional property, plant and
equipment that had been contracted for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements as at 31st December, 2020 (at
31st December, 2019: Nil).

On 17th June, 2022, CNNC Treasury Management Co. Limited
("CNNCTM™) (the
Agreement”) with the Company, pursuant to which CNNCTM
agreed to provide a revolving loan for a maximum principal amount
of US$50,000,000 (the “Trade Loan”) to the Company with a
drawdown period of one year, during which the Company can make

entered into a loan agreement “Loan

multiple drawdowns in accordance with the terms of the Trade
CNNCTM subsidiary of China National
Corporation (“CNNC”, together with its subsidiaries but excluding
the Group, the “Parent Group”), which in turn is the ultimate

Loan. is a Nuclear

controlling shareholder (has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules) of the Company holding an indirect interest in
approximately 66.72% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Under the terms of the Loan Agreement, the interest rate of any
amount drawn down from the Trade Loan shall be subject to an
interest rate charge of LIBOR + 1.60% per annum, which is the
same as the interest rate under similar bank facilities the Group had
obtained in recent years (prior to the repayment in full of its last
outstandiné’__trade loan in November 2020), and shall be utilized
solely for the purpose of the Group’s uranium trading business. No
financial or other covenants are required to be given by the Group,
and the Trade Loan would not be secured by assets of the Group.
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As at 17th June, 2022, CNNC,
shareholder (has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules)

as the ultimate controlling

of the Company, holds an indirect interest in approximately 66.72%
of the issued share capital of the Company, and hence CNNCTM,
being a subsidiary of CNNC, is a connected person of the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules. As such, the Trade Loan constituted a
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, financial
assistance received by the Company from a connected person is fully
exempt if it is conducted on normal commercial terms or better and
it is not secured by the assets of the Group. As such, the Trade
Loan would be fully exempt from all disclosure, annual review,
circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Trade Loan demonstrates the commitment and full support of
the Parent Group towards the Group in its future development in
the uranium trading business. The Directors believed the Trade Loan
would provide financial support to the Group to enlarge its uranium
trading business.

During the Year, net cash inflow from operating activities amounted
to approximately HK$277,955,000 (2019 Year:
approximately HK$155,268,000)
inventories and trade receivables. The Group’s cash on hand and

net cash outflow
mainly due to decrease in

bank balances increased from approximately HK$100,543,000 as at
2019 to approximately HK$144,333,000 as at
2020. The Group also had restricted cash of
approximately HK$5,433,000 (31st December, 2019: approximately
HK$19,004,000) as at 31st December, 2020 which was pledged to
various banks for bank facilities.

31st December,
31st December,

Total shareholders’ funds decreased from approximately
HK$334,922,000 as at 31st December, 2019 to approximately
HK$309,067,000 as at 31st December, 2020, mainly due to the total
comprehensive expense during the Year. The gearing ratio, in terms
of total debts to total assets, decreased to 0.50 as at
31st December, 2020 (at 31st December, 2019: 0.71).
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ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

There were no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies for the Year.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s income, expenditure for operation, investment, and
borrowings are mainly denominated in USD, HKD, Mongolian
Tugrigs and RMB. Fluctuations of the exchange rates of Mongolian
Tugrigs and RMB against foreign currencies could affect the
operating costs of the Group. Currencies other than Mongolian
Tugrigs and RMB were relatively stable during the Year, the Group
did not expose to significant foreign exchange risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy for
hedging significant foreign currency exposure.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no significant change in the capital structure of the
Group since 31st December, 2019.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

The 37.2% of the share capital in Somina held by a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, Ideal Mining Limited, was pledged to a
bank for banking facilities granted to Somina. As security for
banking facilities granted to the Group for its approximately
11.36% investment in CNNC Leasing (“Investment Interest”), the
following was charged on the Group: (i) the Investment Interest; (ii)
the 100% share capital in CNNC International (HK) Limited (“CNNC
(HK)") (@ wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the holder
of the Investment Interest); (iii) the dividend payment of CNNC
Leasing; and (iv) certain bank account(s) of CNNC (HK). As security
for banking facilities granted to the Group for its trading operation,
certain bank account(s) of China Nuclear International Corporation
("CNIC™), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, was charged.
Apart from the above, there was no charge on the Group’s assets
during the Year (Year 2019: apart from the shares in Somina,
Investment Interest, CNNC (HK), dividend payment of CNNC Leasing,
(HK),

and certain bank account(s) of CNNC and certain bank

account(s) of CNIC, Nil).

PURCHASE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SHARES

During the.-.Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

20 shares.
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the forth Environment, Social and Governance Report
published by the Group, which highlights the Group’s overall
performance in the environmental, social and governance aspects.
The Report was prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules and Guidance on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Unless otherwise stated, this environmental and social report covers
the overall performance of Hong Kong headquarters, Shenzhen
office and Mongolia office for the year ended 31st December, 2020
in the two main areas: environmental and social.

Reporting Principles
This ESG Report is based on the following four reporting principles:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment
were conducted to identify material ESG issues, and to ensure that
these issues are addressed in the report.

Quantitative: Data presented in this ESG Report have been collected
prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social performance
data for standards and methodologies used for calculation of key
performance indicators.

Balance: Both positive and negative sides of the performance have
been presented in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures, data collection
and calculation methods have remained consistent throughout the
years to facilitate comparability over time.

ENGAGING OUR STAKEHOLDERS

The Group has made every effort to engage all of its stakeholders,
including shareholders and investors, employees, customers, suppliers
and business partners, government and regulators, the environment
and the community to achieve sustainable development.

A. Environmental
In the reporting period, the types of emission generated by the
Group were mainly electricity and paper. The Group’s business
does not involve in the production of air, water, and land
pollutions which are regulated under national laws and
regulations.

Total floor area coverage for the Group was 333 sq.m
(Year 2019: 368 sq.m), of which the floor area coverage for
Hong Kong headquarters, Mongolia office and Shenzhen office
was 114 sgq.m, 89 sq.m and 130 sq.m (Year 2019: 114 sq.m,
124 sq.m and 130 sqg.m) respectively.
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£ A. Environmental (ontinved) A. IR\
2 Greenhouse Gas Emission mEREHNE
= Scope of greenhouse Emission Total emission
§ gas emission Emission sources (in tonnes of CO,e) (in percentage)
- HERE HEHEWE
2 BERRHNGE HE R R L =-f(3-3-4 5 (ESE)
£
- 2020 2019 2020 2019
S B8 —T-hF ZB-BF —T-NF
g Scope 1
= #E
(@]
=z
&
Indirect emission Purchased electricity
4% B BIHR 10.09 12.56 92.99% 85.38%
Scope 2
# 22
Other indirect emission Paper consumption
H b 8 12 B 1R MIRHERE 0.76 2.15 7.01% 14.62%
Total
BET 10.85 14.71 100% 100%
Greenhouse gas emission intensity MEREHREE
Unit 2020 2019
i —B-%E _—_ZT-NF
Total greenhouse gas BERBAHENE() tCO,e
emission (a) WE—SEALHRE 8 10.85 14.71
Total floor area of FTEZZHAZEEMBED) sq.m
coverage (b) K 333 368
Emission intensity (c)=(a)/(b) HE % [Z (c)=(a)/(b) tCO,e/sq.m
877 KWE
—RtRES 0.03 0.04
There were approximately 10.85 tonnes (Year 2019: 14.71 REBMEBNREHE R EREH
tonnes) of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases emitted MEXH B0 _SLRkEE(ZT
from the Group’'s operation in the reporting period. The —NEFE 14718 - FEFEREEOR
annual emission intensity was approximately 0.03 tCO,e/sq.m B F 5 KO.03ME — AILIRE & :2
(Year 2019: 0.04 tCO,e/sq.m). —NF - & F 75 K0.0488 — F AL Bk &
2)°
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Environmental (continued)

Greenhouse gas emission intensity

Electricity

The electricity consumption by the Group was approximately
14,370 kWh (Year 2019: 17,882 kWh), contributing to
approximately 10.09 tonnes (Year 2019: 12.56 tonnes) of
carbon dioxide equivalent.

The Group always uses energy savings electrical equipment,
encourages employees to save energy and enhances the
efficiency of electrical equipment.

Paper

A total of approximately 0.2 tonne (Year 2019: 0.5 tonne) of
paper was used for the Group’'s daily operations in the
reporting period, contributing to approximately 0.76 tonne
(Year 2019: 2.15 tonne) of carbon dioxide equivalent.

The Group promotes a paperless office environment, the
reduce of the paper usage and encourages its employee to use
double-sided printing.

Reduction target of energy and paper
consumption intensity
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Baseline
Environmental Indicators Reduction Target Year Status
RIFER KB EEF ik &
Energy consumption intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 2020 In progress
HeEEE ZEZEFAMA2% —ZE-F #EITH
Paper consumption intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2027 2020 In progress

BT E ZEZEFARA2% ZEZTF HEITH
The Environment and Natural Resources RERXALIR
The Group encourages all employees to participate in different AEERBHERBEEL2ETRAELN

Bl YR B MG KRB IROE B ER
B-RAFE AEENEECLER

kinds of recycling activities and minimise the use of natural
resources. In the Year, there is no significant impact on the

environment and natural resources arising from the operations

MAE)BBEARERRAERELE

of the Group, in particular, the office. & B

¥

H — "

Climate Change RIEEL B

Awareness over climate change continues to grow and is one ABHRRSBLHEHRTHES 7

of the most discussed topics among companies. The Group is BRETAARAAEETRINERZ ‘f\[\j
no exception, having increasing concerns over the potential — o REBIAHII BEBEERE =1

impact from climate change on the Group’s business and PUHAEEREBREENELEY
operation. The Group regularly reviews global and local 2. 75%@mﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁiﬂ'&iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ' L};i
government policies, regulatory updates and market trends to BE EERFEEEMBEE N |
identify potential climate-related risks which may have impact z&%uwg%%$%@%ﬁ%@mf =
on the Group's business operation. R A B R B o
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Environmental (continued)

Climate Change (continued)

In accordance with the reporting framework developed by the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, there are
two major categories of climate-related risks, physical and
transition risks. The Group will immediately develop a response
plan such as changing the business strategy and modifying the
development plan in order to reduce the negative impacts of
such climate-related risks.

The Group will continuously incorporate sustainable practices in
its business operations and prepare and maintain sufficient
resources for managing identified climate-related risks and
studying the potential remediation measures.

During the Year, there is no climate-related risk, including
physical and transitional risks, which have significant impact to
the Group.

Social

(1) Employment and labour practices
In its ongoing pursuit of the aim of “Taking People as
the Foremost”, the Group strictly abides by the
requirements stipulated in the relevant employment laws
and regulations regarding compensation, benefits and
dismissal, such as the Labour Law of the PRC ({1 ZE A
REFE & E)J%)), Labour Contract Law of the PRC
hZEARKXEMEL S A [ L)), the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong.

As an equal opportunity employer, all job applicants with
relevant professional qualifications and working
experience receive equal consideration for employment,
regardless of nationality, gender, age, race, religion or
disability. After the job applicants accept the offers,
identification checks are performed to ensure no child
labour is employed. To prevent forced labour,
employees’ employment period, working hours, leave
entitlement and job position are clearly stated in the
employment contract and/or code of conduct of the
Group. The working hours of employees are set in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to working hours, so as to provide employees
with sufficient rest. The Group has strictly complied with
national and regional regulations in terms of statutory
holidays that employees are entitled to, including annual
leave, wedding leave, funeral leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave and so on. In addition, certain non-
statutory required leaves are created to motivate
employees, for example, employees can apply for
additional annual leaves according to their number of
years of working in the Group.
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B. Social (continuea) B. ?‘i"“;“'(@)

(1) Employment and labour practices (continued) (1) EBERETLEH = 3
Furthermore, the Group provides competitive BEON - REE AR B R AHF
remuneration package to employees and conducts annual NWFMAS - WREBRITH R
remuneration reviews based on prevailing market KfEB TERBETFREFHIHR
standards and their working performance. Employees o BEMEFRIRALEHNES
with outstanding performance in the appraisal will also MRESEFHE - AEBEILR
be given promotion opportunities. The Group follows the Eie S B AR B RERIEER
local labour laws and social security laws and regulations AR BB ETRHUHERR
to provide social security benefits for all employees. For BAIEE  flw: RAMELE
example, the Group contributes to various social IamEBEtgRBRE(EER
insurance scheme (endowment insurance, medical B BERR KERR- T
insurance, unemployment insurance, work injury REEEFERBINERE AR
insurance and maternity insurance) and housing & REABEIHMABTESE
provident fund for the employees in Mainland China; "X -ZRERFHBER A&
contributes to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for [ 7% 22 BEBE L oA LA T AR 0B B B
the employees in Hong Kong. Upon receipt of B R A - AR R AR BDE 2 AR E K
resignation letter from employees, exit interview will be KRENEEHTIE-
arranged to understand their reasons of resignation and
payment of the outstanding wages will be made in a
timely manner as required by relevant laws.

Employment 12 12
The Group had a total number of 23 (Year 2019: 22) R-E-_FTF+_-_A=+—H
full time employees as of 31st December, 2020. ARBABFBEEB (TN
F:02%) 2HAE2BES -
Employee’s location distribution Hong Kong PRC Mongolia
EERESH gE HE E
No. Percentage No. Percentage No. Percentage
A8 1174 N 11> A8 1124
2020
bt g %2 5 22% 14 61% 4 17%
2019
—Z-NF 4 18% 14 64% 4 18%
Employee’s sex distribution Male Female
&SR 5 B g3
No. Percentage No. Percentage
N 1-]74 N 1174
2020
—T_TF 11 48% 12 52% P
2019 N
—E-NE 10 45% 12 55%
anf
b
Employee’s age distribution 26-35 36-45 46-55 56 & above )
REFRIH 26-35 36-45 46-55 563 LLE 2
No. Percentage No. Percentage No.  Percentage No. Percentage__-.:_ ||
N 324 N | 1kt N {1174 AH o RREET
2020
—ZE_TF 1 48% 7 31% 4 17%
2019

—Z-NE 10 45% 7 32% 4 18%
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B. Social (continued) B.
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued)
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The Group has no employee turnover during the Year.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Labour Law of the PRC ({HPZEARFEMEL &) %)),
Labour Contract Law of the PRC ({FFZE A R L AN &5 &)
& [EJ£)), and other applicable laws and regulations that
has a significant impact relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare on the
Group during the Year. In addition, no significant fine or
non-monetary sanction for non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations has been reported in the Year.

In addition, no significant fine or non-monetary sanction
for non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
has been reported in the Year.

Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to the protection
of the health and safety of the employees and strictly
complies with the laws and regulations in relation to
labour protection, such as the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases ({# %=
ARKEF R E B A%)) and the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong.

To ensure the safety of employees, they are required to
undergo physical examination and attend occupational
health and safety trainings to better understand the
health and safety practices of the Group. In order to
safeguard the health of employees and safety of
properties, accident handling procedures have been set
up in case of emergency.

AEERAFEERBEEIRK -

B TR LR OZH
AEBEW MABRAEZHEEM
BEERBTE(RBEL) FE
(BEERMEKRL (PEARHK
MEEEZE) (PEARKME
BHARALREMBERMBER
fRE - HBLRET TERH-
KERHE  FERE 2
f 548, B B At 5 08 K @ ) T 5 K
KSEELEARNENERIAER
ERRIBI

ES

gEoh - RARFEREIW ERERE
S

HEARIERMEMERES
SOFE R HIE -

=
£

12T &
AEEIFERRERERER
2 WEREETEURLIRE
ZEBRRER Ol(REAR
HMBEBEREEEIARBTE
<<H%%%$z1&ﬁ§1lﬂﬁﬂ>>

REREELE  AREEXE
BEERXERIR2NIBERERE
2EI REEETHAKEZ
ERZ2ED - BREREER
BERWMELZE  AEEEHER
SNERIETEFFEBH E S EM -




- B HARGEEARE o 27

B. Social (continued) B. ?“ig(@)
(1) Employment and labour practices (continued) (1) ERRETER =

Health and 5&7[@0/ (continued)

Due to the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019, the
Group strictly adopts various prevention policies such as
(i) maintaining air circulation in office area during
working hours; (ii) personal health management; (iii)
frequent cleaning of office area; (iv) wearing masks by all
staff before entering office area; and (v) measuring the
body temperature of staff and guest before entering
office area. Besides, the Group arranges flexible working
hours and adopts work-from-home policies by using a
virtual private network to access the system of the
Group remotely.

There were no work-related fatalities reported for the
three years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020.
During the Year, no lost days due to work injury were
noted.

Development and training

The Group pays great attention to staff development and
training to enhance their technical skills and
professionalism. The Group provided its employees
multiple external and internal trainings in professional
skills, management, linguistics and business, and a total
of 888 hours (2019: 575 hours) training courses were
conducted in the reporting period.
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e (1) Employment and labour practices (continued) (1) ERRETER =

E Development and training (continued) R R IZ ) )

g During the Year, the percentage of employees trained RAFER  ZIEEFIER
IS and the average training hours completed per employee B2 & B TIN5 R Eon
o

N are as follows: TRTR

nel

2

= 2020
-

3 —ESC-FTF
S

© Percentage of employees trained (Note 1) Zil{E ST o kb (Kiak1) 70%
£

S Percentage of employees trained by gender R E S Z2ZIESTHLL

5 (Note 2) (Btgk2)

Male 51 56%

Female pegc3 44%

Percentage of employees trained by REEFMNESZEINEETSL

employee category (Note 2) (P &E2)

Senior management ERERE 31%

Middle management PREERE 44%

General staff —mRETL 25%

Average training hours completed per B & ESTER T T8 (M EE3) 43 hours

employee (Note 3) 43/

Average training hours completed per BREMNESZERESTERZI

employee by gender (Note 4) I ) B B (B 5E4)
Male 514 42 hours
42/
Female e 45 hours
45/
Average training hours completed per RESEMNESZEBEREEER
employee by employee category (Note 4) 5 Il 3 £ B 2% (B 5£4)
Senior management SREEE 93 hours
93/]N B
Middle management PREERE 33 hours
33/ B
General staff —M®ET 27 hours
27/ N

Note 1: Percentage of employees trained is calculated by dividing the number of M1 LIEEBBADLLTRSMBINEE A
employees who took part in training by the number of employees. HBRINBITARTE -

Note 2: Percentage of employees trained by category is calculated based on the M2 : RENSBENEEB AL IERRAESF
number of employees trained in each category during the Year divided by EARZEBZIEER ABRR A2 MEI
the number of employees who took part in training. KRB ABETE -

Note 3: Average training hours per employee is calculated by dividing the total number Fit 33 : @R B T 8D IR 48 5 5 B 2K
of training hours by the number of employees. FRAEE AS -
28 Note 4: Average training hours by categories is calculated by dividing the total number Bt 5E4 - 1R AE BB 2 B 35 2 B B IR Z R R

RN B AR R RBI RO B B AR -

of training hours for such category by the number of employees in the
corresponding category.




B. Social (continued)

(1)

2)

Employment and labour practices (continued)
Employees’ communication

The Group strongly believes that employees are the most
important assets of the Group and plays a key role in
the development of the Group. The Group, through
various communication channels, motivates its employees
in the reporting period. Employees attend weekly sharing
sessions held by the Group to build effective
communication channels among employees and
management. The Group also organizes group functions
and tea parties to enhance loyalty and staff relationship.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly follows the local laws and regulations
on employment and labour practices. No child nor forced
labour was involved in the Group’s operations in the
reporting period.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with Labour Law of the PRC, Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour ((ZEIEFRAZTH
EY), Law on the Protection of Minors of the PRC ({

#FARKLMBEARKF AREE)) and other applicable
laws and regulations that has a significant impact

relating to preventing child or forced labour on the
Group in PRC during the Year. In addition, there was no
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
resulted in significant fines or sanctions in the Year.

In addition, no significant fine or non-monetary sanction
for non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
has been reported in the Year.

Operating practices

Supply chain management

A strict tendering process is in place to provide an open,
fair and transparent platform for securing the suppliers
for procurement. The Group strictly follows the
procedures for supplier’s selection, decision making, and
contract signing to ensure the legality, reasonableness
and regulation of the process.

The main activities of the Group were trading in natural
uranium, and to a lesser extent trading in electronic
products and other products. The main suppliers or
brokers range from the USA, Europe, Kazakhstan, South
Korea and Hong Kong etc. The business partners are
reputable companies.
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(2) Operating practices (continued) 2) ZEEH =
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Supply chain management (continued)

When purchasing materials and equipment, the Group
will comprehensively consider their environmental
performance. For example, when purchasing machines
and lighting systems, we will give priority to more
energy-efficient appliances on the basis of meeting the
technical parameters, with a view to integrating the
Group’s environmental vision into all aspects of the
supply chain.

During the Year, the number of suppliers of the Group
by geographical region is as follows:

HEGEE T ()
AEBERBYE REARTE
HEZEHIRRERR  HIUWESE
e N BB ERBEFSAS KIS
HEELERBTE AERUEMR
B DB AREENIRFRER
SHERZHEESEE®T -

RAREZFER L& 2 D8 e
EEE T

Number of

suppliers

Region = H“ESHE
PRC a3 7
Hong Kong BE 6
USA =S 2
UK - 1
Germany = 1
Switzerland s+ 1
Singapore 03 1
Japan A7 1

Product responsibility
The main business of the Group does not involve in the
production of products, thus this is not applicable.

Anti-corruption

The Group endeavours to uphold the integrity in its
business operation and complies with the laws and
regulations regarding anti-corruption. The Group has
adopted the whistle-blowing policy, which provides a
reporting channel for employees to disclose any
suspected bribery, corruption or other unlawful acts at a
meeting or in a written report. Upon receipt of a report,
the Group will handle the case by carrying out
inspection and taking preventive measures.

The Group regularly promotes anti-corruption for the
entire group. The Group would compile anticorruption
promotion materials by collecting the latest relevant anti-
corruption information, including recent major corruption
incidents in various industries and the handling

‘measures, etc., and combine them with the analysis of

the Group’s summarised business characteristics. All the
information will be compiled and distributed to all
employees for self-learning in order to create a good
anti-corruption environment within the Group.
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B. Social (continued)
(2) Operating practices (continued)
Anti-corruption (continued)
The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations on
the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering, such as the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of
the People’s Republic of China. There was no violation
during the Reporting Period.
(3) Community
Community Investment
The Group actively participates in community charity.
During the reporting period, the Group through
donations and courtesy visits supported the lesser
community and improved their life quality. During the
Year, Mongolia office made donations and in the form
courtesy visits to support the local community of
Bayandun, Mongolia.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions laid down in
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the "Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
are collectively responsible for overseeing the business and affairs of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) that aims at
enhancing the Company's value for stakeholders. The Board is
responsible for making all major matters of the Company including:
the approval and monitoring of all major policies of the Group,
monitoring financial and operating performance, ensuring the
integrity of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting systems,
the declaration of interim dividend, making recommendation of final
dividend or other distributions, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, notifiable and
connected transactions, nomination of directors and Company
Secretary and other significant financial and operational matters. The
day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board currently comprises a total of six members including one
executive director, two non-executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors (“INEDs”), whose details are set
out on pages 50 to 52. Members of the Board have different
professional, industry experiences and backgrounds so as to bring in
valuable contributions and advices for the development of the
Group’s business. More than one-third of the Board are INEDs and
one of the INEDs has appropriate related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continvea)

Directors have full access to accurate, relevant and timely
information of the Group through management and are able to
obtain independent professional advices on issues whenever deemed
necessary by the directors.

Regular meetings are held by the Board at least four times a year to
discuss strategies and business issues, including financial
performance of the Group, and additional meetings will be held
when necessary. The Company has held regular board meetings in
accordance with the Listing Rules, the CG Code and also the
Articles of Association of the Company, formal notice and board
meeting documents are also given in advance to all directors. During
the Year, the Board held four regular meetings and five other
meetings. Members of the Board can attend the meetings either in
person or through electronic means of communication. A record of
the directors’ attendance at regular Board meetings is set out on
page 46.

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
segregated in order to reinforce their independence and accountability.
Their respective responsibilities are clearly established and set out in
writing. The Chairman leads the Board’s workings and proceedings,
while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for implementing the
Group's strategies and policies and for conducting the Group’s
businesses.

THE TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of office of each of the non-executive directors is the
period from his appointment to the time of retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company. (Please
refer to the Director's Report for specific terms of non-executive
directors.)

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are
independent.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all
the directors, all the directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors adopted by
the Company.
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Environmental, Socialand Corporate

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. With the assistance of the
accounting department, which is under the supervision of the
management of the Company, the directors ensure that the financial
statements of the Group have been properly prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The directors also ensure that the publication of the accounts of the
Group is in a timely manner.

A report of the independent auditor on the Group’s accounts is set
out in this annual report.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive and formal
induction to ensure that he/she has an appropriate understanding of
(i) the business and operations of the Group; (ii) his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements; (iii) the corporate governance code of the
Company and (iv) the Model Code. The Directors may seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses in order to assist them to perform their duties
to the Company.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and
professional development for Directors will be arranged at the
expenses of the Company whenever necessary. The Directors are
committed to complying with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code
on Directors’ training. All Directors have been updated on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
The Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and
provided their training records for the year ended 31st December,
2020 to the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board is responsible to ensure that adequate systems of internal
control and risk management are maintained within the Group, and to
review their effectiveness through the Audit Committee. The internal
control and risk management systems are designed to meet the
Group’s particular needs and the risks to which it is exposed, and by
their nature can only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
against misstatement or loss and to manage, but not to eliminate, risks
of failure in achieving the Group’s objectives.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL AUDIT (continvea

Save for the internal control deficiencies identified in the investigation
reports which were summarised in the next section, practicable and
effective internal control systems and procedures and risk management
systems have been implemented by the Group to enhance internal
control and risk management on an ongoing basis.

The key objectives of the Control Systems include:
o safeguarding assets;

o ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial records
and reports;

o promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations and laws;
and
o promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS (“CONTROL SYSTEMS")

Control structure
The Board o responsible for the overall Control Systems
and reviewing their effectiveness;

° oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing
basis with the assistance of Audit
Committee;

o ensure the maintenance of appropriate and
effective Control Systems in order to
safeguard the shareholders’ investment and
assets of the Group;

o define management structure with clear
lines of responsibility and limit of authority;
and

o determine the nature and extent of

significant risk that the Company is willing
to take in achieving the strategic objectives
and formulate the Group's risk
management strategies.

PERES I IR EE R MR
al (&)

BRTET —SRENAEREPEBNRI

THERIEIN 0 REB D ERER AT RAX

CANEREGZNEFLREARERE RS MU

B DNoe N EPES I K BB B 1R o

ERZEsn s ETEEERE:

s REZEE:

o WRMBEHERME TR EWE
T R A BRI

o  REBTHR BF ERRERE R

o REKLEMHZMERBEIME-

o B & 2 % P9 B B
1§§%$}EJ)ZI¥4#...

REERS
BER BERAEARALE

BH A

s BRARAERAMN
SRS ARERR
BRERAEBEE:

s HIEEHBEETRER
MERRE &

s EBEARAJEEE
BIZFEAREZEXNR
Rz EE RIEE I
EAKBZRABEER

g o




i

EERRABEERG (B

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 1%%2%)21%4#... &
SYSTEMS ("CONTROL SYSTEMS") (continued)

H

Control structure (continved) BEEE»
Audit Committee e oversee the Control Systems of the Group;, H/IXZEZ o ERAEEH BT RSR
. review and discuss with the management . BFEREEERANTR
annually to ensure that the management wONBREEERT
has performed its duty to have effective HBEUNEFEZZRR
Control Systems; and ZERE R
. consider major findings on internal control . EREBEANBEEEE
matters and make recommendations to the WEZHREERITME
Board. ERRLES -
The management e design, implement and monitor the Control &I E . ZERFT BREREE
Systems properly and ensure the Control EEERG - WHEIREE
Systems are executed effectively; R AR AT 5
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effectiveness of the Control Systems. 2B
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BE tEREXERESE

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS ("CONTROL SYSTEMS") (continued)
Control approach

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk evaluation
and risk management measures.

The management conducted interviews with relevant staff members,
reviewing relevant documentation of the internal control system,
identifying and evaluating findings of any deficiencies in the design of
the Group’s internal control system, providing recommendations for
improvement and following up on the effectiveness of implementation
of such recommendations, where appropriate. The scope and findings
of review on the risk management and internal control are reported to
and reviewed by the Audit Committee annually.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines are in place to safeguard
the assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring
maintenance of proper accounting records in compliance with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations for the provision of reliable
financial information for internal use and/or external publication.

The Group conducted an independent investigation of the
circumstances arising from the Impairment Loss. During the process,
the Independent Expert identified a series of internal control
deficiencies of the Electronic Products Business, a subsegment of the
Group’s discontinued supply chain business once engaged by the
Company which commenced in 2018 and had its last transaction
entered into during 2020, as follows:

(@) incomprehensive inspection policy established but not
followed — an “Electronic Product Inspection Policy” was
only formally established by the Company in November 2019
(more than one and half year since the commencement of the
Electronic Products Business). Even so, relevant procedural
guidelines as well as the inspection checklist were not
stipulated to govern the quality check process in detail. Also,
it was noted that the inspection policy was not fully complied
with, more particularly the requirement to inspect and test
incoming goods (notwithstanding the absence of relevant
procedural guidelines), and, in the case where there were any
practical difficulties, the requirement to complete physical
verification;

(b) no independent inspection organisation was engaged by
the Company for product verification — it was noted that
no independent inspection organization had been shortlisted
for the arrangement prescribed in the “Electronic Product
Inspection Policy” to verify whether the technical details of the
products align with the specifications. Despite so, the
Independent Expert also conceded that there were no qualified
third-party testing service providers being reasonably identified
in Hong Kong;
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MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS ("CONTROL SYSTEMS") (continued)
Control approach (continued)

(0

For further details of the above findings,

no proofs of originality of suppliers were obtained for
verification — as per the selected samples of the
Independent Expert, it was noted that relevant proofs of
originality of some vendors were not obtained for verification;

no regular suppliers’ evaluation was conducted to assess
the performance of suppliers — it was noted that regular
suppliers’ is not conducted to assess the
performance of suppliers;

evaluation

no authenticity verification documents were obtained to
avoid counterfeit products — despite research regarding the
prevailing market price would be performed to assess the
reasonableness of the offering price of the products in
question, as per the selected samples of the Independent
Expert, it was noted that relevant authenticity verification
documents were not obtained to avoid counterfeit products;

lack of comparison of business plan — that the actual
operation of the Electronic Products Business was different
from the business plan, which was approved by the Board,
whereas these deviations from the business plan were not
formally reported to and approved by the Board;

ignorance of red flags from the Risk Management
Department of the Company — that there were several risk
alerts raised by the Risk Management Department in the
course of the conducting of the Electronic Products Business.
However, the Operation Team disregarded the risk alerts and
continued to carry out business without formal explanations
and justifications; and

lack of due care on the part of the Operation Team — that
the Operating Team was not electronic products experts, who
relied on the customers’ recommendations on the choice of
suppliers. Lack of proper quotation process, failure to conduct
proper quality test on the products, and the non-appointment
of testing services providers by the Operation Team were
noted. As a result, the Group failed to identify the
substandard or refurbished products in a timely manner.

please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated 15th August, 2022.
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BE tEREXERESE

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS (“CONTROL SYSTEMS") (continuea
Control approach (continued)

The Group also commissioned an independent Internal Control
Consultant to review the internal control of the Group covered,
amongst others, the following aspect of the Group:

—  Entity-level review under the internal control framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisation of the Treadway
Commission: control environment, risk assessment, control
activities, information and communication, and monitoring;

—  Activity-level review: financial close reporting process, revenue
and accounts receivable management, cost of services and
other operating expenses, inventory management, bank and
cash management, fixed assets management, human resources
and payroll process, taxation, insurance, and review on
information technology general controls; and

—  Review of compliance procedures of certain Listing Rules and
regulations: Chapter 13 (continuing obligations), Chapter 14
(notifiable transactions), Chapter 14A (connected transactions),
Appendix 14 (corporate governance code), Appendix 16
(financial information) of the Listing Rules, and Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (disclosure of inside
information).

For the period from 1st January, 2021 to 31st December, 2021 (with
a follow-up review from 1st January, 2022 to 5th July, 2022 for
assessing the remediation status of the deficiencies identified).

As the Electronic Products Business ceased in 2020, no recurring of
the above deficiencies will reappear. The Group with the assistance
from the Internal Control Consultant reviewed whether the above
deficiencies would exist in the existing business, the uranium trading
business. The Group continuously review and modify the internal
control procedures of its uranium trading business as and when is
needed.

As advised by the Internal Control Consultant, the follow-up review
of the Internal Control Review has been completed, upon which
nothing has come to their attention which makes them believe that
relevant internal controls and procedures of the Company in place
not being adequate.

For further details of the above findings, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 15th August, 2022.

Procedures have been designed for the business objectives,
safeguard asset against unauthorized use or disposition, ensure
proper maintenance of books and records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or publication, and to

38 ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
control identified in the
investigation reports which were summarised in the earlier section,
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board, through the

Audit Committee, has reviewed effectiveness of the Group’s systems

Save for the internal deficiencies

of internal control and risk management in respect of financial,
operational and compliance aspect annually and considers that the
systems are adequate and effective.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has also reviewed the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting functions, and consider that they are adequate.

Throughout the Year, the Board is satisfied that the Group has fully
complied with the code provisions on risk management and internal
control as set out in Section D.2 of the CG code.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, the remuneration paid to the Company’s auditor,
Messrs BDO Limited (2019: Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu), is set
out as follows:
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Services rendered

Fees paid/payable

FriR IR 75 2t FEf £
2020 2019
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HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT T T
Audit services Ei R 1,400 2,150
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s Audit Committee was first established in December
2002 and its terms of reference are available on the Company’s
website.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
Group’s financial reporting system, internal control procedures, risk
management, assessing the adequacy of the human resources of the
Group’s accounting and finance department and maintaining good
and independent communications with the management as well as
external auditor of the Company. Its current members include:

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
Mr. Wu Ge

Mr. Cui Liguo

Mr. Zhang Lei

Three out of four members of the Audit Committee are the INEDs of
the Company. Mr. Chan Yee Hoi has appropriate related financial
management expertise as required under the Listing Rules. None of
them is employed by or otherwise affiliated with former or existing
auditor of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held five meetings and also
had two meetings with the management and external auditors of
the Company. The minutes of the Audit Committee meetings were
tabled to the Board for noting and for action by the Board where
appropriate. The attendance of each member is set out on page 46.

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s interim
and annual report for the year ended 31st December, 2020 and the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group. The Audit
Committee also reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control system and made recommendations to
the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’'s Remuneration Committee was established in
September 2005. Its current members include:

Mr. Cui Liguo (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Zhang Yi

Mr. Wu Ge

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi

Mr. Zhang Lei

Three out of five members of the Remuneration Committee are the
INEDs of the Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the Company’s website.
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The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and reviewing their
specific remuneration package for directors and senior management,
including terms of salary, discretionary bonus scheme, benefits in
kind, pension rights, compensation payments and other long-term
incentive schemes by reference to market conditions, performance of
the Group and the individual and corporate goals and objectives as
set by the Board from time to time.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year.
The minutes of the Remuneration Committee meeting were tabled
to the Board for noting and for action by the Board where
appropriate. The attendance of each member is set out on page 46.
During the meeting, the committee members discussed the policy for
the remuneration of executive director and senior management and
assessed the performance of executives.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
On 27th March, 2012,
Nomination Committee of the Company.
include:

the Board approved the set up of the
Its current members

Mr. Zhong Jie (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Zhang Yi

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi

Mr. Cui Liguo

Mr. Zhang Lei

Three out of five members of the Nomination Committee are the
INEDs of the Company and the Chairman of the committee is the
Chairman of the Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available on the Company’s website.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board
at least annually; making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy; identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing the
independence of the INEDs; and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the Year. The
attendance of each member is set out on page 46.
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REVIEW OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility of developing
and maintaining sound and effective corporate governance within
the Group and is committed to ensuring that an effective
governance structure is put in place to continuously review and
improve the corporate governance practices, including to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management; within the Group in light of the

evolving operating environment and regulatory requirements.

The Group has adopted appropriate policies and practices on
corporate governance and the Board would make recommendations
to the Group by reviewing the operation of the Group from time to
time. The Group has adopted a code of conduct and compliance
applicable to The Board
confirmed that the Group has complied with the legal and

manual its employees and directors.
regulatory requirements and ensures the Group’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure regarding corporate governance.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company believes that the diversity of board members will be
beneficial to the Company. Therefore, the Company has taken on
the Board Diversity Policy of the Board of Directors, ensuring that
the Company will consider the diversity of board members in a
number of ways when setting up the Board, including gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnic, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and service tenure. All appointments to the Board
are based on the principle of meritocracy.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
whereby the Company may pay dividends to the shareholders of the
Company by means of cash or shares. Any dividend distribution shall
be in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of
the Company and shall be distributed in a continuous, stable and
sustainable nature. The proposal to pay any dividend depends on the
dividend
announcement is subject to the approval of the shareholders before

absolute discretion of the Board, and any final

it can be implemented. In making any dividend payment, the board
shall also consider:

i Retained surpluses and distributable reserves of the Company
and its subsidiaries;
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2. The Group’s operating capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

3. The Group’s liquidity position;

4. the overall economic situation, the business cycle of the Group's
business and the possible impact on the Company’s business,
the internal or external factors that make up the impact of
financial performance and positioning; and

5. Other factors that the Board considers relevant.

Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no
guarantee that dividends will be presented or announced at any
given time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Li Philip Sau Yan (“Mr. Li"), is responsible
to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and
Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. Mr. Li has been
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company since 5th
November, 2008. Mr. Li is also responsible for ensuring that the Board
is fully appraised of the relevant corporate governance developments
relating to the Group and facilitating the professional development of
the directors.

Mr. Li confirmed that he has complied with all the required
qualifications, experience and training requirements under Rule 3.28
and Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS" RIGHTS

The Board and management shall ensure shareholders’ rights and all
shareholders are treated equitably and fairly. Pursuant to the Articles
of Association of the Company, any shareholder entitled to receive
notice of and to attend and vote at a general meeting of the
Company is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy to
attend and vote instead of him.

Chairmen of the various Board committees, or failing the Chairmen,
any member from the respective committees, must attend the
annual general meetings of the Company to address shareholders’
queries. invited to attend the
Company’s annual general meetings and are available to assist the
Directors in addressing queries from shareholders relating to the
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of their
auditor’s report.

External auditor shall also be
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RIGHT TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING AND PUT FORWARD
PROPOSALS

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, extraordinary general meetings can be convened on the
written requisition of any one or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office, specifying the objects of the meeting and the
resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by the
requisitionist(s), provided that such requisitionists held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting
rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the issued shares of the
Company which as at that date carries the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days
from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s)
themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries can be in writing and sent for the attention of the
Company Secretary in one of the following ways:

1. By post: CNNC International Limited
Unit 3009, 30th Floor
No. 118 Connaught Road West
Hong Kong
By facsimile: (852) 2598 1010
By email: info@cnncintl.com
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company regards high quality reporting as an essential element
in building successful relationships with its shareholders. The
Company always endeavour to provide relevant information to
existing and potential investors, not only to comply with the
different requirements in force but also to enhance transparency
and communications with shareholders and the investing public.
Regular and publicly available disclosures about important issues,
including performance, fundamental business strategy, governance
and the management of risk are made through various channels:

o the Company’s annual general meeting;

o interim and annual results announcements published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange;

o interim and annual reports of the Company delivered to all
shareholders;

o timely update of the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

o meeting with shareholders;
. circulars and letters to shareholders; and

o prompt news releases and announcements regarding major
corporate actions and business initiatives.

The Company maintains a website at www.cnncintl.com where the
Company’s announcements, circulars, notices, financial reports,
business developments, press releases and other information are
posted.

The Company is committed to ensuring that it is in full compliance
with disclosure obligations stipulated under the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws and regulations, and that all shareholders and
potential investors of the Company have an equal opportunity to
receive and obtain externally available information that is released by
the Group.

The Company always welcome shareholders’ views and input.
Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time address their
concerns to the Company by mail to the Company's principal office
in Hong Kong at Office Unit 3009, 30th Floor, No. 118 Connaught
Road West, Hong Kong, or email to info@cnncintl.com.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for
substantially separate issues. The chairman of the 2020 AGM &
2022 EGM and chairman/members of the Board committees had
attended the 2020 AGM & 2022 EGM to answer questions from the
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Shareholders. With the assistance of the company secretary, the
chairman of the meeting had explained the procedures for
conducting a poll voting during the meeting.

AFEEARRAZEABERXMHREENE

There was no significant change in the constitutional documents of
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S the Company during the Year. KEH o
o° ’ =
2 DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT BOARD, EER EZZEE HWNE
E SERREEZEEEERRER
5 AUDIT, REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION EB& HE B
z COMMITTEES’ MEETINGS, GENERAL K& Z R
o
S MEETING
3
o Regular Other Audit  Remuneration ~ Nomination Annual
P Board Board  Committee Committee Committee General
z Meetings ~ Meeting ~ Meetings Meeting Meeting  Meeting
it
2R i25 BHE8E FHMERE REZ8E RREF
HREs gik S gik g XE
Total number of meetings held TEERETZEREY 4 5 5 1 2 1
during the Year
Number of meetings attended: R RE:
Chairman and Non-executive Director ~ TREEFHTEE
Mr. Zhong Jie (appointed on 4th May, EREE 3(100%) 3 (100%) NA N/A NA - 1(100%)
2020) (RZE-ZERAMA HE) T T T
Mr. Yang Chaodong BRREL 1(100%) 2 (100%) N/A N/A 2 (100%) N/A
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) (AZZ-TERAMABRHT) TER TiE A TEA
Chief Executive Officer and THERERTES
Executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yi RELE 3 (100%) 3 (100%) N/A 1(100%) N/A 1(100%)
(appointed on 4th May, 2020) (R=Z-ZFRANA L) TR TR
Mr. Cheng Lei E%ﬁ:i 1(100%) 2 (100%) N/A N/A 2 (100%) N/A
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) (RZZ-ZFRANARMT) TER TEA TEA
Non-executive Director FYTES
Mr. Wu Ge RXRE 3 (100%) 3 (100%) 3 (100%) 1(100%) N/A 1(100%)
(appointed on 4th May, 2020) (R=Z-ZFRANA L) TR
Mr. Li Zhihuang EERLE 1(100%) 1(50%) 2 (100%) N/A N/A N/A
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) (RZZ-ZFERANARHMT) TER TEA TEf
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BAFHTEE
Mr. Cui Liguo EFERAE 4(100%) 5(100%) 5(100%) 1(100%) 2 (100%) 1(100%)
Mr. Zhang Lei REXAE 4(100%) 5 (100%) 5 (100%) 1(100%) 2 (100%) 1(100%)
Mr. Chan Yee Hoi BT E 4(100%) 4 (100%) 5(100%) 1(100%) 1(100%) 1(100%)
(appointed on 9th March, 2020) (R=Z=ZFE=ANA L)




In accordance with the Group’s development strategy, the Group has
established a risk management system covering all the business
segments to monitor,
Group’s business activities.

assess and manage various risks in the

The established risk management system of the Group is in line with
the international standard which entails the management of each
business unit, the risk management function of the Group and the
internal audit function.

The Board has identified the primary risks of the Group and
determined the amount of risk the Board is willing to take to
achieve the Group’s strategic objectives. The Group has also
prepared a Risk Management Policy based on the above risk and
conduct regular review of operational and financial risks as reported
by each business unit. Each business unit is required to identify risks
on a daily basis and report any major risk to the Group (if any).

Base on the risk profile of each business unit, and taking into
account the management control and corporate oversight at Group's
level, the Audit Committee and Internal Audit would map out a risk-
based internal audit plan each year.

The Board would establish or renew financial and credit facilities and
undertake financial and credit transactions in accordance with the
financial policy of the Group.

FINANCIAL RISK
(1) Interest rate risk

The Group's working capital and fixed assets investment, apart

from internal funds, rely on bank financing and issue of
convertible bonds. All convertible bonds were fully redeemed
by 2013. As at 31st December, 2020, the Group had bank
borrowings of approximately HK$282,125,000 (at 31st
December, 2019: approximately HK$538,774,000), of which
approximately nil (at 371st December, 2019: approximately
HK$253,761,000) was being utilized to fund the expansion of
the Group’s business trading activities, and approximately
HK$282,125,000 (at 31st December 2019: approximately
HK$285,013,000) was being utilized to fund the equity
investment of CNNC Leasing. During the Year, the Group's
variable-rate borrowings carry interest at a premium over Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate or London Interbank Offered Rate
or prevailing lending rate quoted by the People’s Bank of
China, as appropriate, which is ranged from 2.49% to 4.70%
per annum. The fluctuation in the lending interest rates could
have a substantial effect on the Group's finance costs.
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(2)

(3)

Currency risk

The Group’s currencies are mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollar ("HKD"), Renminbi (“RMB"), Mongolian Tugrigs ("MT")
and United States dollar (“USD").
statements of the Group are presented in HKD. However, the
the
functional currency of the Group is set in USD. The Group has

The consolidated financial

income of the Group is mainly in USD, therefore,
to assess the fluctuations of the exchange rates of USD
against HKD, RMB and MT.

(A) USD vs HKD
HKD has a linked exchange rate system with USD. The
exchange rate has been kept for many years. Therefore
the
Group needs to consider the effect if the system is

the risk in this area is relatively small. However,
removed. Nevertheless, the Group’s income and payment
to foreign suppliers are in USD which can compensate
the exchange risk should the system is removed.

(B) USD vs RMB
The Group has established an office in Shenzhen, its
expenses are paid in RMB. In 2020, the exchange rate of
RMB increased about 6% against USD. The annual
budget of Shenzhen office is approximately
HK$8,000,000. The exchange rate risk effect in RMB is
insignificant to the Group.

(C) USD vs MT

The exchange rate of MT against USD dropped
in 2020. The

December 2020 in Mongolia was approximately 9%. The

approximately 4% inflation rate in
bank deposit of Mongolian project is mainly in USD. The
Mongolia office settles its expenses in MT. Therefore, the
fluctuation of exchange rate of USD against MT did not
have much negative effect to the Group in 2020. The
fixed assets of Mongolian project are recorded in USD, so
The

receivables of Mongolian

there has been little effect in exchange rate.
amounts of payables and
project which are denominated in MT are relatively small,

so as the exchange rate risk in this area.

Counterparty exchange rate risk

The buying and selling of natural uranium transactions of the
Group are denominated in USD, therefore the Group does not
have any risk in foreign currency exchange in business
transactions.

(2)

(3)
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OPERATIONAL RISK

(1

(2)

Concentration risk

Currently, the income of the Group derives from the trading of
natural uranium, dispersed metals and electronics products.
Among the projects at hand, the production of Somina's
uranium mine has been suspended, and the mine is under
maintenance, whilst; the Mongolian uranium project is still at
the stage of application of mining license, hence no products
will be available in the near future.

The Group intends to focus on and will continue to devote to
the development of the uranium products trading business,
and will diversity its trading activities into different markets
worldwide. To cooperate with the business development of its
holding company, the Group will look for opportunities to
expand its business activities. The Group will also participate in
the natural uranium market events to obtain latest market
information and enlarge the suppliers and customers list,
avoiding the reliance on a small number of trading partners.

The Group has completed its investment in CNNC Leasing on
26th February, 2019 and CNNC Leasing would distribute no
less than 90% profit as dividends to the Group which would
have positive contributions to the cashflow of the Group.

Credit risk

The Group is mainly confronted with credit risk resulting from
trade debtors that arising from sale of goods to customers.
The Group established credit policies and procedures to
analyse and identify the credit risks, set appropriate credit
limits and controls, monitor the risks on timely basis by means
of reliable management information systems. The Group
performs regular updates to enhance the credit policies in
order to cope with the changes in markets and practice of
credit risk management.

Individual credit assessments are performed on customers to
determine the applicable credit limits and terms. Regular
review on credit limits and terms are performed in order to
ensure those are comparable to the credit standing of
customers and the latest business environments.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Zhong lJie, aged 60, was appointed as Non-Executive Director of
the Company and the Chairman of the Board with effect from 4th
May, 2020. He joined China Nuclear Engineering Company (/8 [ #
TH#2AA]) ("CNEC”) in 1989 as engineer. He was transferred to
China Nuclear Energy Industry Corporation (fF B R Tt TEAR A
&]) (“CNEIC") in 1991 and worked as engineer, deputy director of
nuclear power, deputy director, director (manager), assistant general
manager and deputy general manager of third import and import
department. Mr. Zhong was transferred to China National Uranium
Corp., Ltd (FEHMEHBR A E]) (“CNUC”) in 2019 as general
manager and vice secretary of Party Leadership Group, and became
also deputy director and vice secretary of Party Leadership Group of
China Nuclear Geology (R BI4#Z T##E F) (“CNG"). In April 2020,
he was appointed as member of Strategy and Management Advisory
Committee of China National Nuclear Corporation (B 1% T ¥ £ E
A R 2 Al) (“CNNC"), the ultimate holding company of the
Company. CNEC, CNEIC, CNUC and CNG are subsidiaries of CNNC.
Mr. Zhong graduated from Tsinghua University (/& % K2) with a
doctor degree in mechanic in 1989. He was qualified as a senior
engineer in the PRC.

Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Yi, aged 39, was appointed as Executive Director of the
Company with effect from 4th May, 2020. He joined CNUC in 2007
and his roles included external affairs, secretarial, project
management, deputy director of the central administration
department, supervisor of the legal and audit department and vice
chief legal adviser. Mr. Zhang was transferred to the Geology and
Mining Division of CNNC in the overseas development sector in
2012, and was in charge of legal affairs and overseas development
projects. Mr. Zhang joined the Central Planning Department of the
Company in 2013, and worked as deputy manager, manager in legal
affairs, overseas development and administration works. He joined
CNUC as manager in 2017 in overseas development department. In
April 2019, he was appointed as general manager and director of
CNNC Overseas Uranium Holding Limited (/8N asE2 AR A
Al) (“COUH"), the immediate holding company of the Company. In
2020, Mr. Zhang ceased to be general manager of COUH, but
remains as director of COUH. In January 2021, Mr. Zhang becomes
general manager of Overseas Uranium Business Division of CNUC.
Mr. Zhang is also a director of CNUC (HK) Mining Corp., Limited (/B
B ¥ (FEB)EEAMAA) (“CNUCHK”) and Réssing Uranium
Limited (“RUL"). CNUC, the Company, COUH, CNUCHK and RUL are
subsidiaries of CNNC. Mr. Zhang graduated from China Youth
University of Political Studies (B & F BUA £Fk), department of
social work and management, with a bachelor degree in
management in 2004. Mr. Zhang also graduated from Peking
University Law School (3t 72 K252 67) with a master degree in law
in 2007. He was qualified as an enterprise legal adviser and holds
professional qualification in law in the PRC.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Wu Ge, aged 35, was appointed as Non-executive Director of
the Company with effect from 4th May, 2020. He joined CNNC
Northern Uranium Co., Ltd (FHZIL5 #ZE B R A F]) (“CNNCNU") in
2010 as head of accounting department and assistant director.
Mr. Wu was transferred to CNUC in 2017 as head of accounting
and assistant director in the finance and capital management
department. CNNCNU and CNUC are subsidiaries of CNNC. Mr. Wu
graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics (&1t
B 48 K 2) with a bachelor degree in accounting in 2010. He was
qualified as an accountant in the PRC.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cui Liguo, aged 52, is currently a founding partner of Guantao
Law Firm which is a law firm in Beijing, PRC and the Chairman of
its Management Committee. He has over 25 years of experience in
legal sector, and holds independent directorship in the board of
directors of several companies, such as APT Satellite Holdings Ltd. (a
corporation listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01045),
Frontier Services Group Limited (a corporation listed on the Stock
00500),
Industry Co., Ltd. (a corporation listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600380), China Coal Xinji Energy Co., Ltd. (a
corporation listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:

Exchange, stock code: Joincare Pharmaceutical Group

601918), Essence Securities Co., Ltd., and Beijing Life Insurance Co.,
Ltd. Mr. Cui graduated from the China University of Political Science
and Law with a bachelor degree in laws in 1991. He also holds a
master degree in laws from the same university.

Mr. Zhang Lei, aged 53, joined Hainan International Trust and
Investment Corporation in 1994. He used to be the trading manager
of the Beijing sales department. In the same year, he was certified
as a trader and liquidator by Beijing Securities Exchange Center.
According to the requirements of the People’s Bank of China, it was
restructured into Great Wall Securities Co., Ltd in 1996, and then
obtained the qualification of securities underwriting and fund
trading issued by the Securities Association of China. He served
successively as deputy General Manager of Beijing Fuchengmen Sales
Department of Great Wall Securities Co., LTD., Deputy General
Manager of Beijing Fengtai Haiying Road Sales Department, General
Manager of Beijing Tonghu Street Sales Department of Tongzhou
City, general Manager assistant of Beijing Haidian Zhongguancun
Sales Department. Mr. Zhang graduated from Renmin University of
China in 1996, majoring in business and economic management. He
has accumulated more than 26 years of experience in the securities
industry.
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Mr. Chan Yee Hoi,
banking, corporate finance, capital markets, direct investment, asset

aged 73, has over 40 years’ experience in
management and financial management. Since 2013, Mr. Chan has
been an independent non-executive director of Hong Fok Land
International Limited, an unlisted public company incorporated in
Hong Kong, which is principally engaged in property development
business. Prior to Mr. Chan’s retirement in 2019, he had worked
with various American banks in Hong Kong, investment banks,
corporate finance advisory,
companies and had gained substantial financial
expertise. Between 2004 and 2015, he served as an independent

securities and fund management
management

non-executive director and chairman of the audit committee of
Winfoong International Limited (its name was changed to China
Graphene Group Limited in 2016), a company listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), which was principally engaged in property management
and horticultural services. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Social Science degree in 1971, and
was a licensed representative licensed under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance to engage in type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4
(advising on securities), type 5 (advising on futures contracts) and

type 9 (asset management) regulated activities.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Li Philip Sau Yan, aged 63,
Company. Mr. Li joined the Company in November 2008. He had

is the Company Secretary of the

over 35 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial

management. Mr. Li is a fellow member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Li is
a graduate of Imperial College London and holds a Bachelor of

Science degree.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2020 (the “Year"”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, associates and a joint
operation are set out in notes 15, 17 and 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. The market and business review are set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 66.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31st December, 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$150,126,000.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date
of this report were:

Chairman and non-executive director
Mr. Zhong lie (appointed on 4th May, 2020)
Mr. Yang Chaodong (resigned on 4th May, 2020)

Executive director
Mr. Zhang Yi (appointed on 4th May, 2020)
Mr. Cheng Lei (resigned on 4th May, 2020)

Non-executive director
Mr. Wu Ge (appointed on 4th May, 2020)
Mr. Li Zhihuang (resigned on 4th May, 2020)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cui Liguo

Mr. Zhang Lei

Mr. Chan Yee Hoi (appointed on 9th March, 2020)

In accordance with Article 16.2 and 16.18 of the Articles of

Association of the Company, Mr. Zhong lJie, Mr. Zhang Yi, Mr. Wu
Ge, Mr. Cui Liguo, Mr. Zheng Lei and Mr. Chan Yee Hoi will retire
re-election at the

and, being eligible, offer themselves for
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Mr. Cui Liguo and Mr. Zhang Lei had entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing 11th
November, 2020. Mr. Chan Yee Hoi has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing 9th
March, 2020. Mr. Zhang Yi has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of 3 years commencing 4th May, 2020.
Upon agreement of both parties the abovementioned service
contracts shall continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving to the other party not less than three months prior written
notice.

Mr. Zhong lJie signed a non-executive director service contract with
the Company with retrospective effect to 4th May, 2020 for a
period of 3 years on 18th March, 2022. Upon agreement of both
parties the abovementioned service contract shall continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving to the other party not less
than three months prior written notice.

Mr. Wu Ge signed a non-executive director service contract with the
Company with retrospective effect to 4th May, 2020 for a period of
3 years on 18th March, 2022. Upon agreement of both parties the
abovementioned service contract shall continue thereafter u Until
terminated by either party giving to the other party not less than
one month prior written notice.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31st December, 2020, none of the directors nor their associates
had any shares or underlying shares of the Company and its
associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO”), or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the *“Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.

SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme adopted on 11th December, 2002 (“2002
Share Option Scheme”) was expired and terminated on 11th
December, 2012. A new share option scheme was adopted by the
Company on 3rd June, 2013 (“2013 Share Option Scheme”) and its
particulars are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements. No share option had been granted under the 2002
Share Option Scheme and 2013 Share Option Scheme since their
adoption. The purpose of the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the
2013 Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees, directors,
consultants, advisers and shareholders of the Group and to promote
the success of the business of the Group.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE
OPTIONS” above, at no time during the Year was the Company or
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the Year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31st December, 2020, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that the following shareholders had notified the Company of
relevant interests and short positions in the issued share capital of
the Company.

Long positions
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

epor t (continued)
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Percentage of
Number of the issued

issued ordinary share capital of

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
FiHE#T XATERT

% R & 78 54 LEREE k=74

CNNC Overseas Uranium Holding Limited Corporate interest 326,372,273 66.72%

("CNNC Overseas”) (Note)

g N EERAR AR (TR 28N () NEER

China National Uranium Co., Ltd. ("CNUC") (Note) Corporate interest 326,372,273 66.72%

mEHERR AR (T EHE])FTE) NEER

China National Nuclear Corporation (“CNNC") (Note) Corporate interest 326,372,273 66.72%

TEZTEEEARAA ([FZER]) )

) HE 3

Note:  CNNC Overseas is the immediate holding company of the Company, which is wholly owned
by CNUC, whereas CNUC is a subsidiary of CNNC.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2020.
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PURCHASE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
shares.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions are disclosed in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS, EMPLOYEES AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other
stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and long-term goals.
Information about major customers is disclosed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group's purchases were made
from a number of suppliers. The Group intends to seek and
negotiate with major uranium product traders in the market with a
view to expand its supplier and customer base. So far as the
directors are aware, at no time during the Year have the directors,
their close associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to
of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in the major suppliers and

the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5%
customers of the Group.

The Company has created a framework for motivating staff and an

formal communication channel in order to maintain healthy

relationships with its employees and other stakeholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are recommended
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.
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The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of which are set out in
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. The Group is
engaged in uranium resources business and one of its main
objectives is to become an environment friendly corporation.
Minimizing in consumption of resources and adopt of environmental
best practices across the Group’s businesses are the commitment of
the Group to conserve and improve the environment. The Group
shall make every endeavour to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopt effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to complying with the requirements under
the Companies Law (Revised) under the laws of Cayman Islands, the
Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and the SFO under the laws
of Hong Kong. The subsidiaries in Mongolia are also committed to
complying with the requirements under the Law of Mongolia.

The Company has compiled with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules”) as set out in
Chapter 13 throughout the Year, except that the Company was not
able to (i) issue the audited results of the Group for the 2020 Year
and 2021 Year, (i) dispatch the annual report for the 2020 Year
and 2021 Year; and (iii) convene the 2021 annual general meeting
of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company, or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every
director is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has taken out
and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the Year,
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of
the subsidiaries of the Company.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

The following circumstances giving

rise to the obligations of

disclosure pursuant to Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules continue to

exist after the year ended 31st December, 2020.

Terms used herein have the same meaning as those defined in the

announcement made by the Company on 18th February, 2019

pursuant to Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules (the “Announcement”).

(M

On 18th February, 2019,
Announcement that CNNC
as the borrower,
(the
institution for a term loan facility in the principal amount of
up to HK$300,000,000 (the “Loan”) for the purpose of
financing the proposed investments in CNNC Financial Leasing

the Company made the
(HK) Limited, the
into the Facility

International
Investor, has entered

Agreement “Facility Agreement”), with a financial

Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”). The Loan is repayable
over a period of 36 months (subject to extension to 72
months as provided in the Facility Agreement) from the date
of the Facility Agreement. Pursuant to the Facility Agreement,
among other matters, early repayment of the Loan may be
required (together with interests accrued thereon and other
amounts payable thereunder) upon occurrence of any of the
following events: (i) the Stated-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council of the PRC
("SASAC") ceases to directly wholly own the China National
Nuclear Corporation (“CNNC"); (i) CNNC ceases to wholly
own FEAFREITEREAERRDA

Engineering Corporation, “China Zhongyuan”), a company

(China Zhongyuan

incorporated in the PRC which was assigned by CNNC to
provide a letter of comfort in relation to the Loan, on 29th
May, 2020, China Zhongyuan was replaced by China National
Uranium Co., Ltd as the letter of comfort provider and to be
wholly owned by CNNC; (iii) CNNC, together with the
management and staff who are currently employed by CNNC
and/or any of its subsidiaries, cease to collectively own,
directly or indirectly, majority of the share capital in the
Company, or the Company ceases to be a subsidiary of CNNC;
(iv) CNNC ceases to remain the single largest shareholder of
the Company; and (v) CNNC ceases to maintain control over
the management and the board of directors of China
Zhongyuan and the Company. As at the date of this annual
report, the Company was owned as to approximately 66.72%
by CNNC Overseas Uranium Holding Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC (which is wholly-owned by
the SASAC), and the controlling Shareholder.
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Details of the Loan are set out below:

Facility Agreement: The facility agreement dated 18th

February, 2019 and executed by the

Borrower, the Mortgagor, and the
Lender;

Borrower: CNNC International (HK) Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company;

Mortgagor: The Company;

Lender: Chong Hing Bank Limited; and

Loan: Term loan facility in the principal amount

of up to HK$300,000,000, which is
repayable over a period of 36 months
(subject to extension to 72 months as
provided in the Facility Agreement) from
the date of the Facility Agreement.

On 27th October, 2021, the outstanding amount of the Loan
was fully repaid by the Borrower. From that date onwards, the
continuing obligations of the above disclosure have been fully
released.

Terms used herein have the same meaning as those defined in
the announcement made by the Company on 19th August,
2019 pursuant to Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules. In 31st
March, 2019, China Nuclear International Corporation as the
borrower (the “Borrower”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, accepted the terms of a general banking
facility of a banking institution for trade finance in the amount
of up to US$30,000,000 (the “Revised Facility”). Utilization of
the Facility is conditional upon the prior approval of the bank,
and each drawdown is repayable within 180 days.

Pursuant to the Facility, among other matters, the Company
and the Borrower undertake and procure with the bank that,
throughout the life of the Facility: (i) The State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council (the “SASAC") of the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC") shall maintain directly 100% equity interest in China
National Nuclear Corporation (“CNNC”); (ii) CNNC shall
maintain (directly or indirectly) 100% equity interest in China
National Uranium Co., Ltd, a company incorporated in the PRC
which had provided a letter of comfort in relation to the
Revised Facility; and (iii) CNNC shall maintain (directly or
indirectly) not less than 51% equity interest in the Company.
As at 31st March, 2021, the Company was owned as to
approximately 66.72% by CNNC Overseas Uranium Holding
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC (which
is wholly-owned by the SASAC).
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(3) On 2nd September, 2019, China Nuclear International
Corporation (the “Borrower”) as the borrower, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC International Limited (the
“Company”), entered into a general banking facility agreement
with a banking institution for the purchase of electronic
components or other goods acceptable to the bank for its
trading business in the amount of up to US$30,000,000 (the
"Facility”). The Facility is uncommitted facility and available
commitment may be cancelled by the bank at any time. Each
drawdown is repayable within 60 days.

Pursuant to the Facility, among other matters, early repayment
of the Facility may be required (together with interests accrued
thereon and other amounts payable thereunder) if China
National Nuclear Corporation (FEZ T2 £BBR QA7)
("CNNC") ceases to be the major shareholder and beneficially
own (directly or indirectly) at least 66.72% of the issued share
capital of the Company except for the prior written consent
from the bank, such consent not be unreasonably withheld. As
at the date of this annual report, the Company is owned as to
approximately 66.72% by CNNC Overseas Uranium Holding
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CNNC (which
is wholly owned by The State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council (Bt B &
BEEBEEEZEE) of the People’s Republic of China).

AUDITOR

In the 2020 annual general meeting of the Company held on 19th
June,2020, the then auditor of the Company, Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”), was reappointed. However, Deloitte
tendered its resignation as auditor of the Company with effect from
6th August, 2020, as the Company and Deloitte could not reach
consensus on the audit fee for the year ended 31st December,
2020.

With the recommendation from the audit committee of the
Company, the Board has appointed BDO Limited as the new auditor
of the Company with effect from 6th August, 2020 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte and to hold office as
auditor until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of
the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2020 have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Zhong Jie
Chairman

Hong Kong, 9th September, 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{8H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CNNC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
CNNC Limited
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 171, which comprise

International ("Company”) and its subsidiaries

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
December, 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter
described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

As described in the Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had commenced the supply chain business (as defined in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements) as one of its
principal activities through the trading of electronics products
("Electronics Products Business”) and dispersed metals (“Dispersed
Metals Business”) on a back-to-back basis. Goods were arranged to
be delivered to the Group’s warehouses by suppliers, certain of
whom were noted to be introduced by customers, for customers’
collections within an agreed timeframe.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (ontinvea)
As further
statements, the Group entered into several sale and purchase

disclosed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
transactions of electronics products with two customers (“Two
Customers”) and three suppliers (“Three Suppliers”) during October
2019 to February 2020. As at 31st December, 2019 and 1st
January, 2020, there were inventories amounting to HK$40,820,000
(as included in the inventories balance of HK$340,858,000 as at
31st December, 2019 and disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements) awaiting collection by the Two Customers and
contract liabilities amounting to HK$8,018,000 (as included in the
contract liabilities balance of HK$25,617,000 as at 31st December,
2019 and disclosed
statements) representing customers’ deposits corresponding to these
In early 2020, goods costing HK$11,589,000 and
customer’s deposits of HK$5,370,000 were further received by the

in Note 22 to the consolidated financial

inventories.

Group and awaiting collection by the Two Customers. These goods,
with a total cost of HK$52,409,000, however, were not collected by
the Two Customers within the agreed timeframe. During an

inventory inspection exercise, management noted that certain
samples of the uncollected goods might have quality issues. Further
to the communication with one of the Two Customers, management
suspected that the intermediate supplier and intermediate customer
in one transaction chain might be controlled by the same parties.
The management resolved to and subsequently identified and
engaged a recognised independent electronic component testing
institution to carry out testing of those inventories between
December 2020 and February 2021. The resultant testing reports
revealed that these inventories were found to include a mix of
substandard, refurbished or counterfeit goods (“Problematic
Goods"). As of the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Problematic Goods still remain in the Group’s
warehouse. Management of the Company determined to write-down
the Problematic Goods costing HK$52,409,000 in full as expense and
forfeited the customers’ deposits received of HK$13,388,000 as
revenue to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income during the year ended 31st December, 2020
as set out in Notes 18 and 22 to the consolidated financial

statements respectively.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continuea)

The above incidents raised our concerns as to the reason for the
occurrence of the transactions related to the Problematic Goods
being supplied by three different suppliers which were introduced by
the Two Customers; and the relationships between the intermediate
suppliers and intermediate customers. Furthermore, it was noted that
the Dispersed Metals Business was also managed by the same
management team and was carried out in a similar manner and
trading terms as the Electronics Products Business. These
circumstances led us to question the nature, business rationale and
commercial substance of the transactions carried out under the
supply chain business.

We have communicated our concerns to the board of directors (“the
Board”) during our audit and requested explanations as to how our
concerns are considered in the determination of the accounting
treatments and related disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. However, we have not received sufficient information
and explanations from the Board that could satisfy ourselves as to
the nature, business rationale and commercial substance of the
transactions carried out under the supply chain business.

There were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to
satisfy ourselves as to the nature, business rationale and commercial
substance of the transactions carried out under the supply chain
business and, as a consequence, we were unable to ascertain
whether the transactions carried out under the supply chain business
were fairly stated and properly accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements as at and for the year ended 31st December,
2020 and the corresponding periods. These includes, revenue of
HK$999,476,000 and HK$2,568,515,000, cost of sales of
HK$1,026,211,000 and HK$2,545,291,000 (including the write-down
of inventory of HK$52,409,000 and HK$nil) and other income of
HK$2,277,000 and HK$7,075,000 recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31st December, 2020 and 2019 respectively; inventories
of HK$127,409,000, trade receivables of HK$153,785,000, bills
payables of HK$65,944,000 and contract liabilities of
HK$25,617,000 as at 31st December, 2019 and 1st January, 2020;
inventories of HK$nil, trade receivables of HK$29,305,000, bills
payables of HK$nil and contract liabilities of HK$nil as at 37st
December, 2020; and the related cashflows and disclosures thereof
in these consolidated financial statements.

Any adjustments found necessary would have consequential impact
on the financial position as at 1st January, 2020 and 37st
December, 2020 and the financial performance and cashflows for
the year ended 31st December, 2020 and the disclosures thereof in
these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report cnines
BYBHMBE @

OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31st December, 2019 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 6th May,
2020.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
misstatement,

financial statements that are free from material

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
The Audit Committee assists the

directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the
terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

However, because of the matters described in the “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we were not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
“Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (“Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Wai Man
Practising Certificate Number P05309

Hong Kong
9th September, 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GERsREMZERER

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 H ===

ZEFT_A=T—RHILFEE

2020 2019
—E-FE —NEF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BETR BT T
Revenue WA 5 1,662,470 3,169,836
Cost of sales & KR (1,676,192) (3,137,195)
Gross (loss) profit E (18) A (13,722) 32,641
Other income and gains and losses H b A A R Was &
& 18 7 4,665 7,656
Gain on deemed disposal of interest in % {F & — =N
an associate B 1 25 ZH&Z 15 24,999 —
Net exchange gains (losses) HIE H Wz (B 1) 290 (2,597)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS IEAX (4,463) (3,560)
Administrative expenses THRAX (21,714) (21,918)
Impairment loss on exploration and WE M FHEEERE
evaluation assets & 18 14 — (210,367)
Impairment loss on property, plant and  #)3%  B5 K& &
equipment B &5 18 13 (11,459) —
Share of result of an associate JEAE B E R R EE 15 (4,140) (1,896)
Finance costs B 7 3K 7R 8 (16,693) (17,365)
Loss before tax BRI RIEE 9 (42,237) (217,406)
Income tax expenses TS X 10 (3,860) (1,917)
Loss for the year FANEE (46,097) (219,323)
Other comprehensive income Hthz2mE A (FX)
(expense)
Items that will not be reclassified T EE T IEER
subsequently to profit or loss: BwmsHEE -
Exchange differences arising on MELBEVEKESE
translation to presentation currency 2 ME N = — (1,646)
Fair value change on investment in BAFEF AR
equity instrument at fair value 2HEE (R
through other comprehensive income Bt AR 2 E K
("FVTOCI") B ZBARREZ
NEEZT — (4,176)
Items that maybe reclassified subsequently £ & 2 & B4 7 2
to profit or loss: EzmZEE
Exchange differences arising on ?ﬁ:ﬁfﬁh%%?ﬁ&i
translation of foreign operations VEE X E R 3,887 —
Share of exchange difference of BEBEQRRE
an associate 2 BB N = EE 22,428 (6,627)
Release of translation reserve upon RAIEHE —HEZ QA
deemed disposal of an associate Iy 7 B BB 5 R 48 (6,073) —
Other comprehensive income (expense) 4 A E b 2w W A
for the year (A=) 20,242 (12,449)
Total comprehensive expense RAGRHAANEBHER
for the year attributable to owners of 2HRAYRE
the Company (25,855) (231,772)
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEEIE 12 HK(9.4) cents  HK(44.8) cents

&% 9.411

7B 5 (44.8) 11l
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At 31st December, 2020 R=ZZT=TF+=-_A=+—H
2020 2019
i ek o33 —E-NF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 BETT BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERHE 13 151 12,605
Exploration and evaluation assets PR R EEE 14 — —
Interests in associates YR AN Do 15 433,394 422,069
Right-of-use asset FERAEEE 16 222 556
433,767 435,230
Current assets RENEE
Inventories FE 18 3,803 340,858
Trade and other receivables and JEWE 5 R &
prepayments At 8 Y 5k I8 A &
Fa IR 19 30,346 251,509
Prepaid tax ICENEEN 172 —
Restricted cash X PR &R & 20 5,433 19,004
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KRR E 20 144,333 100,543
184,087 711,914
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade, bills and other payables and ERTE SN
accruals R RHEMEN
IR A B FE 5T R R 21 21,592 241,622
Contract liabilities AHaE 22 — 25,617
Bank borrowings RITIERK 23 282,125 538,774
Lease liability HEBE 24 228 331
Amount due to an intermediate holding — J&{f — & /12 A%
company NEIE 25 1,892 1,901
Amount due to ultimate holding JER & AR A A
company KIE 25 1,977 1,977
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries JE < [R) & % Bt BB 2 &
IR 25 140 140
Income tax payable JET PTG T 833 1,632
308,787 811,994 g
Net current liabilities REBEEE (124,700) (100,080)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRHER 309,067 335,150 %
S
el
[
A
[
A
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ontinea
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At 31st December, 2020 R-ZE-EHF+=-_A=+—8H

2020 2019
i i o33 —T-NF
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
B & BETT BT T
Non-current liability EREEE
Lease liability HEBE 24 — 228
Net assets BEEEFE 309,067 334,922
Capital and reserves BARRG®E
Share capital g 7R 26 4,892 4,892
Share premium and reserves &% 25 (B I fE 1 27 304,175 330,030
Equity attributable to owners AATHEEANEILERS
of the Company 309,067 334,922

The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 171 were H66FI171BZHEAMKEREIN T - —
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 9th FHLANBKEEHEFESEREERL - I

September, 2022 and are signed on its behalf by: BT EEREEE.
Zhong lie Zhang Yi

EAR R &

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EFE =



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERBEX

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T+t =-_A=+ —HIFE

Non-
Share Share Capital distributable ~ FVTOCI Merger ~ Statutory Translation Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BATE
HPN-1

TSRk 2\
B+ RbikHE ARG RE  KERE  AHERE AERE ERRE  RiABH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BMTR B%Tr ANTr BB BT A%Trn E%Tr  BETn  BETx
(Note 26)  (Note 27)  (Note 27)  (Note 27)  (Note 27)  (Note 27)  (Note 27)  (Note 27)
(Mik2e)  (Mzk27)  (Wsrr)  Omskzr)  (Wst27)  (Msa7)  (Wsta7) (W7

o>

Y
ol

At 1st January, 2019 RZZ-N%5-A-H 4,892 868,805 80,827 16,584 — 127 - 9,430 (413971) 566,694
Loss for the year EREE — — - — — - - - (219,323) (219,323

Exchange differences arising on

BEFELZENER

translation — — — — — — — (1,646) — (1,646)
Fair value change on investment in  RAFE AEM2E R
equity instrument at FVTOCI 2BAR
AEEEY - - - - (4,176) - - - - (4,176)
Share of exchange difference of EEBHERRZ
an associate ERER - — — — — - - (6,627) - (6,627)
Total comprehensive expense FAZERTER
for the year - - - - (4,176) - - (8,273) (219323) (231,772
Reclassification adjustment of FVTOCI A& I EAR A F(E
reserve upon derecognition of an FARMRENEZR
equity instrument at FYTOC| TREZRATEGFA
Eh2mEbe
RELENHEAR — — — — 4,176 — — — (4,176) —
Transfer of profits to statutory aNENEERE
reserve — — - — — - 635 — (635) -
At 31st December, 2019 RZZ2-n%
+-A=t-18 4,892 868,805 80,827 16,584 — 127 635 1,157 (638,105) 334,922
Loss for the year EREE - — - - - - - - (46,097)  (46,097)
Exchange differences arising on REMELZERER
translation - - - - - - - 3,887 - 3,887
Share of exchange difference of EEBERARZ
an associate ERER - - - - - - - 22,428 - 22,428
Release of translation reserve upon B {EHE —HE & A&
deemed disposal of an associate REZGERE - — - - — - - (6,073) - (6,073)
Total comprehensive expense FAZERTESR
for the year — - - — - - — 20,242 (46,097) (25,855)
At 31st December, 2020 R-F-%E
+=A=+-8H 4,892 868,805 80,827 16,584 — 127 635 21,399 (684,202) 309,067
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 EHZE=_—T =

ZEFET_A=T—-BILFE

2020 2019
—E_EHE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT ST T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES - DEE)
Loss before tax B B4 Al BT 18 (42,237) (217,406)
Adjustments for: P
Depreciation of property, plant and W WEREBBEITE
equipment 992 868
Depreciation of right-of-use asset CHREEENE 334 111
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BB LB ZEE
equipment 96 1,575
Amortisation of loan front-end fee EXEEE B#E 2,939 2,481
Impairment loss on exploration and R R A EREEE
evaluation assets — 210,367
Write-down of inventories 5 & Mo 52,409 —
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y2 BB REHEN
equipment BB B 18 11,459 —
Share of result of an associate FEAL B & N RIEE 4,140 1,896
Gain on deemed disposal of interest REHE —ME ﬁ’ﬁ%
in an associate NEEZEN S (24,999) —
Interest on bank borrowings RITERF B 13,738 14,876
Interest on lease liability HEABENE 16 8
Interest income from overdue BHEKE ZRROF B WA
trade receivables (2,277) (6,062)
Interest income from banks R1TH B WA (410) (881)
Operating cash flows before movements BESEYRII KERERE
in working capital 16,200 7,833
Decrease (increase) in inventories FER D GEMm 284,609 (240,478)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other JEUWCE 5 BR 30 N B th B YK FRIE DA
receivables and prepayments R FEAS FRIE R A (3E ) 231,928 (149,937)
(Decrease) increase in trade, bills and other Vﬁ’f’f%ﬁﬁﬁ —J—?J*‘;&Eﬁﬂfﬁ
payables and accruals FRIB LA R BT R O ) 180 (226,866) 217,490
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities a ,\\"]Efﬁ(ﬁiQ\)i hn (25,617) 10,097
Net cash generated from (used in) e (AE)KEzRE
operations 280,254 (154,995)
Income tax paid RN (2,299) (273)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) 2R 8 (B{E) & & /E8 2
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BREF8E 277,955 (155,268)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (onines

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 # &

SERERER @

= s e e B = SN

2020 2019
—EEHE — &
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEFT BEE T T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES WEEE
Payments for investment in equity AW IR N T EF AR MY R 2
instrument at FVTOCI f&#E T B2 B — (432,207)
Release (placement) of restricted cash RE(FR) ZRGIE e 13,571 (19,004)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE ¥ % - HE L& # (280) (170)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEEWE - HE &R E
and equipment — 133
Payments for rental deposits XA ERS — 7)
Interest received from banks B U ER 1T R B 410 881
Interest received from overdue EFREBBRERNFBWA
trade receivables 2,277 6,062
Dividend received from an associate B Uk Bt A B AR B 23,300 —
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) kE(AE)REESH 2
INVESTING ACTIVITIES He 558 39,278 (444,312)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES b & &)
New bank borrowings raised FILIRITIE R 332,133 795,380
Repayments of bank borrowings ERIETER (595,876) (248,703)
Payment of loan front-end fee TRERBEEER — (8,792)
Interest paid SRR PAUPS) (13,839) (14,712)
Advance from fellow subsidiaries KEARBRWBRAR ZER — 23
Advance from a joint operator RKE—BEERTZBN 2,324 377
Interest elements of lease rental paid EREERSONEI D (16) (8)
Capital elements of lease rental paid ENEERsNEXRI Y (331) (108)
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED FROM (BE)RERMEEFS 2
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BRE& T8 (275,605) 523,457
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND & & 3 & 5 [E¥) 1 /1
CASH EQUIVALENTS CR ) F 5 41,628 (76,123)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—A—BREEREEFEY
AT 1ST JANUARY 100,543 177,917
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE INEERE T B
CHANGES 2,162 (1,251)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERBEEEDR
AT 31ST DECEMBER, represented +ZA=+—8"
by bank balances and cash HIRTTHE &R NI HEK 144,333 100,543
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
General information

CNNC International Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company’s immediate holding company is CNNC Overseas
Uranium Holding Limited (“CNNC Overseas”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the Company’s intermediate
holding company and ultimate holding company are China
National Uranium Co., Ltd. and FEZTHXSEBER A F
(China National Nuclear Corporation “CNNC"), a state-owned
entity in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
respectively.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries, associates and joint operation are
set out in Notes 35, 15 and 17 respectively.

The functional currency of the Company is United States
dollars (“US$”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") for the convenience
of the shareholders, as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$000")
unless otherwise indicated.

Going concern assumption

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group, the directors of the Group have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in light of
the fact that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$46,097,000 for the year ended 31st December, 2020 and
as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$124,700,000.
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Going concern assumption (continved)

The Group had not complied with certain covenants as
stipulated in the bank loan agreement of the Group’s bank
borrowing of approximately HK$282,125,000 (net of loan
front-end fee) outstanding as at 31st December, 2020 in
particular i) after recognition of the write-down of electronic
products inventories included in “Cost of sales” in the amount
of approximately HK$52,409,000 in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st December, 2020, the
Group did not meet certain ratio of total liabilities to total
assets at all times, in the consolidated financial statements as
at 31st December, 2020 and ii) the Company’s shares were
suspended for trading on the Stock Exchange over 21
consecutive trading days. Accordingly, such bank borrowing
was immediately due and payable. The Company has been
granted an one-time waiver from the lender, regarding to non-
compliance of certain financial ratio and suspension of trading,
to extend the repayment date up to 31st October, 2021.

On 30th September, 2021, the Group entered into a 3-year
loan agreement amounting to HK$230,000,000 with
immediate holding company to settle the outstanding balance
of above bank borrowing.

Accordingly, the bank borrowing was fully repaid on 27th
October, 2021.

The directors of the Group consider that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet
its financial obligations for at least the next twelve months
from the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)

In 2018, the Group had commenced the supply chain business
as one of its principal activities through trading of electronics
products (“Electronics Products Business”) and dispersed metals
(“Dispersed Metals Business”) on a back-to-back basis which
was managed under essentially the same management team.
Goods were arranged to be delivered to the Group’s
warehouses by suppliers, certain of whom were noted to be
introduced by customers, for customers’ collections within an
agreed timeframe. Both the Electronics Products Business and
Dispersed Metals Business were carried out in a similar manner
and trading terms. Details of the financial information of the
supply chain business segment were set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

During the period between October 2019 and February 2020,
the Group entered into several transactions of electronics
products with Customers A and B (“Two Customers”) and with
Suppliers X, Y and Z ("Three Suppliers”). As at 31st
December, 2019, there were inventories amounting to
HK$40,820,000 awaiting collection by the Two Customers and
contract liabilities amounting to HK$8,018,000 representing
customers’ deposits corresponding to these inventories. In early
2020, goods costing HK$11,589,000 and customers’ deposits
of HK$5,370,000 were further received by the Group and
awaiting collection by the Two Customers. These goods, with
a total cost of HK$52,409,000, however, were not collected by
the Two Customers within the agreed timeframe. During an
inventory inspection exercise, management noted that certain
samples of the uncollected goods might have quality issues.
Management of the Company resolved to and subsequently
identified and engaged a recognised independent electronic
component testing institution to carry out testing of those
inventories between December 2020 and February 2021. The
resultant testing reports revealed that those inventories were
found to include a mix of substandard, refurbished or
counterfeit goods (“Problematic Goods”). Management of the
Company determined to write-down the Problematic Goods
costing HK$52,409,000 in full as expense and forfeited the
deposits received of HK$13,388,000 as revenue to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income during the year ended 31st December,
2020 as set out in Notes 18 and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively. As of the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, the Problematic Goods
still remain in the Group’s warehouse.
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

In light of the above circumstances, with consultation to its
legal advisor as to its right and obligations under the sales and
purchases contracts, the Group demanded refunds from the
Three Suppliers and pursued the collections by the Two
Customers concerning the Problematic Goods. During this
course, management of the Company noted the following:

i) Customer A has taken legal action against its on-sale
customer and the beneficiary of this on-sale customer for
breach of contracts and discovered the relationship

between this on-sale customer and the supplier of

Supplier X, who was introduced by this on-sale

customer, that they were allegedly controlled and owned

by the same individuals (“Problematic Purchase 1”); and

i) Supplier Y did not assist the Company to follow-up the
Problematic Goods with its supplier but referred the
Company to the representative of Customer B for the
matters in relation to the Problematic Goods. They are
not responsible for the Problematic Goods. (“Problematic
Purchase 2").

After seeking legal advice and having considered the results of
the laboratory testing reports, management of the Company
considered both Problematic Purchases 1 and 2 might involve
illegal acts perpetrated by the relevant customers and/or
suppliers, and therefore decided to report these suspicious
transactions to the law enforcement agencies in the PRC and
Hong Kong in 2021. However, no investigation was initiated by
these agencies due to lack of sufficient evidence.

With the recommendation of the audit committee of the
Company (“AC"), an independent director committee (“IDC"),
comprising all independent non-executive directors, was
established on 28th January, 2022 and the AC and IDC
engaged SHINEWING Financial Advisory Services Limited as the
independent expert (the “Independent Expert”) to perform an
independent review that aims at finding the facts in relation to
the Problematic Purchases and identifying the root cause(s) (the
“Independent Review").
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

During the Independent Review, a number of limitations was
encountered by the Independent Expert. These limitations,

1.

—RERREREE

144 P 88 55 75 5 B0 B ) R 4R B
(TR EREE]) =)

EBUESHHE BUEREBINET
BR&I - ZFMRG (KRB RKEHEMN

amongst others, included failure of interviewing the customers BRE-—AN_—E, MM EEEA -
and the suppliers of the Problematic Purchases 1 and 2 due to REABKEEIWEEEE ARG B

their non-response to the interview invitations. The scope,
major procedures, findings and limitations of the Independent
Review were set out in the announcement made by the
Company dated 15th August, 2022.

To facilitate the Independent Review, an independent
corporate investigation and risk consulting firm was further
engaged to perform background investigations on the
customers and suppliers of the trading of electronics products
in the supply chain business and their directors and
shareholders. Based on the results of the background
investigations, the Independent Expert concluded that it was

very likely there existed a connection between:

(@) the alleged intermediate supplier and the alleged
intermediate customer identified by Customer A in
regards of Problematic Purchase 1; and

(b)  the Supplier Y and Customer B in regard of Problematic
Purchase 2.

Pursuant to the Independent Review report, the root causes
leading to the Problematic Purchases not being prevented and
detected comprised of, amongst others:

(i)  significant internal control weaknesses, in terms of both
the control environment and the implementation;

(i) a lax risk management approach towards the conducts of
the business in favour of business growth having allowed
to persist, coupled with the lack of due care and skills
involved on the part of the operation team where risk
concerns raised and advices given by the risk
management department of the Company were at times
sidestepped and neglected by the operation team; and

(iii) imprudent business planning and design of business
model, which lacked consideration of all business risks
involved.
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(continued)

Problematic purchases in the supply chain
business segment (“Problematic Purchases”)
(continued)

The IDC is of the view, which the AC and the management of
the Company concurred, that the combination of system and
human factors was the principal root causes leading to the
Problematic Purchases, which together contributed to the
failure on the part of the Company to detect and identify the
Problematic Purchases, and the failed system was then
exploited by the colluded customers and suppliers to conduct
transactions with suspicious commercial rationale through the
Group, leading to the Problematic Purchases.

Having evaluated, among other things, the financial and
inventory risks involved in the supply chain business,
particularly brought to light from incidents of the Problematic
Purchases as set out above, and the uncertainties on the
macro environment attributed by the COVID-19 pandemic,
management of the Company gradually reduced the scale of
the supply chain business in 2020. The supply chain business
was then suspended with the last sale transaction entered into
in late 2020 and discontinued in first half of 2021.

APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Adoption of new/amendments to HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new/amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time in the current
year.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions

Amendment to HKFRS 16

The new/amendments to HKFRSs that effective from 1st
January, 2020 did not have significant financial impact on the
Group’s accounting policies.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continvea)

New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause®

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract®

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and

Related Amendments®

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?*

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2'

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-20203

Annual Improvements Project

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies®

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting

Estimates®

Deferred Tax Related to
Assets and Liabilities Arising
from a Single Transaction®

Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30th
June, 20212

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 16

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2021

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2022

4 Effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or after the
beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1st January, 2022

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023

6 The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or contribution of assets

occurring in annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and HK
Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is
unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at
the end of the reporting period. The amendments also
introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash,
equity instruments, other assets or services.

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The revision
to HK Int 5 (2020) updates the wordings in the interpretation
to align with the Amendments to HKAS 1 with no change in
conclusion and do not change the existing requirements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments and revision in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling
items produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, the proceeds from
selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, is
recognised in profit or loss.

The directors of the Company is currently assessing the impact
that the application of the amendments will have on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

2.

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continuea) . D
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not EEMHEEKREZBEHET &
yet effective (continued) BT EEMBREEN o
Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — EEBEIEREI7RZ 5]
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract EHERer — EBiTel 2zt

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract
comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs

AFERER FETTQ?’JZEXZ!KJ’F]%
(HENEEMBIKRA] - BENE

that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental BEHBACKNEAABBITENZIEENA
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and (IMEESETRME)  HEBTEH

materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling contracts (e.g. the allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract).

The directors of the Company is currently assessing the impact
that the application of the amendments will have on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
insurance contracts and supersedes HKFRS 4, Insurance
Contracts. The standard outlines a ‘General Model’, which is
modified for insurance contracts with direct participation
features, described as the ‘Variable Fee Approach’. The General
Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by measuring the
liability for remaining coverage using the Premium Allocation
Approach.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
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application of this standard in the future will have an impact BRETEHUBRRERTE -

on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the BB B H & ERF3% 2 65T
Conceptual Framework — S ERZEL

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers to the
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
instead of the version issued in 2010. The amendments add to
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HKFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within the scope B 2R - ZEAE T BB KW
of HKAS 37, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine HHEREIFIEM—IERTE  HEEE

whether at the acquisition date a present obligation exists as a
result of past events. For a levy that would be within the
scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the obligating event
that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by the
acquisition date. The amendments also add an explicit
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statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent ﬁ%ﬁé,\a) REFVRETEL
assets acquired in a business combination. YNEBHAEENETSEHERERIK

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the financial statements.

BEHAELE ZFERT BN
FHERE R RAWBE S L EBRNE
Bat P RBNIREE -

ARBEERAPARERAZFET R
ERB ISV BERRENTE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

REMBREME @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSS") (continvea)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. When the transaction with an associate or joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a
subsidiary that does not contain a business are recognised in
the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, any gains
or losses resulting from the remeasurement of retained interest
in any former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a
joint venture) to fair value are recognised in the profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the
new associate or joint venture.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of these amendments may have an impact on the financial
statements in future periods should such transaction arise.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

FER#HE] EIETHE AU
?%#EE—&EIJ (TEBHBR
HFEA])
EEMHERKRERBHT &
BT EHEEMBREED o

BEEHBREERFI105RE
BEIERFE28HZ155] — 1R

BEFHERABELFREEL
B2 & ZE H B3 | &
REETRERELERABEATR
AECECMBEEAERERHEAR
B R E AT LA EEENR
FRBEFEANE QIR BRBRRE
REYIEEEEBENNER MR
IR 25 2 ) £ M SRS 1R - o
BB EEREBERTRE
D E AR - F I R R
Re iR R & 5 B A A A A8 2 A (2K
ABENARAELR) 2 REMHE
TR B 2 2 A s A
EUFEBREERTHERTARA
BREZERAR -

ARBEFEHR HHRZERS
ERAZEETReHTRURANMB
WREKXTE -

EEEERFIRREEBME
HERREHBYF20 2 55T
— BB ERE
BEGHEREIRETUEAGH
BEAR BRI EERHBE] AN
FEmR - HERERAHRRAA
fin B R — 0 % B B AR A R AT
AREHEY SRRV HERENEE
2 P & R 12 3% 5 BT 75 SRR A 16 1 0 OR
BB BRRANBERX -

ZEBRI MBS  BMES RRBEIL T
N 1E%EA$EF‘% 5 ME - HivE
BERBER S BRRERDATBE
Koo 77<ﬁﬁ CWIEFMTBHREARR S « HAth
$I§TI$5R%E§E’JA*+BZ%§%J$%
MBEER - —EEREEREIE
GITEKER  BEHERNTEEE
BAEHBEER -

81

(87 & B 5 ke 2 oh

T



CNNC International Limited 2020 Annual Report

82

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HE=ZT =T F+ A=+ —BLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2. FERH#:T EEsIEHEH

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application, if
any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting
policy may require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead be
estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting
policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the use of
judgements or assumptions based on the latest available,
reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW/AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continvea)

New/amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related
to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1st January, 2023, with early application
permitted. The Group is still in the process of assessing the full
impact of the application of the amendments.

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions beyond 30th June, 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
covid-19 pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the pandemic
and only if (i) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or
less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; (i) any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30th June,
2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease. In April 2021, the HKICPA issued
another amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30th June, 2021 to extend the availability
of the practical expedient for any reduction in lease payments
that affects only payments originally due on or before
30th June, 2022 (the "“2021 Amendment”). The 2021
Amendment is effective retrospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st April, 2021 with any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendment recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at the
beginning of the current accounting period. Earlier application
is permitted.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have an
impact on the financial statements.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for financial instrument that are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
leasing that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to
exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all three
of the following elements are present: power over the
investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the
investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position disclosed in
Note 34, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associate used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
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recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position R HECHBENERNEEE
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associate. Change in net assets of the associate other than BEEZEHTIT AR RIZSEEHEZ

profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
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share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in BEREERARNFREE —BoEW
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obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the HWIERRIKABE AR 2 B

equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts

previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
reclassification

loss from equity to profit or loss (as a

adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant

associate.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a
contractual arrangement that confers joint control over the
relevant activities of the arrangement to the Group and at
least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the same
principles as control over subsidiaries.

3.
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The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as REBBEREGELRH IR R
either:
. Joint ventures: where the Group has rights to only the . BEME  AEEEHEELH

net assets of the joint arrangement; or

LEEFEHERBEN K

. Joint operations: where the Group has both the rights to . EEER  AREHSETH
assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint EERABEMNIHEAGEERE
arrangement. %o

In assessing the classification of interests in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:
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. the structure of the joint arrangement; . AELRHECEE

. the legal form of joint arrangements structured through . BREVERBEAB  EERES
a separate vehicle; AR

. the contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement; . SELHHHE S NERR Rk
and

. any other facts and circumstances (including any other . EMEMEERBEL(BEEM

contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the
same manner as investments in associates.

The Group accounts for its interests joint operations by

recognising its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses in accordance with its contractually conferred rights

and obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities measured
as at the acquisition date.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities exceed
the aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised in
profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable
group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount, and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is
less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is first allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro-rata basis on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset will
not reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below its
fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in
use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when

control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at

an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group

expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,

excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue excludes value added taxes or other sales taxes and is

after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that

apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may be

transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the

goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s

performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed

simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls

as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to the

Group and the Group has an enforceable right to

payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue

is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to

the progress towards

complete

satisfaction of that

performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a

point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods

or service.

(i)  Trading of mineral properties and supply chain

Customers obtain control of the uranium and dispersed

metals and electronics products when the goods are

delivered to and have been accepted. Revenue is thus

recognised upon when the customers accepted. There is

generally only one performance obligation.

Invoices are

usually payable within 0-60 days which depends on the

credit quality of customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised on time-proportion basis
using effective interest methods.

Contract liability
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)

from the customer.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before that
good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost on
initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of
exploration rights and the expenditure incurred in the search
for natural resources as well as the determination of the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting those
resources.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of
extracting natural resources become demonstrable, previously
recognised exploration and evaluation assets are reclassified as
either intangible assets or property, plant and equipment.
These assets are assessed for impairment before
reclassification, and any impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
o any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and

conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.
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Leases (continued) *ﬂ % (%)
The Group as a lessee (continued) EEEBRBA
Lease liabilities HERE

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and
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The Group presents lease liability as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
retranslation of monetary items, are

items, and on the

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case,
the exchange rates at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit before tax.
Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on the tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
requirements of HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net
basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
results in net deductible temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of uranium are determined on the weighted
average cost method and cost of other inventories are
determined on the first-in-first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows;

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding;

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income (“OCI") if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term;

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HEZE =T =T F+ A=+ —BLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the "other gains and losses” line item.

3.

FEEHTBR

&M TR e
BHEE
BN P HRR G B

B 51 - 7 5 B B R A S 4 — IR
BRBHERALEATF B AR 2
a5t B 0% B 2 DR A A
A3 BRATBRTTHBRA
WL B A -

(i) 8 3H Ak A KA B A
HERZHBHEKTFTENEHE
ERZEAFEFAZERZENE
BIE HAMSWAKRAERF
KEBR - eRMEENT WA
HERFERBERFEEANE
HEEHSE HHEEREEER
BzeMEERMNET) - H
REEZEEEEREZSRE
E-HEMBWATBEBE TEZ
R ERFEERARERME
EREEK AR TIARR - ]
EEREZERIANEERR
BRE SeMEETHEAL
CERE MEETEETHE
EEERERNE B2
B EeRMEENFEWRARBE
ERAMEERRELEESET
LABE R ©

(i) MAFEAABZN TR
BE
PR A ABESH ARGt B IR R
Bt AR 2R 2 RN
EREAFEFAREBEZEE RS
ZIEENGREE HRATVE
Ft AR

REREHR  HAFEFTAR
sNEREERATEFE M
EAFERDRE RN B E
RN BaRBERNR R REEF
HEERSREERNNEMK
BEAE - WEF ATE W &
BEIER A -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 & & —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (continued)

(iii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI is

subsequently measured at fair value with gains and

losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in

other comprehensive income and accumulated in the

FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment

assessment.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost
of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income” line item in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, restricted cash and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’'s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HEZE =T =T F+ A=+ —BLFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (ontinvea)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For

all other instruments, the Group measures the

loss

allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (ontinvea)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

(c) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over five years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continved)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in equity instrument which the Group has
elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI upon
application of HKFRS 9 is derecognised or such investment
becomes interests in associate, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified
to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continved)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities including trade, bills and other payables,
bank borrowings and amounts due to an intermediate holding
company, ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on assets (other than
financial assets)

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

At end of reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual cash
generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating

units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

3.

FETFHBR®

BE(FRESMEE)ZRE
B8

VE BERRGREHES
Z
AEERRERRBEANE  BWE
RREGEREAREEZREME UE
EREBDRBRAXSAELARE
BiE - HHREARBERSR A&
SR AEZARESE R E
BE(NA) Z2E -

ME - BERERBREABEEZA
W [ & B8R 8 Bl T o A S BE 1 At ME
PIEEZAREEE  AKEE [
HEEMBREELEM 2 AJRE S
B

N EREERAABNGEETNZ
DEEESEEZEHNREEL BN -
BRHIERAIEEANBNAEEY DR
EEZRNREELEMN - AEEF
EREAETRRARAEEAREELE
ME - MRFEZER AIRAAE
EMBNREELETXREELE
THEAHEERN KL SR WHBHER
CEABRANBELEANKRER
BETHEER-

AU Bl & B8 A T E R H & A K AE
REEZ®RSE FEERAEER"
BEFRKRERETERH AR X
FTREHRE ZHBAXRBEAT
HHE SR EE A RMGERE
RERERAGABZEEXRTES
Bz BERR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on assets (other than
financial assets) (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or the group of
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Impairment losses on assets (other than
financial assets) (continued)
Exploration and evaluation assets
The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets
is reviewed and assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets whenever one of the following
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable (the list is not exhaustive):

o the period for which the Group has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or will
expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

o substantive expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

o exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the Group has decided to discontinue such activities in
the specific area; or

. sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset
is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which it is probable will
result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably
estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Related parties
A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties (continved)

(ii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

Power to exercise significant influence

Since 11th September, 2019, the Group has owned 18.18%
of the shareholder voting rights of CNNC Financial Leasing
Limited ("CNNC Leasing”), a PRC financial leasing company.
The Group has adopted the equity method of accounting for
its investment in CNNC Leasing as it is considered to have
significant influence under HKFRSs.

Significant influence is defined as the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
HKFRSs
indicators that may provide evidence of significant influence,

is not control or joint control. identifies several
including representation on the board of directors of the

investee and participation in policy-making processes.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Power to exercise significant influence (continued)
In accordance with the articles of association of CNNC
Leasing, the Group can appoint 2 out of 11 directors to the
board of CNNC Leasing. The Group also holds the voting
rights at general meetings of shareholders conferred by its
18.45% equity interest in CNNC Leasing at the end of last
reporting period.
During the vyear, CNNC Leasing completed the business
combination transaction as disclosed in Note 15. The Group's
equity interest in CNNC Leasing has been diluted to 11.36%
at the end of reporting period. However, with reference to the
amendment of articles of association of CNNC Leasing, the
Group still has a right to appoint 1 out of 7 directors to the
board of CNNC Leasing. As a result, it is considered to have
significant influence and continues to adopt the equity method
after the completion of the transaction.

Rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement

The directors have determined that the Group’s investment in
XXEM LLC should be accounted for as a joint operation rather
than a joint venture. Although the legal form of XXEM LLC
and the contractual terms of the joint arrangement indicate
that the arrangement is a joint venture, venturers are legally
obliged to take the entire output produced by XXEM LLC and
will be the only source of funding to settle its liabilities.

On this basis, the directors consider that, in substance, the
arrangement gives the venturers rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement and
not rights to the net assets of the arrangements and therefore
is a joint operation.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimates, management has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on the
assumption that the Group will be able to operate as a going
concern in the coming year, which is a critical judgement that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements. The assessment of the going concern
assumption involves making a judgement by the Directors, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of events or
conditions which are inherently uncertain. The Directors
consider that the Group has the capability to continue as a
going concern and the major events or conditions, which may
give rise to business risks, that individually or collectively may
cast significant doubt upon the going concern assumption are
set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Principal versus agent consideration

The Group engages in trading of uranium, dispersed metals
and electronics and other products. The Group concluded that
it acts as the principal for such transactions as it controls the
specified good before it is transferred to the customer after
taking into consideration indicators such as the Group is
primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the
goods. The Group has inventory risk and price risk.

When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the
Group recognises trading revenue in the gross amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled as
specified in the contract.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continved)
Impairment assessment on exploration and
evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may exceed the recoverable amount. As detailed in
Note 14, the Group owns a number of exploration licenses
included in exploration and evaluation assets in Mongolia for
uranium mining which are subjected to Mongolia’s Law on
Nuclear Energy and Mongolia’s Implementing
Procedures of the Law on Nuclear Energy being effective on
15th August, 2009 (collectively referred to as the “New
Laws").

Law on

The Group commenced negotiating with the relevant
Mongolian authorities in respect of the implementation of the
New Laws from 2010 and consensus has been reached
between the Group and the relevant Mongolian authorities
that a joint venture would be established for holding the
Group’s mining licenses, which are currently under application,
with the Mongolia Government holding 51% of the equity
interest of the joint venture. During the year ended 31st
December, 2019, the Group has initiated the Lawsuit (as
defined in Note 14) claiming to confirm non-performance of
relevant Mongolian authorities in relation to application of the
mining licenses in accordance with the Mongolian laws and
reinstate the validity of the exploration licenses. However, the
result of the Lawsuit and the timing of obtaining the mining
licenses are highly uncertain.

In determining the recoverable amount of exploration and
evaluation assets, the management has assessed the
impairment based on higher of value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. To measure the fair value, it requires
significant degree of judgment by management in selecting
the valuation techniques and applying key assumptions and
inputs to the impairment assessment model, including market
price of natural uranium and market observable transactions of
similar transactions related to the acquisition of companies
which hold mining project at preliminary stage, taking into
account the notice from the Mongolian authority, latest status
of the Lawsuit, regulatory requirements in Mongolia and the
arrangement for the Group’s mining licenses. Details of the
assessment have been set out in Note 14. Where there is
change in facts and circumstances which results in revision of
future cash flows estimation, reversal of impairment may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such change takes place.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continved)
Net realisable value of inventory

Management reviews the conditions of electronic and other
products at the end of each reporting period, and makes
allowances for defect, obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items identified that are no longer suitable for sales in the
market. These estimates are based on current market
conditions, inventories functional status and the historical
experience of selling goods of similar nature. Management will

reassess the estimations at the end of each reporting period.

As at 31st December, 2020, the carrying amounts of inventory
are HK$3,803,000 (2019: HK$340,858,000), after taking into
account the provision for write-down of HK$52,409,000 (2019:
Nil) that have been recognised. Details of write-down of the
inventories are set out in Note 18.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

At each reporting date, ECL on trade receivables are assessed
individually. The historical observed default rates would be
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed. The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECL
is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECL on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note
30(b) to the financial statements.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continved)
Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment

is stated at costs less

accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of
the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the

impairment test.

As at 31st December, 2020, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment are HK$151,000 (2019: HK$12,605,000),
after taking into account the impairment loss of
HK$11,459,000 (2019: Nil) that have been recognised. Details
of the impairment on property, plant and equipment are set
out in Note 13.

Impairment assessment of associates

Determining whether interests in associates are impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of relevant
associate, which is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. The calculation of fair value less
costs of disposal requires the Group to estimate the present
value of the future cash flows expected to generated by the
associate and the proceeds from the ultimate disposal of the
investment using suitable discount rates. Where the expected
future cash flows differ from the original estimation, an
impairment loss may arise.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W\ R 4 &B & $}
Revenue of the Group represents amounts received or AEEBRABLHEHER B B
receivable arising from the sale of uranium, dispersed metals FREMERz2EWHERE E K
and electronics and other products. Sale of goods are A-HEBEmREDRNGEERE
recognised when control of the goods has transferred to the BTG RERI R PERER -
customer, being at the point the goods are delivered to the
customer.
Revenue from contracts with customers EFRSHKA
Exploration
Trading and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
Segments 5 &B properties  properties chain 2020 Total
HERE BERHEE —EZEHF
/E S WmEME 5:35i:3:0) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETR EETR EETR EETR
Trading of =
— uranium — o 662,994 — — 662,994
— electronics and other — BEFRHAM
products Em — — 176,936 176,936
— dispersed metals — SBE® — — 822,540 822,540
662,994 — 999,476 1,662,470
Exploration
Trading  and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
Segments 7 EB properties properties chain 2019 Total
KREEE BRNHEE —E-hEF
% TEEY % 1 e 3 et
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Trading of ==
— uranium — 601,321 — — 601,321
— electronics and other — EFRHAM
products E — — 1,418,306 1,418,306
— dispersed metals — SBER — — 1,150,209 1,150,209
601,321 — 2,568,515 3,169,836
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Information reported to the Group’s executive directors, being

the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods delivered or services
provided. The Group currently organises its operations into
three operating divisions, which also represent the operating
segments of the Group for financial reporting purposes,
namely trading of mineral properties, exploration and selling of
mineral properties and supply chain. They represent three
major lines of business engaged by the Group. The Group's
operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as

follows:
e Trading of mineral — trading of uranium
properties
e Exploration and selling of — exploration and selling
mineral properties of uranium
e Supply chain — selling of dispersed
metals and

electronics products,
including but not
limited to trading of
flash drives, memory
cards, etc.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. KA R 3 EB &
(continued)
Segment information SBEH
The following is an analysis for the Group's revenue and AEEBZWAR¥ERERREESD
results by reportable and operating segments: HEDz2o@AT
For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BE_T_FE+-A=1—
Bt FEE
Exploration
Trading and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
properties properties chain Total
~ BRRHE
REREWE BEME HrEsE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Segment revenue 7 HBRA 662,994 — 999,476 1,662,470
Segment profit (loss) o EaF (E18) 7,855 (16,735) (35,199) (44,079)
Bank interest income FATFEWA 410
Unallocated corporate income RAREERA 2,207
Gain on deemed disposal of BELE—HBE AT
interest in an associate B R 2 2 s 24,999
Unallocated corporate costs RAOBEERR (8,535)
Share of result of an associate Bl e NEEE (4,140)
Unallocated finance costs A5 BB KR (13,099)
Loss before tax bR T A 6 1B (42,237)
For the year ended 31st December, 2019 E_E-NFLZA=A—
H IF FE
Exploration
Trading and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
properties properties chain Tota
\ BIRREE \
RERENE BEME st E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT B
N
Segment revenue o EUA 601,321 — 2,568,515 3,169,836
a2
Segment profit (loss) 7835 7l (85 18) 2,788 (215,715) 17,534 (195,393) f%
Bank interest income FATHEWA 881 E
Unallocated corporate costs ADEEEKE (7,775)
Share of result of an associate EIEEERRIEE (1,896) LA,
Unallocated finance costs R B B A (13,223) L%
Loss before tax R AT E B (217,406)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RSEEE «

CNNC International Limited 2020 Annual Report

120

(continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3.
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss
from) each segment without allocation of bank interest
income, unallocated corporate income, gain on deemed
disposal of interest in an associate and unallocated corporate
costs, share of result of an associate and unallocated finance
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

AN ESE T - L E D E 2 ERER
HRE BB $HH°"*B¢J‘J(E§
BYEESMEELRF (BB T8
FBRTFERA kOB ERA
BRELE —HBEAFTNEZ WK
W AP EBERAE - EIEHE QA
EERRDBEI G A - lrtJ'ﬁTy‘Lﬁ
BRDPEEFHESIBERBAMBMEEE
ERREAZEBRIFTEER -

NHMEERER
AEMEEREERERREE D
BN AWM

2020 2019
i e 33 —ET-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT BT T
ASSETS BE
Segment assets o EE B
— Trading of mineral properties — REBEDE 69,262 324,479
— Exploration and selling of mineral — WREEE
properties BEME 4,704 15,368
— Supply chain — e 78,618 378,979
152,584 718,826
Interests in associates iR N R 433,394 422,069
Unallocated corporate assets KO RRIEE 31,876 6,249
Consolidated assets HEBEE 617,854 1,147,144
LIABILITIES BE
Segment liabilities DEPBE
— Trading of mineral properties KETREY 992 337,588
— Exploration and selling of mineral — WRKHEE
properties BEMF 19,018 16,753
— Supply chain — e 916 167,202
20,926 521,543
Unallocated corporate liabilities N /NEIN=K T 287,861 290,679
Consolidated liabilities meBafE 308,787 812,222
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

REMBREME @
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. KA R 3 EB &
(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) NTHEERERE®
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and MERSBEERRESE S BHEER
allocating resources between segments: =
. Segment assets include property, plant and equipment, . SMEEBRFEBEERS BEE
exploration and evaluation assets, inventories, trade and iz BB k& MR
other receivables and prepayments, restricted cash and NMFEEE T7E EBRESK
bank balances and cash which are directly attributable to TR N B At e W R TR I FE AN RIE
the relevant reportable segment. ZRRGIE S A RBITE G RIR
4 o
. Segment liabilities include trade, bills and other payables . NHBEBRERBERD BEE
and accruals, contract liabilities, bank borrowings and BhHZENESER EBELE
amount due to an intermediate holding company, which T RIBARESTRK - &4
are directly attributable to the relevant reportable A BITERRES—BFRN
segment. ZEAR A AR .
Other segment information Hfth 5 &8 & ¥}
2020
—3-%%
Exploration
Trading and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
properties properties chain Unallocated Total
BERHE
BEBRENE BENE freds FHE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BRI BRI BRI
Amounts included in the measure of tEDHEET
segment results or segment assets: A HEAEB A
LEE:
Addition to property, plant and RENE BER
equipment RE - 263 6 1 280
Interests in associates BENRER - - - 433,394 433,394
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ 91%  BERREZ
equipment ik - 875 97 2 992
Depreciation of right-of-use asset ~ FEEEENE - - - 334 334
Write-down of inventories FEHRA - - 52,409 - 52,409
Impairment loss on property, plant 9%+ BE kR EH
and equipment REEE - 11,459 - - 11,459
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE « BE kX
equipment 2 EBE - P} PE] — 96
Share of result of an associate [ AN e - - - 4,140 4,140
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RSEEE

(continued)
Other segment information (continued) HihoE8EER
2019
“T-hE
Exploration
Trading and selling
of mineral of mineral Supply
properties properties chain Unallocated Total
BRREE
BEBENE BENE frEsE ROR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT EEFT BETT
Amounts included in the measure of T EHFEET
segment results or segment assets: D EEERB A
28
Addition to property, plant and RENE BER
equipment & — 46 m 13 170
Interests in associates BandEs — — — 422,069 422,069
Depreciation of property, plant and 9% - BERZFE 2
equipment & — 71 76 81 868
Depreciation of right-of-use asset ~ EREEENRE - — - 111 111
Impairment loss on exploration and ~ &R EEERE
evaluation assets B& - 210,367 — — 210,367
Loss on disposal of property, plant and EENE  BE k%
equipment EzER - 1,575 - - 1,575
Share of result of an associate EEBENAEE - - — 1,896 1,896
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue by geographical market (irrespective of
the origin of the goods) based on the incorporation location of
the customers are detailed below:

WARDEBEE
i = &

BREPKMEE D 2 RNEE KM E
M5 (T & RR ) 2 YA FF it 20
™

Revenue
(' PN

2020 2019
—E-FE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$’000
EETT BT T
PRC (including Hong Kong) FEH(BEERBD) 1,031,032 2,606,781
The United Kingdom e 198,021 121,734
The United States ESe 140,523 106,325
Germany = 133,396 94,102
Switzerland i 93,657 52,426
Canada I 65,841 —
Cayman Islands HEES — 188,468
1,662,470 3,169,836
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 #HE=E=-—T-—ZTHF+_-_F -+ —BILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RSEEE

E_ (continued)
: Geographical information (continued) WmESHE @
5 The Group’s operation is principally located in the Mongolia AEFXZEAEEHERABEEE - K&
;cf and PRC. Information about the Group’s non-current assets by BiZHERBDEE L HEE D CEE
S geographical location of the assets is detailed below: BRI
2
€ Non-current assets
= kEBAE
S 2020 2019
: —¥-¥F T NF
< HK$000 HK$'000
z EET R T T
° Mongolia ENE] — 12,337
PRC (including Hong Kong) PE(BREEE) 433,767 422,893
433,767 435,230
Information about major customers FREEEFR&EH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding vyears HBMBAEERWAI0%KRAZT PRI
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are HEEOHWRARAT
as follows:
2020 2019
ZECZEE —ZT-hNF
HK$000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Customer A 2EA 679,010' 872,732
Customer B EFB — 539,283'
Customer C BFC — 478,581
1 Revenue from supply chain. 1 HRE WA -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

6. EEREENE

EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and ERHREN TR ESE RITHRAE 2
the chief executive officer were as follows: cap N
Directors’ Salaries and Discretionary
fee allowances bonus Total
EEHg HeRER BiRtEd @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BETR
For the year ended BE_®-%%
31st December, 2020 +ZRA=+-BLEE
Executive directors (Note i): PITES (M) -
Mr. Zhang Yi RERE
(appointed on 4th May, 2020) (R=Z2-%%
AAMA L) 350 17 213 580
Mr. Cheng Lei BErt
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) (R-Z2-%F
hAMEEE) - 183 10 193
Non-executive directors: FBITES:
Mr. Zhong Jie BARE
(appointed on 4th May, 2020) (RZEZFF
AAMA L) - - - -
Mr. Wu Ge REEHE
(appointed on 4th May, 2020) (R=T-%%
AANA LA - - - -
Mr. Yang Chaodong BRRLE
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) (R=2=%%
A MA ) — — - -
Mr. Li Zhihuang FEEEE
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) (R-Z-%%
A AW A ) — — - -
Independent non-executive directors: BUEHTES:
Mr. Chan Yee Hoi GG &
(appointed on 9th March, 2020) (R=Z2-%%
ZANBER) 208 — — 208
Mr. Cui Liguo ERNE L E 250 - - 250
Mr. Zhang Lei REEE 250 - - 250
1,058 200 223 1,481
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 #HE=E=-—T-—ZTHF+_-_F -+ —BILFE

6.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES'’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and
the chief executive officer were as follows:

EENREEME

ENSENTEES RITHEE 2 B
oy /(N

Directors' Salaries and Discretionary
fee allowances bonus Total
Yk He R BB @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
For the year ended BE-T-1%
31st December, 2019 +ZA=+-HLEE
Executive directors (Note i): AIES () -
Mr. Cheng Lei Bark
(appointed on 1st June, 2019 and (RZZ2-1%
resigned on 4th May, 2020) ~NA-BEER
R-ZF_%
AAMBEE) - 250 242 492
Mr. Bai Donghai BEEBEE
(resigned on 1st June, 2019) (R=ZE-NE
~NA-BEA) - 225 - 225
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Yang Chaodong BERLE
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) (R=ZZ=-%%
AAMBET — — - —
Mr. Li Zhihuang FEEEE
(resigned on 4th May, 2020) (R-Z2-%%
f AW A ) — — — —
Independent non-executive directors BUERTES (M) -
(Note ii):
Mr. Cheong Ying Chew, Henry REBEE
(resigned on 31st December, 2019) (RZZE—-n&
TZA=+-HEE) 250 — — 250
Mr. Cui Liguo EFELE 250 — — 250
Mr. Zhang Lei RELE 250 — — 250
750 475 242 1,467

Mr. Zhang Yi was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Company on 4th May, 2020. His
emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the Chief Executive Officer and Executive

Director during the year ended 31st December, 2020.

Notes:

(i) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

(i) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

(iii) The directors of the Company are entitled to discretionary bonus payments which are

determined based on the performance.

REEAENR _ZE-_ZFRANBESR
TARRBIITHBHBENTES - K
ZHeER EXEE BEEREEZ
E-EF+_A=Z+—BHLFEERT
TREBRENTESRERKES
B &

B EE -

(i) NEETHOTEEMEDERNRERARTR
KEEER -

(if) NEBUATEEMES TR ERARBAZES
R 75

(iif) RAREFHEREFILL  ZAEATIRBESH
RBEE -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 6.

E M OLU M ENTS (continued)

Of the five employees with the highest emoluments in the
Group, one individual (2019: one individual) was director of
the Company whose emolument is included in the disclosure
set out above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2019:
four) employees were as follows:

EENREEME

AEEBshEGEaFHMALTH  —F
ZE-NF:—RB)ATREARAE
EREEZMEH A X 28
B-#THE(ZT—AF mWE)A
TzMewnT

2020 2019
—E-FHE —E-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
BETT 7T T
Salaries and other benefits M & H b 18 F 3,710 4,042
Retirement benefit schemes contributions B RAR A FT 814 50 108 58
3,818 4,100
2020 2019
=L = I
No. of No. of
employee employee
EEAE BB AH
Emoluments of the employees were within ~ EEB& N F T 347 :
the following bands:
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =z #1,000,0007T 2 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7 #1,000,0017T =
78 #1,500,0007T 2 1

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors or the five highest paid employees as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has
waived any emoluments during the year.

FR AEEITERAEFANESXRA
ERFMALXHEAMES  ERF
EMAREESLMARNEERK 2 RS
KBEREE MEEFTNFAREL
fa] B &
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HE=ZT =T F+ A=+ —BLFE
7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND 7. Hbt AL R Wm R ES1E
LOSSES
2020 2019
—E-FHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT 7SI T
Interest income from banks WITH B WA 410 881
Interest income from overdue trade BHEWRE ZERN
receivables B A 2,277 6,062
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - WEMZE
equipment &5 18 (96) (1,575)
Others H ity 2,074 2,288
4,665 7,656
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HMBRE
2020 2019
—E-EHE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT & W T
Interest on bank borrowings RITIE KA B 13,738 14,876
Interest on lease liability MEBERE 16 8
Amortisation of loan front-end fee EFAHEE B 2,939 2,481
16,693 17,365
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

LOSS BEFORE TAX

9. BRBimEE

2020 2019
—EB-%H —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETRT BT T
Loss before tax has been arrived at after BRAELATEE - LR
charging: T3 &8 -
Directors’ emoluments (Note 6) =W (M 5E6) 1,481 1,467
Other staff costs Hth 8 TR A 14,143 9,508
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RARAE T FT S 3K
(Note 31) (FiF5E31) 599 771
Total staff costs BIANERE 16,223 11,746
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - -BEREZHEZ
equipment e 992 868
Depreciation of right-of-use asset TRREEERE 334 111
Total depreciation MERE 1,326 979
Auditor’s remuneration ZEET B &
— Current year — KFE 1,400 2,156
— Over-provision in prior year — BEFEHRERE (181) —
Total auditor’s remuneration % ER A BN & 42 58 1,219 2,156
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - WELZE
plant and equipment Z 1B 96 1,575
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense, R AT 2 FEK
including: N BEE 1,676,192 3,137,195
— Write-down of inventories — FEMR 52,409 —
Impairment loss on property, plant and W WERBZEH
equipment BB EE 11,459 —
Impairment loss on exploration and evaluation &) # & 5T & 2= &l (&
assets &8 — 210,367
Expenses relating to short-term leases RHHEEERX 424 1,054
Net exchange losses & 5 B8 F 8 — 2,597
and after crediting: A REATA%IEE
Interest income from banks SRITH B WA (410) (881)
Net exchange gains P 5 I 55 0F B8 (290) —
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HEZ =T -—ZTHF+ _-_F -+ —BILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Hong Kong profits tax

On 21st March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the
“Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28th March, 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the qualifying group
entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT"”)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of a PRC subsidiary is 25%.

PRC withholding tax

The PRC withholding tax at a rate of 10% is levied on one of
the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong in respect of
dividend distributions arising from profits of a PRC associate.

10. R BiF X

EENEH
—E-NE=ZA=-+—B BB E
BB TQRMNTERE(EE])(ETR)
BHIERMER]D 3l A T REFEF
MMEGE - ZERRN T —NEFE=
B+t N\BEEXAEZEZ TREAR
EFRLEFIE -RBREMBFESHREE
HE AEREBBEENE AR
2,000,0007T F) JE 1% 1%8.25% # T & 4
i - 8 #2,000,0007T JA _E 89 FE 5
1216.5% M T BT - TRF&MAHF)
SHREHENEEEENFBEES
1#16.5% 8 5t — B L HH -

Ei @ERNAREBENEBANE
MEBEBEATERBF ENNH 8 EE
2,000,0007T 5t & A&8.25% 1 A8 1B 7B
#2,000,0007T &) 1t 51 & &% B K B B
16.5% °

;ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁm&
BEPBECEMSHE(REMSH
EDRCEMBREAEWIES B E
M B A a R B25% ©

P EEOB

PR BB E QR RENELENRED
o BARAEBTBEN —KFRAIK
10% MY B X Bl R B TR 7 -

2020 2019
i o3 3 —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT BT T
The charge (credit) comprises: MIEX L (E%) B :
Current tax — Hong Kong profits tax REAFIE — HANEH
Charge for the year FAZH — 808
Over provision in prior years BEFEBEREG (36) —
Current tax — PRC EIT REHIE — PEDLE
Fri8 %t
Charge for the year FAZH 587 1,085
Under provision in prior years BEFEREBETR 720 24
Withholding tax on dividend received from U BY — & B &
an associate S35 EUREE N 2,589 —
3,860 1,917
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 10.
The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the loss before

tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

PRk X
A4 R BT AR R A 2 R K
ftb 2 T M2 2 S0 T T S 4L

2020 2019
—E-FHE ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETR BT T
Loss before tax b Fi R E 1B (42,237) (217,4006)
Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable in & &R @B H R E
respective jurisdictions ZBIA (6,094) (35,422)
Tax effect of share of result of an associate JE{GHf & NAIEE 2
BrE 1,035 474
Tax effect of withholding tax on dividend —HBERAREIRRKRE
declared by an associate BB TR TR B B
2 2,589 —
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax HAERBWA 2 B
purpose g (4,507) (164)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 7~ a] 1% 52 2 7%
purpose & 10,348 38,304
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BAAIFERERTIE
previously not recognised BRZUBEE (10) (421)
Effect of tax concession granted BEEBMBEEZ
M w & (20) (713)
Under provision in prior year BAFEREBLR 684 24
Income tax at concessionary rate EEMEEH (165) (165)
Taxation for the year NEEHIA 3,860 1,917

At end of reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$47,762,000 (2019: HK$47,821,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised for the year due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams. The tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

éi&iﬁ}ﬁi REBBRGATIBEEE

47,762,000 (ZZF—NF : B
47,821,00075) AT SR OB T o B
RARRFERAO TR TERNE - REFEER
BREMELEMSHEE - BHIBEIEA
IR AL

=8
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 #HZ_= =

11. DIVIDENDS 1. BB
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the current ﬁﬁﬁKifE&L?Iifﬁ NEEEIKT - 5
and prior years. The directors have determined that no MBI E - EFERETERE
dividend will be paid in respect of the year ended 31st i—7—7£ﬁ+ A=+—BLt&E
December, 2020 (2019: Nil). ENBRB(ZE—NF: 8\)-

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BIRE1E

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

ZEF T+ _A=T—HLFE

ARRERBABEEREAEBRIR
BERNIBURRTE

2020 2019
i o3 3 —NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT BT T
Loss for the year attributable KRB AEIEFERN
to owners of the Company &5 18 (46,097) (219,323)
2020 2019
—B_%H —E-NEF
Shares Shares
% 3
Number of ordinary shares for the purposes s EFREEZ
of calculation of loss per share B E B 489,168,308 489,168,308
2020 2019
el o3 3 —NEF
HK cents HK cents
&AL il
Loss per share BREE (9.4) (44.8)
Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31st December, HE_Z_ETFR_FT-LF+_H
2020 and 2019 were the same as basic loss per share as there =t+—RALEE BAHEEFNERE
were no potential ordinary shares in issue during the EHMEETEBER SR EsHEHN
respective years. ERERNEEMER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

REMBREME @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

13. Y% - BER#RE

Plant and
machinery Furniture
Leasehold Mining and other and Motor
improvements structure  equipment fixtures vehicles Total
RERKE
HEYERE BRELHE DRAMZEE HERKE RE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETR BETT
osT s
At st January, 2019 RZE-N$-F—H 138 4,895 45,455 3217 1438 55,143
Exchange difference ERES — (24) (166) (14) (7) 1)
Additions NE - — 18 152 - 170
Disposals L& - (390) (10,759) (2,327) — (13,476)
At 315t December, 2019 R-ZT— ¥
+-R=1+-H 138 4,481 34,548 1,028 1,431 41,626
Exchange difference EREE — (90) (603) 123 (14) (584)
Additions "E — 109 87 84 — 280
Disposals HE — - (60) (91) (116) (267)
At 31st December, 2020 H-ZT-ZF
+-A=1+-H 138 4,500 33,972 1,144 1,301 41,055
DEPRECIATION AND HERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1st January, 2019 RZE-N§E—A—-H 106 1628 36,176 2,095 90 40,095
Exchange difference ERES - 8) (160) (6) — (174)
Depreciation for the year ~ FEHE kY] 51 620 138 27 868
Eliminated on disposal HERHH - (347) (9,898) (1,523) — (11,768)
At 31st December, 2019 RZZ—n5
+ZA=+-H 138 1,324 26,738 704 17 29,021
Exchange difference ERES — (29) (413) 52 (7) (397)
Depreciation for the year ~ EEHE — 74 702 181 35 992
Eliminated on disposal HERH # - — (60) (53) (58) (17)
Impairment wE — 3,131 7,005 109 1,214 11,459
At 31st December, 2020 RZZZTE
+-A=+-H 138 4,500 33,972 993 1,301 40,904
CARRYING AMOUNTS RHEE
At 31st December, 2020 H-ZT-ZF
+ZA=1-H - - - 151 - 151
At 31st December, 2019 R-ZT—F
+-A=1+-H — 3,157 7,810 324 1,314 12,605
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HEZ =T -—ZTHF+ _-_F -+ —BILFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13.

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment have
depreciated over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account their estimated residual value, on a straight-line basis
at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements  Over the term of the leases or 5
years, whichever is the shorter
Mining structure 20 to 40 years
Plant and machinery and 6%-20%
other equipment
Furniture and fixtures 18%-33%
Motor vehicles 18%—-25%

Impairment assessment

The management considered the unfavourable judgement of
the Lawsuit (Note 14) during the Year has significant effect on
the commencement and the future operation of the
exploration and selling mineral properties. They considered this
is an impairment indicator and conducted impairment
assessment on the related property, plant and equipment in
addition to the exploration and evaluation assets, with
reference to a valuation performed by Greater China Appraisal
Limited, an independent firm of professional qualified valuer.

The recoverable amount has been determined based on the
value in use calculation by a pre-tax discount rate of 21.89%.

The Group recognised an impairment loss of HK$11,459,000
on property, plant and equipment in Mongolia during the year
ended 31st December, 2020 (Year 2019: Nil).

V¥ -BERERHE»
riuE - -BEMKREER HIHEM

aF AT R H M R AT M AL AR A R RR (B
B AEHERATFRFETE

MEMFERE MEFHISHF

(ARG HERBE)
T @ 4 20405
TR 5 N # 2 6%-20%
LA Ko H A 58 4
FEMEEE 18%-33%
qE 18%-25%
B EF

EEERR  FAFRDBEOTNER (M
H14) BRERDRREEREEDERE
ARELZBEARFE -WERRUTS
MERS Y2EHBIEXEER
HEMEFMEEFERRARET
MG E - HHERRFEEEN LA
ME - BB LREETERERME -

AWEEEREGCHEBTE  F
FAFR AT B3R R21.89%E F °

REBREBEE-ZFT_FF+= A
ST BLEFERRZHME - KE

5 15 &R (B B 188 5 11,459,0007T
ZE-NF 8-
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REMBREME @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

14. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

14. IR RFHEE

ASSETS
HK$'000
T T
At 1st January, 2019 RZTE—NF—H—H 211,151
Exchange difference & (784)
Impairment loss B (210,367)
At 31st December, 2019 and 2020 n= FRZDFZFEHF
+ +—8 —

The Group’s exploration and evaluation assets were mainly
arising from the acquisition of Western Prospector Group Ltd.
during the year ended 31st December, 2009 (“Mongolian
Mining Project”).

On 15th August, 2009, the Mongolian’s Law on Nuclear
Energy and Mongolian’s Law on Implementing Procedures of
the Law on Nuclear Energy (collectively referred to as the
“New Law”) came into force. Under the New Laws, the
Mongolia Government has the right to take ownership without
payment of either not less than 51% of the equity interest in
the Group’s Mongolian subsidiaries if the Mongolia
Government’s funding was used to determine the resource
during exploration, or not less than 34% of the equity interest
in the Mongolian subsidiaries if the Mongolia Government’s
funding was not used to determine the resource during
exploration.

The directors of the Company commenced negotiating with
the relevant Mongolian authorities in respect of the
implementation of various provisions under the New Laws
during the year ended 31st December, 2010. Based on
management’s discussions with the relevant Mongolian
authorities and the advice from its Mongolian legal adviser, the
Group will have the right to apply for mining licenses to mine
or extract the resources identified in the relevant areas covered
by the exploration licenses.

AEBZHWRERRIGEEETZHRE
E_TTENFTA=T—HIEFE
I B Western Prospector Group Ltd.mn
EX(EHHREER] -

RZZZAFNATHER  KHB(Z
R REHEERGREEEZ)NEGE
PPz (R B £ - RIBEFE
fl REBRBERRBTNDRRAE
5 & B R B 251% (R B R
BETHAXERNTESREER) X
PORREE WM E R BB 234% (fid
RBFEETLEIARERFER
BWER) 2B MBEAMK-

HE-_Z—ZF+_A=+—8Lt#F
ERN ARREEWmEBEERSE R
BEHRFEP TZEEXRMAEE R
BERERBBASEHERZIMEE
IFEHEZRERZER  A5EHB
ERERFBHARTIE EUARARIE
AR ERAT A FERRE 2 A E R
Franl 2 BIR °
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14. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

AS S ETS (continued)

During the year ended 31st December, 2012, consensus has

been reached between the Company and the relevant
Mongolian authorities that a joint venture would be
established to hold the mining licenses, which are currently
under application. The Mongolia Government would hold 51%
of the equity interest in the joint venture. Upon the
establishment of the joint venture, the Group’s mining licenses
together with the carrying amount of the Group’s exploration
and evaluation assets will be transferred to the joint venture
by way of a shareholder loan. In addition, the Company has
drafted the shareholders’ agreement, joint venture agreement
and memorandum and association of the joint venture and has
commenced negotiation with the detailed terms of these
documents with the relevant Mongolian authorities and a pre-
mining cooperation agreement was signed on 26th June,

2012 to kick off the pre-mining activities.

A notice was previously received in January 2014 from the
relevant Mongolian authorities which mentioned that the joint
in 2014.
However, the establishment and the grant of mining licenses

venture would be expected to be established

had been postponed due to changes in government officials of
relevant Mongolian authorities in 2014, October 2017, and
June 2019. Further negotiations on the terms of the draft joint
venture agreement have been carried out with the new
government officials of relevant Mongolian authorities. In
2018, the Group received assistance from the Embassy of the
People’s Republic of China in Mongolia, to speed up the
application progress. Several communications were made
between the Embassy and the Mongolian government officials
regarding the application of the mining licence. In December
2019,

Mongolian authority, which suggested the Group to apply for

the Group received a notice from the relevant
a court order in relation to the matters relating to resumption
of the application for the mining licenses for the reason that

the relevant exploration licenses have expired.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 #HE=E=-—T-—ZTHF+_-_F -+ —BILFE

14.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 # & —

14. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

AS S ETS (continued)

Based on the advice from the Group’s Mongolian legal
advisers, on 9th January, 2020, Emeelt Mines LLC, an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which is the holder
of the exploration licenses (as the applicant) has filed in the
Capital City Administrative Court of First-Instance of Mongolia
(the

the Mineral Resources and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (as

“Court”) an administrative lawsuit (the “Lawsuit”) with
the respondent) claiming, among other things, to confirm the
non-performance of the respondent in relation to the granting
of the mining licenses in accordance with the Mongolian laws
and reinstate the validity of the exploration licenses. As
mentioned in the announcements dated 5th June and 6th
July, 2020, the Company has received the written judgment of
the Appellate Court regarding the hearing on 4th June, 2020
(the "Written
Mongolian legal adviser, the Appellate Court did not consider

Judgment”). According to the Group’s
the new evidence as it was not previously presented to Capital
City Administrative Court of First-Instance of Mongolia (the
“Court”). The Written Judgment concluded the decision of the
Court was right. In light of the new evidence, the Appellate
Court stated that the Group had the rights to make the
application with the new evidence to the Court again. After
receiving further advice of the Group’s Mongolian legal
adviser, the Group had made the application to the Court
again on 26th August, 2020.

On 29th October, 2020, a working committee (“Committee”)

includes, amongst others, representatives from the Mineral
Resources and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (“MRPAM”,
the respondent of the Lawsuit) was set up with a view to help
resolve the disputes regarding the expiry of the exploration
licenses of the Company. The management believes it is a
positive sign of the MRPAM's intention towards resolving the
disputes, though at this stage, there is no guarantee that the

matter shall be resolved in favour of the Company.

Up to the date of this report, there is no further progress.

14.

REMBREME @

ZETZH=+_BLFEE

MR RFEEEE

BEASERTEZEERNES B
ZEZEE-ANR AR ANEE
2 & F /A A)Emeelt Mines LLC * BV¥EFF
AZENFBEAUERBREAN)  HES
BEZEIRNABEE BMineral
Resources and Petroleum Authority of
Mongolia) {ERZE R A) » MR & & &
— % 11 B % Br(Capital City
Administrative Court of First-Instance
of Mongolia)([V£Fr]) B 3517 B EF 72
([FRD  FREREFARESR
EDIRE R B REFAIZNTERTT
B I Wk 18 8) PR 5T AT A8 B9 A A - S an
REBHRAE-_ZZ_FARABAKLA
NAMRAERM - AREE WEIER
FZZT_TFAMB LFHFERME
EAR(TEBHAR]D BREBERAERR

HERERER  LHERRZEER
MEE AR EBURE *ﬁk/““

HEHRH -FTBRER(DER]) - &

FIORBE &R 525%%?)%59&%1!553@
e BERIEE  LFEREHAS
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THABRRE RZZZFTFNA
T ARBAREEHRAEREL R °

RZE_TF+A-_+ILB 58
EEARMOGBEER(F & EE ]

Mineral and Petroleum

* T A B B
PRSI T —ETE
PAR Bh AR OR A B
M FEE B
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Authority of Mongolia
AR B H At B AL
zee((z88l)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved

REMBERRMEE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 & &

—ECTFEF+_AZ=Zt+—ALEE

14. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 14.

15.

AS S ETS (continued)

At 31st December, 2019, the directors performed an
impairment assessment and re-assessed the recoverable
amount of assets based on fair value less costs of disposal,
which is derived by using the market approach. The Group has
engaged GCA Professional Services Group, an independent
qualified professional valuer, to perform the valuation for
assessment.

In determining the fair value, the valuer adopted the
comparable transaction method to calculate the value of the
assets. There was no change to the valuation technique during
the 2019. The fair value of the asset is a level 3 fair value
measurement. One of the key inputs to the method is the
measured resources from the uranium mines as market
observable transactions related to the acquisition of companies
which held mining project at preliminary stage, adjusted by the
measured and indicated price multiple, which is determined as
the market comparable projects. The valuer has also applied an
adjusting factor with reference to the market price of natural
uranium. In addition to the valuation assessment, the directors
also applied another adjustment factor (adjustment factor for
the status of Lawsuit), taken into consideration the notice from
the relevant Mongolian authority, the uncertain outcome of
the Lawsuit, regulatory requirements in Mongolia and the
arrangement procedures for the Group’s mining licenses. The
directors are of the view that possibly unfavourable outcome
of the Lawsuit causes the recoverable amount of assets is
lower than the carrying value of the assets and full
impairment loss on the exploration and evaluation assets
amounting to HK$210,367,000 was recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31st December, 2019.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

MR RFEEEE

RZE—NF+-_A=+—H E=
HEELTIEHEEEET T REFRG
M EEFHEEET KBS EER
BREAFEBREEXRA  FEHRAT
BHEAFG AEBCREABYEE
EMEEE RS EEETTG -

T AFER  FHAMRAITER
SENEEENEBE FEAHEEZ
E-NFRARBERE - EENAFE
EE—RAVFEFE - ZAENEE
WA —SHBENTIER 1EAHE
WEREBREEENAREENAH
RIWMIBER S WEREASH R
ETrANERGEET THAE  THET
BETSILAEREE - FT(HEE
SETRABOMISERRA T AR
A F e ﬁﬁﬁ%'§$ﬁ%FT%$
EHEERMNBN FANTEE
R SONEEERNMTHRRF %
ATES—EAREF (FaREnHAE
ETF) EEZRAEZETHAFAL
FeBYEE T RESERRNEE
ZEmE MBEATIHEECESE
VB E5 18 A8 210,367,000 B FER
fHE-_ZT—NWF+ZA=+—H1
FENGGEZIREMEEKERA -

15. R B AT ZH#ER

2020 2019

i e 33 —NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

EETR BT T

Cost of unlisted investments ELETRE Z KA 919,456 894,457
Share of post-acquisition losses and FEAE U B B B R H A

other comprehensive income LR N (469,901) (465,761)

Dividend payment i% B X (25,889) —

Exchange difference PE X =58 9,728 (6,627)

Interests in associates REERF 2R 433,394 422,069
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 # &=

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of the Group's associates at 31st December, 2020

and 2

019 are set out below:

15.

REMBREME @

= s e e B = SN

REBEAT 2#EE

RZE_ZEFR_F—NF+=A

—

=t—B - AEEZBERTFBEN

Attributable equity
interest held by the Group

Attributable voting rights in
the board of directors
held by the Group

Country of .
incorporation EMBENBERE  EERTNESRRBERRL
Name of associate and operation 2020 2019 2020 2019  Principal activity
AT FEMA IR
BEATEHE BEEREBRR —R-FE —ETNEF CZFZEFE —T-NF IEEHB
% % % %
Somina Republic of Niger 37.20 37.20 44.44 44.44  Mining
Somina @] =] BRRFAK
CNNC Leasing The PRC 11.36 18.45 14.29 18.18  Provision of financial
leasing services
TREE B REREEERS

37.2% equity interest in Société des Mines d’Azelik
S.A. ("Somina”)

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group
acquired 37.2% equity interest in Société des Mines
d'Azelik S.A. (“Somina”) through the acquisition of a
subsidiary known as Ideal Mining Limited (”ldeal
Mining”). Somina is accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements. At
31st December, 2020 and 2019, the Group’s equity
interest in Somina is pledged to a bank for certain
banking facilities granted to Somina.

Due to the continued operating losses suffered over the
years, unfavourable market conditions for the sale of
uranium and insufficient cash flows for repayment of
outstanding bank borrowings, Somina has into
serious going concern problems. The production of
Somina has been suspended since the first half of 2015
and it is highly uncertain whether Somina will resume
operation in the foreseeable future.

run

The directors of the Company considered Somina has no
material improvement noted during the year that can
support the reversal of the impairment loss made in
previous years.

Société des Mines d'Azelik
S.A.([ SominaZA §1)37.2% 1
B% #E

REBRBE-ZT—ZTF+=A
E'f’*Eﬂ:ﬂEELE%ZEE*FEﬁ%
RERBEEFAERAA(TERLRE
¥z W B A A - I EESociéte
des Mines d’'Azelik S.A. ([ Somina
2 A) Z372%/% A

/\o

SominaA AR &R A BT 15 R R R B
BEFEAR R_E_FBFK_

E-NF+ZA=+—H0 %&
B Somina R E) Z IR AN = B K
T R1T ARSI T Somina A &
ZRTEE-

HREZFRIFELLEEIE - hiF
ENMRABETERRERTE
LAEERIBIRTTE X * SominaX
TEIEEFZ“%&%FEJ%°Somina

ARR=T—RE FREEILE
B RTRERBRIERER

EeENEFEMG -

KRB EZRAFANSominaA A
B S AR08 B B AR E DA A] A
THE BB FE 2 REEIE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 & &

15.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

11.36% (2019: 18.45%) equity interest in CNNC
Financial Leasing Company Limited (“CNNC
Leasing”)

CNNC Leasing is a limited liability company incorporated
in Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zone, PRC and principally
engaged in the provision of finance to its customers
under finance lease arrangements and factoring as

approved by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC.

In December 2020, the board of CNNC Leasing had
approved to enter into an absorption and merger
agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with China
Nuclear E&C Financial Leasing Co., Ltd (F%EGEHE
AR A7) ("CNECFL") and the shareholders of CNECFL
(“CNECFL Shareholders”) in relation to the merger (the
“Merger”) of CNNC Leasing with CNECFL. Pursuant to
the Merger: (i) CNNC Leasing absorbed and merged with
CNECFL,
employees, contracts and all other rights and obligations
of CNECFL were succeeded and undertaken by CNNC
Leasing; and (i) CNNC Leasing allotted and
RMB1,247,526,100 new registered shares (the “New
Equity to the CNECFL Shareholders,
representing approximately 38.41% of the registered
capital of RMB3,247,536,100 of CNNC Leasing (as
enlarged by the New Equity Interest).

and the assets, liabilities, businesses,

issued

Interest”)

The Merger
provided an enlarged capital base for CNNC Leasing to
expand its business. With the public utilities projects of
CNECFL succeeded by CNNC Leasing, CNNC Leasing is
expected to be able to diversify its business. The Group'’s
reduced from
approximately 11.36% (as
enlarged by the New Equity Interest). After the Merger,

interests in CNNC Leasing was

18.45% to approximately

CNNC Leasing has 7 directors in total, of which one of
the directors was nominated by the Group. CNNC
Leasing remains to be recognised as an associate of the
Group, and hence, according to the accounting policy of
the Group, the Group will continue to share the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of CNNC Leasing.

—ECTFEF+_AZ=Zt+—ALEE

15. ﬁ*ﬂéﬁ

i NBIZHER
PREMEHEERAT (M
BEND1136% (= F — 1L §F:
18.45% ) BY B HE
FZEER—XRELBERES
HAEERAMRYINERETA
A EEREREBEPEAH I
HEHBMEARERHEMRIZER R
HEFRHME -

RZEBEZZF+-A H%HE
ZEZERAEEPZEREEE
BRAR([HRZEEE]) NPz
EHERR(PZEBRER
R HEBAPZEEREFPZE
HEMEM(E0H]) - 5Tl
aftmE (& 0tiHzEl - BRES
B (VP E B R UL A%
BEHEeM TREHEENEA
E -BE X% EE-S5RAM
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RE]D R ZEETMERA
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15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

11.36% (2019: 18.45%) equity interest in CNNC
Financial Leasing Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”)
(continued)

The financial information of CNNC Leasing based on

15. B’*Hﬁﬁ

REMBREME @

= s e e B = SN

i NBIZHER
FRMEREFARAS ([hHE
BEND1136% (= F — 1L §F:
18.45% ) By B HE (&)

BE_Z_ZTFR-_FT—NF

financial information prepared by management in +ZA=+—HIEFE LHE
accordance with accounting policies of the Group for the BEVERBERNEENGTBER
years ended 31st December, 2020 and 2019 is set out R ZEENMBEENAT
below:
2020 2019
—E-EHE —nF
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT 7T T
Financial position: BT AR, -
Non-current assets IEREEE 19,384,708 9,096,374
Current assets mMENVEE 8,265,008 2,394,362
Current liabilities mENEE (6,328,561) (5,657,866)
Non-current liabilities EmEaE (17,609,967) (3,649,135)
Net assets attributable to the owners of 4 N TIHEHB AFE(Y
the associate BEEFE 3,711,188 2,183,735
Reconciliation of its net assets to the tE AR MR REE
carrying amount of the interest in Eﬁi,\@éﬁﬂ’\]%ﬁﬁﬁ :
associate:
Net assets attributable to the owners of & N AIHEA AFE(L
the associate BEEFE 3,711,188 2,183,735
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ~ RNEBEBE QA FIHES
interest in associate TERE 2 MY LE 1B 11.36% 18.45%
Goodwill EES 11,803 19,170
Carrying amount of the Group's interest 7N 5 @ A B & AN Al 25
in associate ) AR E (B 433,394 422,069
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved

REMBREME @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 #HZ_= =

15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

ZEF T+ _A=T—HLFE

15. W B

BATIZHELR @

ii. 11.36% (2019: 18.45%) equity interest in CNNC i. PEMEEESFERAE(PEZHA
Financial Leasing Company Limited (“CNNC Leasing”) BEND1136% (= F — 1L §F:
(continued) 18.45% ) B BR #E (48)

2020 2019
i e 33 —hE
HK$'000 HK$ 000
EETR BT T
Revenue for the year/period FEHERKRA 788,640 183,866
Loss and total comprehensive expense — ZAN4E & B S &5 18 2
for the year/period >HEMAXERE (22,438) (10,278)
Dividend received during the year/period 74 & /HAR & W B &9
DHL 25,889 —
There are no significant restrictions on the ability of B ARl iZEEENAREER
associates to transfer funds to the Group in the form of MAEBESAMENLEEXIE
cash dividends. KK PR &
16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET 16. EREEE
Office
WAE
HK$'000
BT T

At 1st January, 2019 Z2—NF—H—H —

Addition NE 667

Depreciation e (1

At 31st December, 2019 and RZZE-AE+T-_A=+—H8K

1st January, 2020 —ETF—-H—H 556
Depreciation mE (334)
At 31st December, 2020 R-ZZT-_ZTHF+_FA=+—H 222

HK$'000
BT T

Expenses relating to short-term leases EHRMEE 2R 424

Total cash outflow for leases HERS ML BE 771

For both years, the Group leases an office in Hong Kong for MEFEAN AEBRELHE —MH

its operation. Lease contract is entered into for fixed term of 2 PRANEETEH HEGNEREESF

years. The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

HRFRIY - EMEEENHESNANE
BERORFE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

REMBREME @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

INTEREST IN A JOINT OPERATION

XXEM LLC ("XXEM") is a joint operation in which the Group
has joint control and 50% ownership interest. It principally
engaged in the provision of electricity transmission services in
Mongolia.

The Group is entitled to 50% share of the revenue earned and
bears 50% share of the joint operation’s expenses.

17. REEEBZER

XXEM LLC ([ XXEM |) A&7 &= @ i A
EIEH RS0% BN G EER - Z
NAITERERSHREEHEEHR
ﬁ%o

AEBHRIEAE L EEHTRIUULA
Z50% M FES & E 250% T o

INVENTORIES 18. #&
2020 2019
i e 33 —E-NEF
HK$000 HK$ 000
EETR BT T
Uranium concentrates = 48 o 3,417 213,449
Electronic and other products BFRHEMEM® 52,409 127,409
Consumable goods AlE R o 386 —
56,212 340,858
Less: Provision for write-down R OB (52,409) —
3,803 340,858

The Group wrote-down its inventory of HK$52,409,000 for the
year ended 31st December, 2020 (2019: HK$Nil). The write-
down is due to certain electronics components inventory in the
supply chain business were found to include a mix of
substandard, refurbished or counterfeit goods. The
management estimates the net realisable amount of the
inventory by management estimation with reference to the

information in similar industry and management’s experience.

HE_Z-_ZTF+_HAH=+—HL*F
B AEEMORE T E B %52,409,000
T(ZE—AF BEZT) - 5EEM
WO EEERERNE TEFIH
HEEGTERRETEIRE  THEEE
LEBREER EREEB2EHMUTE
MEMLEEENKLR SREEE
e REEFEH A FIRFE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved

REMBERRMEE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 & &

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

—ECTFEF+_AZ=Zt+—ALEE

19. BEW B 5 Bk
A B

B H fth FE U
M IH

=F 3

PREPAYMENTS RIE LR T8

2020 2019
i oy 33 —T-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
BETR BT T

Trade receivables — aged 0 to 30 days FEW B 5 R
— OH =30H 29,305 231,322

Trade receivables — aged 31 to 60 days FE U E 5 BR 3K
— 31H £60H — 16,521
29,305 247,843
Other receivables H b B U 3k 18 91 3,377
Deposits paid =ENEER 34 89
Prepayments TEAT RIE 916 200
30,346 251,509

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will
understand the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
its credit limits. Credit sales are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. Credit limits attributed to customers
are reviewed regularly.

The Group allows a credit period of 0 to 60 days to its trade
customers and presented the aged analysis of trade receivables
based on the invoice date.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables and deposits paid for the year ended 31st
December, 2020 and 2019 are set out in Note 30(b). There is
no loss allowance made during both years as the directors
determined the amount is insignificant.

BEMHFEFP A AKEKT BB
BEFPZEEEBXRIHBEEEARE -
AEERABRFERACENETEFE
HERHEE - XTEFPNERREE
HEZ-

AEEGETHESEFPIZE0EMEE
H ReEHEREBEXZANA/ESE
2HERKE 5 RFIRE

BE_ZT_ZFR_FT-AF+-A
=t— EIM:@?EI’J?H&T%EE S
M HIB R 2T 2 REFGFE
&M EE30(b )°‘ﬁﬁﬁ¢ﬁﬂfﬁi’ﬂiﬁﬁ§+
REFEGRHNEZTRAZTEM
T eE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

CASH

Restricted cash

Restricted cash represents deposits pledged to banks to secure
bank borrowings and bills payables of the Group. Deposits
amounting to approximately HK$5,433,000 (2019:
HK$19,004,000) have been pledged to secure a bank
borrowing of approximately HK$282,125,000 (net of loan
front-end fee) (2019: a bank borrowing of approximately
HK$285,013,000 and bill payable of RMB45,000,000) in the
PRC.

Bank balances and cash
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rate based on daily
bank deposit rate.

As at 31st December, 2020, the Group has cash and cash
equivalents denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB31,143,000 (2019: RMB42,736,000), which are deposited
with banks in PRC.

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. Under the
PRC Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
foreign currencies through banks in the PRC that are
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

During the year, the Group performed impairment assessment
on bank balances and concluded that the probability of
defaults of the counterparty banks are unlikely and
accordingly, no loss allowance is provided.

Details of impairment assessment of restricted cash and bank
balances and cash are set out in Note 30(b).

REMBREME @

das = = b 5 = Nl eEEE

20. RESTRICTED CASH/BANK BALANCES AND 20. ZfR#IIRE RITHEBE R

e

ZREIRE
ZRHESEABERAEEBRITHER
MENEEMERGRITIOGER 7
SRH) 5,433,000 (ZE—NF 8
#19,004,0000T) B E B & & ¥
282,125,0007C (1 Bx & BT i & )
ZE-NF-ROTBERL B
285,013,000t X E RN EH AR
45,000,0007T) &9 3R 17 18 ZR A9 HLFF ©

IMITHBRIRE
BB ENEERTERERTH
5 B 8. -

RZTEZEFF+A=+—H K&
BEEAARBHENEZERREEE
Y #9 A R #31,143,000L (=& — A
£ AR ¥42,736,0000T) FEE P
BIZE A RTT o

ARBARAEHERDBINE - RIEF
B SN E B IR R O M A BE - I M AT IE
EERTE AEEEEEBREET
SMNEXBHHRBERARTHEARER
BEINEE o

EAFER  AEBEHRTESHET
HMEEEEREE TRITEQNT
REMEAK - E R HE R R ER

BARRITEBRRASRERGIESH
BB FF fih 7 15 B M SE30(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMHRRMTE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HZE=—=—T =

21. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

22.

AND ACCRUALS

ZEFET_A=T—-BILFE

2020 2019
—E-FHE —
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT BT
Trade payables — aged 0 to 30 days [ERE 5 BR
— OH £30H — 153,398
Bills payables B E & — 65,944
Interests payables JE 2 63 164
Other payables H b fE 1 5IE 985 3,015
Other payable to the joint operator of HEfE 4G “%fn
the joint operation (Note) &% A M) 16,960 14,703
Accruals FE T R 3R 3,584 4,398
21,592 241,622
Note:  The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed term of repayment. Micr: FHEREEF 2SREBRTENE-
The average credit period on purchase of goods was 30 days. BEEmz THEEHR30E - K&

The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
payables are settled within the credit

ensure that all

= 2 AT 37 B 7% R B B PR BOR
FMERNESRFONERERAE

C A RE IR

timeframe. B e
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. BB 1A
2020 2019
—E-EHE —NnF
HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT T T
At 1st January mn—H—H 25,617 15,520
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of B REIIAE L
recognising income during the year that BENFAREEH
was including in the contract liabilities at aHaERd
beginning of year (25,617) (15,520)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of HEIRFIAZEERE L
billing in advance BE®EM — 25,617
At 31st December Rt+—-_A=+—8H — 25,617

The Group receives the prepayments from wholesale customers
from supply chain segment when they sign the sale and
purchase agreements. This will give rise to contract liabilities at
the execution of a contract, until the revenue was recognised

on relevant contracts.

&4 2 HT

AEFerHEEIARTFEEES
R WIREPHTEMNRIE &8
THRELEARAERE
HEERERABRABL -

i

" HE



23. BANK BORROWINGS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq
REMHRRMTE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

23. IRITIER

2020 2019
—E-FE —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
EETRT BT T
The bank borrowings comprise: RITEREIE
HK$ bank borrowing — secured LA B ET B RITIE K
— B2 285,497 291,324
Loan front-end fee EXRpHEA (3,372) 6,311)
282,125 285,013
US$ bank borrowings — unsecured LAZE TTET Y ERAT 8 3K
— RAHEM — 180,071
RMB bank borrowings — unsecured AANREETRIRT
fam — R A HEM — 73,690
Bank borrowings due within one year and —FRNE B RIZEK
repayable on demand EEMRITER 282,125 538,774

The Group’s bank borrowings are variable-rate borrowings,
carry interest at a premium over Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR") or London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") or
Loan Prime Rate (“LPR"), prevailing lending rate quoted by the
People’s Bank of China (“PBOC Leading Rate”), as
appropriate. The effective interest rates of the borrowings
during the year ranged from 1.69% to 5.14% (2019: 2.55%
to 5.01%).

The Group’s borrowing of HK$285,497,000 (2019:
291,324,000) are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entity. The
borrowing is secured by the 11.36% (2019: 18.45%) equity
investment in CNNC Leasing with carrying value of
HK$433,394,000 (2019: HK$422,069,000), entire share capital
of CNNC International (HK) Limited (“CNNC (HK)"), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, restricted cash of
HK$5,433,000 (2019: HK$2,234,000) and all monies,
dividends and interest receivable in respect of CNNC Leasing,
if any.

AREBMRITERBEZSHEE K
HFNESREBRITRERMA R
([ HIBOR 1) 8k @ SR 17 [ 2 47 R I R
([LIBOR ) sk B ARBITREMN TR
BEREFRITHE(LPR]) - REEA
ETNEBRFEN T1.69%E5.14%
(ZE—NE:255%%5.01%) °

N £ B A #285,497,000L (= F
— L5 ##291,324,0007T) £ E 2 LA
REBRNEEEAIINZ EEEHE -
WEFAPZBAEETENBE
433,394,000c( = & — L F: B &
422,069,0007T) F111.36% (= & — AL
F:18.45% )R ERE - R AR A
2EMBFRARFTZBEBR(EE AR
ANA(EBIP%EB DN IRE
N HE5,433,000T (Z 2 — L4 - B
2234000 MEZBRHRE  2HE
B RPZEENRE S RER
FEZEENFIEEAEKR  WE -
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23. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

A bank borrowing of the Group is subject to covenant clauses,
whereby the Company is required to meet certain stipulated
consolidated tangible net worth. Additionally, it is an event of
default if the Group’s shares are suspended for trading on the
Stock Exchange over 21 or more consecutive trading days. On
or after the occurrence of an event of default, the lender may,
amongst other things, declare that the loan, together with
accrued interest, be immediately due and payable, and enforce
the security in respect of the loan.

As at 31st December, 2020, the Group had not complied with
certain covenant clauses as stipulated in the bank loan
agreement of the Group’s bank borrowing of HK$282,125,000
(net with loan front-end fee of HK$3,372,000).

As such, an aggregate amount of HK$250,097,000 (net with
loan front-end fee of HK$442,000), which had original
contractual repayment dates beyond 31st December, 2021, is
reclassified as a current liability as at the end of the reporting
period.

On 30th September, 2021, the Group entered into a 3-year
loan agreement with its immediate holding company
amounting to HK$230,000,000 to settle outstanding balances
of the above bank borrowing on 27th October, 2021.

The Group will closely monitor its financial position to ensure
the compliance with the relevant financial covenants and
undertaking requirements at all times.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 #HE=E=-—T-—ZTHF+_-_F -+ —BILFE

23.

RITHER =)
AEBMRITERIZHIETNY
ROBEBEZER KA MNAEARER
LR TSR EBEEFE: I
MAEERORBEIMEEESE BB
EEVRAXZAFU L AENS
HoRBEEENETHRIUE  EFK
g(HPBE)EMEREREFE
CHNINBESIN YSeTFEEHRE
MR o

R-ZEBE-_ETF+-_A=+—0 K&
B EETASERITERAEBE
282,125,0007C (#0 Br B X B B & %
3,372,0007T J% #8) &9 SR 17 & X 1 3%
MEME TROMBK -

it - 4858 A&7 #250,097,0007T (211
B B 3 AT um & A B #442,00070) &9 IR
TAMERBSHE-_T-_—F+_-A
=T —HZE RBREEREFHHE
BRBAEE-

RZE-_—FNAA=+H A&EEHHA
BEERARZEIN AR =FHNERW
&% & %8 B8 ¥230,000,0000T ¢ AR
—E-—F+A-F+tBH&ENMN LR
ITERERERTE -

REEKE )R AR BN - DARE
REBTERYHRERAFEENR -



24. LEASE LIABILITY

Movement of the Group’s lease liability is analysed as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq
REMHRRMTE @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

24, HE&AE
AEBHEABENEHHOMWT

2020 2019

i el 33 —E-NEF

HK$000 HK$'000

BETR BT T

Balance as at 1st January R—RA—B®&Ee 559 —

New lease MEIMEE — 667

Interest expenses recognised during the year FRE RN F B M= 16 8

Payments 3% (347) (116)
W+ZA=+—HAHK

Balance as at 31st December AR 228 559

The present value of future lease payments of the Group's

AEBHENRRBEENKBEES I

lease are analysed as: N
2020 2019
—B-®F T A%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Current mEh 228 331
Non-current FERH - 228
Total 3 228 559
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved

REMBREME @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HE=ZT =T F+ A=+ —BLFE

25. AMOUNTS DUE TO AN INTERMEDIATE 25.
HOLDING COMPANY/ULTIMATE
HOLDING COMPANY/FELLOW

SUBSIDIARIES

The amount due to an intermediate holding company is
denominated in USD. The amounts due to ultimate holding

FEf—RBPHiERAS
RAERAT BB RM
BaATME

R —REP R KIAAZE LY

TE Fﬁgiéqﬁﬁﬂﬂj)zzﬂtgﬁﬁg

company and fellow subsidiaries are denominated in HK$. All NAERIEABETE - B &%FRIE
these balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on HEEER 2B RIEERKER-
demand.
26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. I
Number of ordinary shares Amount
TEREE &8
2020 2019 2020 2019
—B-%H —E-hF ZEZEE —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT
Ordinary shares of FREES%001TZ
HK$0.01 each EEREL
Authorised: ETE
At 1st January and R—HAH—BAkK
31st December +=-A=+—8© 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAR
At 1st January and R—A—BARK
31st December +=-A=+—8H 489,168,308 489,168,308 4,892 4,892




27. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Share premium
The share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.

Capital reserve
The capital reserve mainly represents the deemed capital
contribution.

Non-distributable reserve

The non-distributable reserve represents the aggregate amount
of the share premium of the subsidiaries as at the time of a
group reorganisation effected on 13th December, 2002 (the
“Group Reorganisation”).

FVTOCI reserve

The FVTOCI reserve represents the cumulative net change in
the fair value of equity investment designated at FVTOCI under
HKFRS 9 that are held at end of reporting period.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference between the
aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the
subsidiaries and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange thereof pursuant to the Group

Reorganisation.

Statutory reserve
The statutory reserve is a reserve required by the relevant laws
in the PRC applicable to a subsidiary in the PRC for enterprise
development purpose.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations which are dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies as set out in Note 3 to the

consolidated financial statements.

" For the year ended 31st December, 20

27.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 28. BB IR #EsT &l
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The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to a
resolution passed on 371st May, 2013 (“2013 Share Option
Scheme”). Under the 2013 Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options to eligible employees and
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
shares in the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from
time to time, grant share options to outside eligible advisors
and consultants to the Company and its subsidiaries at the
discretion of its board of directors. The purpose of the 2013
Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees,
directors, consultants, advisers and shareholders of the Group
and to promote the success of the business of the Group.

The number of shares which may be issued under the schemes
are subject to the following limits:

(i) the maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the share option scheme
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the total number of issued shares of the Company from
time to time;

(i) without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders,
the total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the share option scheme of the
Company is not permitted to exceed 48,916,830 shares,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company at the date approving the 2013 Share Option
Scheme; and

(iii)  the number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of such grant.

ARBEHRMA—EARBR _-_ZT—=%
FA=Z=+t—HBBBEZRBRZERE
AT -—=FBEREFE]) R
BT -=FEEREFE AQRA
RHBRETARRAMEMBEARZ
BEBEERES URBARXRMK
etih MARREER ZBIBFR
AR ROBRETAQR RE
MEARZIAEERBER R EAE
Bl —T-—=FBRETINENI
Bl R RBREATRALAEEE
T EF ERMKRRREH/RBEINIZB
feim e R R BT -

REZFAEATETZIENHEER
THRR

(i) REZFFAERARFEMEM
B IR M T B R RE R BE AR AR P
REMEE LR AR BB
RRARAKEHETRODBEZ
30%

(i) TERESARABRESLHE
AT ARIBRERESTEI T RE R LR
BRI R 2BRMEE  ~E5HA
48,916,830/ - H & KN £ = &
—=FERETEEBBRAR
AEBITRAZI0% : &
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28.

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance
of the grant of the option. The exercise price is determined by
the directors of the Company and will be at least the higher
of (i) the average of the closing prices of the ordinary shares
of the Company for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the grant; (ii) the closing price of the
ordinary shares of the Company on the date of the grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the ordinary shares of the Company.

Any options granted under the scheme must be exercised
during such option period as may be determined and notified
by the directors of the Company, which shall not exceed 10
years from the date of acceptance of the option.

No options have been granted under the 2013 Share Option
Scheme since their adoption.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s

maximising the return to shareholders

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share

capital and reserves as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
annually. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
assess the annual budget prepared by management of the
Company. Based on the proposed annual budget, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with capital. The directors of the Company also
balance its overall capital structure through new share issues,
dividend distribution as well as the issue of new debts.

28.

29.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HE=ZT =T F+ A=+ —BLFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. & TH

154

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables and deposits paid, restricted cash,
bank balances and cash, trade, bills and other payables
and accruals, bank borrowings, lease liability, amounts

due to an intermediate holding company, ultimate

holding company and fellow subsidiaries. The risks

associated with these financial instruments and the

% (a) Categories of financial instruments (a) £ THRZER

&

720 2020 2019

= —g-%s —hE

& HK$'000 HK$'000

E BETFT BT T

E Financial assets ERIEE

g Amortised cost 55 R 179,196 370,856

g Financial liabilities SREE

€ Amortised cost 5 P AN 307,726 784,414

% Lease liability HEAaHE 228 559
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) 2RtEMGEEEHERBK

$E@21§%@Iﬂ U

HEBEAREMEWRRIBERE
aTi‘xﬁE%Uﬁi‘ﬁEﬁmuﬁ%&
Re ERNESER EBERH
fth & < SR I8 & JERTRRIE - SR1TIE
FoHEBGEUREN—BEFRN
ZER AR EZH & 2 7 K 7 &

policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out MY E A RIRIE o TXH L E

below. iﬁaﬂlﬂﬁ?‘ﬁzﬂ 2 RET RIS
[2 b 2 B

Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & 2 [ 70 % (B 7F 1

As at 31st December, 2020 and 2019, carrying amounts
of financial assets represent the maximum exposure to
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, except that the credit
risks associated with a trade debtor is mitigated because
the amount is secured by customers’ inventories as

collateral.

BE_ZT_TFR_ZF-NF
TZA=+—HB 2REENK
& B E AR RN &R KR
g o AR B\ A TR
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 # & —

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

pOliCiES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are
in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables balances individually by reference to
repayment histories and current past due exposure for
customers taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue cost or effort.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 100%
(31st December, 2019: 100%) of the total trade
receivables was due from a PRC customer engaged in
supply chain business (2019: 3 customers engaged in
supply chain and uranium trading industry). The balance
had not past due.

The customer is in good settlement records and
reputation. The management believes that the credit risk
on the amount due is minimal. The amount has been
fully settled subsequent to the end of reporting period.
Based on the assessment by management, the loss given
default is low in view of the estimated realised amount
on ultimate disposal of the collateral and directors
considers the ECL is insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

REMBREME @

ZETZH=+_BLFEE

30 &Rt TR
(b) 2RtEMEEEERBE

(1)

fEVMﬁﬂﬁ%i#ﬂ@)

B P ET 7 & K E R FE
W & 28R
REEREEERR  AEEE
RBAFEETD ?ﬁ%ﬁ rE
PHEEER UREPATERE
ERE - BTMATERFERE
FHRIRBRHMFTD B RIEHME
BEF  ABERERIEBETEW
Bl B E R o boh - REERE
EHEEBEBEAHEWE K
%ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁm*ﬂ%Tzﬁm
BRUE L AE BT B H R B
%ETéﬁﬂﬁihmmﬁ&ﬁ
B MEFHEERZKALE
jj °

AEBMEERBRERARERE
%%g%@mmme:%—ni
+=—A=+—H:100%)EKER
NEHEREREBEN —EZP (=
E-NF:RERKSHEFER
HESEBHN=-EARTF) &8
BRI

EFMENTEMEERK &
EERRERSENEERRMK
TR -EHRSBORNREHR
BREEEN ERNEEEFMG
ZREREEEEM Mo
Ref BEOBERXBE EF
RAREHREEBFEBRTEN At
IWEFERE R -

155

(87 & B 5 ke 2 oh

T



CNNC International Limited 2020 Annual Report

156

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

pOliCiES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables and deposits paid

The credit risks on other receivables and deposits paid
are limited because the counterparties have no historical
default record and the directors expect that the general
economic conditions will not significantly change for the
12 months after the reporting date. Therefore, the credit
rating is considered to be low credit risk and the loss
allowance is measured on 12m ECL basis. For the year
ended 31st December, 2020 and 2019, the Group
assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits are
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
regarding other receivables and deposits paid with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties.

Restricted cash and bank balances and cash

The credit risks on restricted cash and bank balances and
cash are limited because the counterparties are banks
with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies. Therefore, the credit rating is considered
to be low credit risk and the loss allowance is measured
on 12m ECL basis.

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 and 2019, the
Group assessed the ECL for restricted cash and bank
balances and cash were insignificant and thus no loss
allowance was recognised.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
regarding bank balances, with exposure spread over a
number of banks.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HEZE =T =T F+ A=+ —BLFE
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EREABEEEERBUR
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HMERFEBEREFITEMNEER
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HEE R 1218 B MEE B BN
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EENIEABHREEBEAR
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pOliCiES (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)
Internal credit risk grading assessment

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

30 &Rt TR
(b) 2RtEMEEEERBE

/435 )

f;"'E/_ﬁ B 0 5 (8 5F 1 =)

A 58 15 1 B B2 5P AR AT 1
N 5 B ) 79 R0 45 PR LR ST AR AT A

comprises the following categories: BIEATER

Internal Trade Other

credit rating Description receivables financial assets

P & 1= A F 4 i it FE Wt B2 5 BR =X Hith&REE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not ~ 12-month ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired

AENS S RHpHFENARBE BREEMAH 2HEHAEEFE 12EAEHEE
T — REBEERRE B

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not  Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources

3= BREBANNAENESIIHER THREBEEER 2HEHEERR
PEHERAR - ERRAREZEM — REGERAREE — REGERAREE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired

B8 ERBRAZBEFHEGERRRE PHEHEEEFE 2HESEEER

— ERRE — ERRE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written ~ Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the off
Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

Bt BERBBRABEABBRENN K REME REME

RE - MAEAEERERENRE AR
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

30 € T H»

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) £REREEHERBK

pOliCiES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

EEERFA L

TRAMINETAEENERE
ENERRARKD  ZXEHEE

assessment: B8 L
External Internal
credit credit
rating rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
hip LE
ERFE GERFE 2ERS2HENEEEHE BRELE
2020 2019
—BCZ¥F —T-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 3E BE®FRT BETx
Financial assets at
amortised cost
S EET
SHEE
Restricted cash and bank 20 (Note) N/A 12-month ECL 149,766 119,547
balances and cash
TRERES KRBT (P 3E) T A NEABRHEESSE
EHkES
Trade receivables 19 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL 29,305 247,843
BB 5 85 3% NiE A 1R B FHEREESAE
Other receivables 19 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 91 3,377
H & W 508 TiE 15 & R NEABEBEERS
Deposits paid 19 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 34 89
BT NEA e NEARHEESRE

Note:  The credit risk is limited because the counterparties are banks and financial

institutions with high reputation.

M FERBRER BREFHIREEREN
RITR BB -
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pOliCiES (continued)
Market risk

(1)

Foreign currency risk management
While most of the Group’s operations are

transacted in the functional currencies of the

respective group entities, the Group undertakes
certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. The Group currently has not formulated
any hedging policies against its exposure to
currency risk. However, the Group manages its
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rate and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency

exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary
assets and monetary liabilities denominated in

REMBREME @

ZETZH=+_BLFEE

30 &Rt TR
(b) ﬁmﬂ]ﬁlf’qﬂﬁ*ﬁ'&ﬁﬁﬁ

H'J'izﬂﬁz?

(1)

Sh B 7 B B EE
BEAREBRBOHERT
NEEBEEZINEEE
EIT EARSEBEETET
AINE T EZR S - A&
EREITERLEEER ﬁ
%ll TE AT ] 8 B SR
$EILLMWWE
9I\IZET*%§U”*£§ﬁ9l\M
BB THEREEERZE
B ERKINERR

AEBELINESTE(BREE
B REERER(ER

foreign currencies (HK$, Mongolia Tughrik (“MNT") BERDREARE) ZE®E
and RMB) at end of both reporting periods are as ENEBEBENMERS
follows: R ZEREEMT :
HK$ MNT RMB
e BE#ER ARE
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT
As at 31st December, 2020 R-ZE-THE
+=A=+—H
Assets BE 6,827 3,693 79
Liabilities BfE 287,659 17,513 —
As at 31st December, 2019 N-ZE—HE
+=—A=+—8
Assets BE 2,634 713 445
Liabilities BE 285,507 14,884 1,977
Sensitivity analysis BRERE DT
The following table details the Group's sensitivity TRFFAHAREE LA

to a 5% (2019: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2019:
5%) represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates.

BEBEREMNNEEKY
RSN 5% (Z =2 — A
F5%)EBRABXE -
5% (=T — NLF :5%)K
%mﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬂ%
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 # =

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pOliCiES (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(1)

Foreign currency risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at end of reporting period
for a 5% (2019: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates a
decrease in post-tax loss (2019: decrease in post-
tax loss) for the year where the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities strengthen
5% (2019: 5%) against the

currency. For a 5% (2019: 5%) weakening of the

relevant foreign

functional currencies of the relevant group entities
against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the result for the

—ECTFEF+_AZ=Zt+—ALEE

30 &Rt TR
(b) 2RtEMEEEERBE

(1)

ﬂ'i%ﬂﬁz?(f*)

(1) IpEE @Eﬁ? (%)
BREE D )
BRESNEBFERER
B ASNEE ST E R & & I8

B WERSHRAEH
BB - DAE NS IE K 2 )
5% (ZZF— NLF:5%)c°
UTEHEERTRFAREES
BRI (ZT—NhF: Bk
BiERLD)  HPEEER
%%mmgigma%ﬁma
EEE N T5%(ZF

—NF:5%) - fWiEEE
EEEMNNEE® L AAE
HNEE B BS% (=T — K

year. F:5%) Ale ¥ FRE
BEFRFERNTE

2020 2019

—EB-FF —NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

EETR BT T

HK$ B 11,725 11,791

MNT B%Er 622 592

RMB AR® (3) 64
This is mainly attributable to the exposure EFEZRARAFEBRRK
outstanding on trade and other receivables, B EWE 5 AR 5K CE e
restricted cash, bank balances and cash, bank HﬁZ/TA X R AR S IR
borrowings and amounts due to ultimate holding ﬁ%l/x KB e RITE
company and fellow subsidiaries denominated at &rﬁrﬂ% [ @/NCIDN
the end of the reporting period. H B R E R R RIBEE

ﬂifaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁlmﬁﬁﬁﬁ
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pOliCiES (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(11)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings (see
Note 23 for details).
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the

The Group’s cash flow

fluctuation of HIBOR. The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure

they are within reasonable range.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
rates for

based on the exposure to interest

variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
existed for the whole year. A 50 (2019: 50) basis
points decrease

increase or represents

management’s assessment of the reasonably

possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 (2019: 50) basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the
2020 would have
(2019:

year ended 31st December,
increased/decreased by HK$1,445,000
increased/decreased by HK$2,276,000)

FEMBERRMEE @

ZETZH=+_BLFEE

30 &Rt TR
(b) 2RtEMEEEERBE

(1)

ﬁ%ﬂﬁW7

(11)

e
$El%§ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ
Fﬁﬁ%mﬁ%miﬂ
[ B (7% 15 78 2 B B =E

23) ° $%.m£ﬂimu§ﬂ
XEBETEEPERE
ﬂH%ﬁEW&E°$%
B R 4% ) & K Ko B & AY
EEMNXEHELNE

FEKRERHEMNEE
- EEEHELEE R
RMFEMEB RO
- WHEREESIEEE
A o

BRERE DN

T HBRRE» T IBIEZ
Eﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬂmﬂ
B HETE K o 2 AT = RN
RFEEHROKREEES
CHETEREFHNREE
BEBSEF - BEELHF
AR AR LN HE
SOfEl EE M E R (=T — 1
F  SOfEEE) o

WMERFE EF T BESOE
HE(ZT—NF : 50EE
2h) - I B 5 AT
RETE AXEEHZ
ZEZTEF+ZRAR=+—
HIEFENHEEBEL
o R 7 1,445,000
ZTE-NFEMORD
75 #52,276,00070) °
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 HEZE =T =T F+ A=+ —BLFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

pOliCiES (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Company, the directors of the Company have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group
in light of the fact that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$46,097,000 for the year ended 31st December, 2020
and as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$124,700,000.

The directors of the Company have performed an
assessment of the Group’s future liquidity and cash
flows, taking into account on certain covenant in respect
of bank borrowings, the Group’s operating cash flows
and available unutilised short-term banking facilities.

The directors of the Company consider that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations for at
least the next twelve months from the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements.

30 &Rt TR
(b) 2RtEMEEEERBE

HENE £ B R
RERRBHE AR - AEM
BEERERRERRSSED
BEREBERARRZAT @ I
BAAEEZ 2EMRBES KA
BRERERDIHE -TRE
ERBITREKOEAER WL
R E KR M )4 5F -

ERNEARATBRE_E_EF+=
A=+—RLEFEMNFEBARE
#546,097,0007T - LR E B A&
EoRBaBEFERBY
124,700,0007T * ANARIMEEE
REARNANEHTBREEE
HEERETAEENARESR
BT o

ARANEFCHHEARENR
KnSEERRERE  Hat
RUEERZOMESHHR R &
SENEEReRERATANE
APANERRITEER-

ARAREZRA BHEAGHY
BHREik<BEEL>T_BAR -
AEEKERHNEEESRS
HELRHESYBITENHKE
£
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

30 &Rt TR
MEMEEBERBEK

(b) &

/4

i

(45 )

AREEL R

LiQUidity risk (continued)
Weighted On demand or Total Carrying
average less than undiscounted  amount at
interest rate 3 months  4-12 months 1-2 years  cash flows 31.12.2020
k- k-3 4
i B®RY mE *fR +tZA=Z+-
THHE  PRZER +ZfER -EZME HEREAH BAREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B BETT BETT BETR BETT BETT
2020 k- k- 3
Non-derivative instruments FHETIR
Trade, bills and other payables and ERBFER  FEREMER N/A
accruals HRR R HR TER 21,592 - - 21,592 21,592
Bank borrowings RITIE
— Variable interest rate — FEFx 2.55 285,497 - - 285,497 282,125
Amount due to an intermediate holding  FEff — R N 2K N/A
company NGE e TER 1,892 - - 1,892 1,892
Amount due to ultimate holding company & ff & &2 N/A
INSES] TEH 1,977 — — 1,977 1,977
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ERRASRNE N/A
RERA TER 140 - - 140 140
Lease liability HERE 442 87 145 - 232 228
311,185 145 - 311,330 307,954
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

()

pOliCiES (continued)

30 € T H»

(b)

EREABEEEERBUR

V2=

LiQUidity risk (continuea) /’;ﬁggﬁﬁﬂﬁ(@)
Weighted On demand or Total Carrying
average less than undiscounted amount at

interest rate

3 months ~ 4-12 months 1-2 years cash flows — 31.12.2019

ZZ-NF
i e mz KB TZA=1—
FhHME  SR=MEA +=f@A —EMF REREAH BEREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
2019 —E-hE
Non-derivative instruments FETA
Trade, bills and other payables and ERBFER  FEREMER N/A
accruals HE TER 241,622 — — 241,622 241,622
Bank borrowings RITIE R
— Variable interest rate s Lk 4.07 545,085 — - 545,085 538,774
Amount due to an intermediate holding & — R N 2K N/A
company NGIE TEA 1,901 — - 1,901 1,901
Amount due to ultimate holding company {7 & 4 2 ik N/A
REARA TER 1977 — - 1,977 1977
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ERRASZNE N/A
DEARR TER 140 - - 140 140
Lease liability BEER 4402 87 261 231 579 559
790,812 261 231 791,304 784,973
Fair value measurement of financial (c) EMTEHZAFEHSE

instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values.

TREENEMABIRFED
UBBRBR 2 RED T REERE
EEARZEBRABE -

KAREERR  NEEUBR
RARBHAAINRZ EREE
kemAEREEREEQFEME

4+

= o
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

Effective from 1st December, 2000, the Group has participated
in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
for all its eligible employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme
is to make the required contributions under the scheme. No
forfeited contributions are available to reduce the contribution

payable in the future years.

Mongolia

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the
Mongolia, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (“the Schemes”) organised by the
Government of Mongolia whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Schemes at a rate of 11%-13.5%
of the eligible employees’ salaries. Contributions to the

Schemes vest immediately.

PRC

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Company’s PRC subsidiary is required to participate in a
defined contribution retirement scheme administrated by the
The Group’s PRC subsidiary
contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage of

local municipal government.
the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of
the employees. The principal obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the

required contributions under the scheme.

During the year, the total amount contributed by the Group to
the relevant retirement benefit schemes is HK$599,000 (2019:
HK$771,000).

31.

REMBREME @

das = = b 5 = Nl eEEE

iR 1k 8 # 5t S

BiE
AEBR_ZTETFT_A—HER
HEEMAEAERERZ R —IABH
HAREFE(RESE]) - 8E
TEFEIRBEAHE B ST RO
BREEATEETEEEREM - RE
TR CEERBILETAES &
AEEZEENHABE REBRES
AEZARR - BEREEBERBAR
MAEEZ L R EMEL R &
SERRESFERAZE-BER
REBFEMEL B MR - NREEME
282 U R AR P R R E AT 2 it

Eon
A °

E ]

REXHZBEBE TEARERP - K
SE2EILTBAEMR 2 EBAHERER
@A 8 ([ZFrHED - Bt - K
SEBERCERBEFEZZNNE
13.5% A% FaT B fFHEHR - M ER
Bl 2 Ry BNES 55 /8 o

$E

REBEFBEERERLER  ARRHE
PERANTFRASEZMAN T T
BNEENTEREEFRAKE - A%
EONPEEATFRAREMRTRE
HB T ¥ T & & — £ b Pl A e st &
HFAXHBINERE AEH
BRKBHETE 2 EBEEE/REF
SMEH TR -

FRNAEEMEBERKENGTE 22
X A 75 #599,000T (ZF — L F -
B 771,0007T) °
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32. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

32.

GERERERMEE
MEGTHRMELARBD

2 8
TRENAEERETHMELEEE
WEHFE BRAESRFER

H-RMEAPMELABNRERE
ERIBENAEEGERERER
NP BERKXERELZDNRERE -

Amount due Amount due Interests
toan  Amount due to a joint payable
intermediate to ultimate  Amounts due operator (included
holding holding to fellow (included in Lease in other Bank
company company  subsidiaries other payables) liability payables) borrowings
EREEHRE
Eft-Fat ERsSER  ERESR (GARHER FEf I8 (GEA
BRASRE AFRE  HWEAIRE HIE) HEER HHEHRE RATHER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL AR BB BETL AR BB BETL
As at 1st January, 2019 R=%-1%-B-B 1910 1977 117 14,400 - - -
Changes from financing cash flows: HERSRESES:
Advance from fellow subsidiaries ABZHERRBR - - 3 - - - -
Lease payments BERT - - - - (108) - -
Interest paid BRFME - - — = ] (14712) -
Advance from a joint operator RE—REEAZER - - - 377 - - —
Proceeds from borrowings BRZMBIE - - - - - - 795,380
Repayments of borrowings BEEH - - - - - - (248,703)
Payment of loan front-end fee ERNSERMT — — — — — — (8,792)
Other changes: £ 25:
Exchange differences Eizd 9) — - (74) — — (1,592)
New lease entered during the year ERiTIIRE - - - - 667 - -
Finance costs BB — — — — 8 14,876 —
Front-end fees amortisation ERRSEREE — — - — — — 2,481
As at 31st December, 2019 RZB-1%
+ZA=+-H 1,901 1977 140 14,703 559 164 538,774
Changes from financing cash flows: HERSREES:
Lease payments BERH - - - - (331) - —
Interest paid BRfE — - - — (16) (13,839) —
Advance from a joint operator RE—REEAZER - - - 2304 - - —
Proceeds from borrowings ERZHETE — — — — — — 332,133
Repayments of borrowings BEER - - - - - - (595,876)
Other changes: £i2e:
Exchange differences Eizg 9) - - (67) - - 4,155
Finance costs YHHE - — — — 16 13,738 —
Front-end fees amortisation LEGEEE§ - - - - - - 2,939
As at 31st December, 2020 ek gt 23
tZA=+-H 1,892 1977 140 16,960 28 63 282,125
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The following transactions and balances were entered into

during the year or outstanding at end of reporting period

respectively.

()

(i)

33. FAE IR EE
DA 32 55 & 5 8 9 B3 €8 79 3T Sz 3t
SEEENCEY ) B

Remuneration of directors and other () EERHEBEEETEER
members of key management EZiMe
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FRNEEREMFEZEEREKE
management during the year was as follows: ZHMenT
2020 2019
i pu 33 —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Short-term benefits 5 HifE A 5,167 5,509
Post-employment benefits RIKERT 132 58
5,299 5,567
The remuneration of directors and key executives is FTNEEEERESFREETH
determined by the remuneration committee having ABZEBKRBERMSBEES
regard to the performance of individuals and market TEAREE 2 B -
trends.
Other related party transaction (i) HEAERRXS

During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Group
paid rental and related expenses of HK$257,000 (2019:
HK$260,000) to a fellow subsidiary for its office in the
PRC.

The related party transaction does not constitute a
disclosed continuing connected transaction as defined in
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange.

HE-_£2-_ZF+-_A=+—H
IEFER AEEREMRFTE
i 2=-3- ADIEESES0)--PNCI S
& & BB 32 78 #257,0000T
(ZZE— 1% : %B%260,0007T) °

Itk B8 3% 75 32 5 3 T B 52 P B
HFEMRRAUAMER Z RBEFER
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
REMBRRMET @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 #HE=E=-—T-—ZTHF+_-_F -+ —BILFE

34.

XTI BIRR R HiER

RBEHPREFLFHHRK

Company at end of reporting period: MR :
2020 2019
—E-FEF —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
EETR BT T
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTBRRIZIRE 60,010 265,010
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG S 369,179 337,149
429,189 602,159
Current assets mENE E
Other receivables and prepayments H b E SR IE A
& R 145 145
Prepaid tax TET B 5K 172 —
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREER 2 24,791 5,495
25,108 5,640
Current liabilities mBBEE
Other payables and accruals H A &~ FRIE A K&
JEET R K 1,939 3,474
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR NG B 165,993 305,388
167,932 308,862
Net current liabilities mEBREFE (142,824) (303,222)
Net assets BEFE 286,365 298,937
Capital and reserves N E
Share capital fig AR 4,892 4,892
Share premium and reserves 15 a8 K 281,473 294,045
286,365 298,937
On behalf of the directors REEER
Zhong lJie Zhang Yi
sER k&
Director Director
EF =
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 BHZE=-Z =T +t=-_A=+ —HIFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 3. AATIMBIRARHER

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (ontinvea (&)
(b) Statement of changes in equity (b) HEZEBER
Non-
Share Share Capital distributable Translation Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total

kx  Ritg® A%EG TUSREE BRERE  RHER it
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
AETT  E%Tn  EETR  BMTR  B%Tn B%Tn  B¥TR

At 1st January, 2019 RIZ-NF
-A—A 4,892 868,805 30,748 98,291 2,302 (524,043) 480,995
Loss for the year FRER — — — — — (1819220 (181,922)
Exchange differences arising  REMEEZEXZE
on translation — - - — (136) - (136)

At 31st December, 2019 RZE-NE

+-A=+-H 4,892 868,805 30,748 98,291 2,166 (705,965) 298,937

Loss for the year FRER — — — — — (12,714) (12,714)
Exchange difference arising ~ REME4CEXEZE

on translation — — — — 142 — 142

At 31st December, 2020 R-B-FE
+-B=+-8 4,892 868,805 30,748 98,291 2,308 (718,679) 286,365
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinved
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020 #HE=E=-—T-—ZTHF+_-_F -+ —BILFE

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at end of both reporting

35. XA BA SIS

RMEREHR - ARRZME AR

periods are as follows:

B -

Issued and

Proportion of ownership

Name of Place of Place of fully paid share/ interest/voting power Principal
subsidiary incorporation operation registered capital held by the Company activities
ERTRER FATREEEL/
WBARER EMHIRE BENH i/ #RRE RERZILH IREH
Directly Indirectly
E& R
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBI%F T ZBIBE —_TN%
% % % %
China Nuclear International ~ British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 - — Supply chain and uranium
Corporation ("BVI") US§50,000 trade
hHREREEERAA RERREE &b i 5 % 250,000 BEERHES
CNNC (HK) Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 - —  Investment holding
HK$10,000
h#(FE) i i L@REE10,0007T RERR
CNNC International Holdings ~ PRC PRC Registered capital 100 100 - — Supply chain
(Shenzhen) Limited (Note i) HK$60,000,000
PRERAR(RIBERAE FHE HE HERES e 5
(Pr7Ei) 60,000,0007C
deal Mining BVI Hong Kong Registered capital 100 100 - — Investment holding
US$50,000
BRBREERAA EBRIES Bk i1 & 2% £50,0007 RERR
Western Fortune Limited Malaysia Malaysia Registered capital 100 100 - — Investment holding
US$100
SAECEFHEERLA SRAEZ SRAZ HMERZ21007 REALR
Emeelt Mines LLC Mongolia Mongolia Registered capital - — 100 100 Mineral exploration in the
S$10,000 Mongolia
Emeelt Mines LLC Exe b i ERZ 2100007 RERERE
Note: B 3 -
(i) CNNC International Holdings (Shenzhen) Limited is a wholly foreign owed enterprise (i) Az BB AR ORI AR A R R AEF B KI5
established in the PRC. HBALE-
(ii) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of 2020 and 2019. (ii) RZTZZFR-Z-NFFR BEMNEAA

BITEMNEBES -



36.

37.

38.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (onineq

REMBREME @

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 # = — EFE+ZA=+—HILFE

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31st December, 2020 and 2019, the Group had no
significant capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31st December, 2020 and 2019, the Group had no
significant contingent liabilities.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

a) MPF offsetting mechanism
The Hong Kong Legislative Council has, on 9th June,
2022, passed the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill
2022 (the "“Bill") to abolish the MPF offsetting
mechanism. It is envisaged that the cancellation of
mechanism will not come into effect until 2025 at the
earliest.

The abolishment of the MPF offsetting mechanism will
not have retrospective effect, and the Bill will not
change the rate and maximum payment of statutory
severance payments or long service payments, which is
currently calculated as 2/3 of the employee’s last
monthly wages (capped at HK$22,500), and subject to
the maximum limit of HK$390,000.

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of the Bill to the Group. The Group is not yet in
a position to state whether the abolishment of the MPF
offsetting mechanism will result in substantial change to
the Group’s financial statements.

b) Discontinued operation
On 6th July, 2020, the Company announced to gradually
reduce the scale of its supply chain management
business. The supply chain business was then suspended
with the last sale transaction entered into late 2020 and
discontinued in first half of 2021.

It constituted discontinued operation under HKFRS 5
“Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” and disclosed in the financial statement in
the coming year as supply chain management business
represented one of the major business lines of the
Group.

36. &

37.

38.

FERAE
R-B-TER-F-AE+=A
=B ARBEREAAAES -

HABR
KR-E-PER-Z-AF+=A
=+ AREBSEARARE

HiEEE

a) REEHPEH
EEUEECEN T - _F5<A
NARB(CZE__FERER
RETEE G (S8 22 BE) (1B F]) 1§
PIBR)TEBIEZR]) - AR
B H R o TEETEUS# HI &
FBR-_ZE-_RAFAASER-

BUHRES PRI ETeRE
BRES MEHNERETEE
WEMBXRARBEHLERR
R EE BRIREERE
REEN=0 2 _5tE (LR A
#22,50070) &= R A A
390,0007T °

AEBERRFEGIEREAR
SEEKRNTE - AEBEHAKEE
MEBERSECH TRIEEE
HASENMBHRRERERE
) o

b) z««M%ﬁ
EC —EFELARB AR
gﬁﬁLFﬁﬁﬂQﬁJ %@ﬁa@%ﬁ%
HMERER  HEBXKEE
®— éfﬁ%ﬁc%%_?_;if
M YR T —F EFFR
1F e

HBEXEB YGRS ERESR
[(FERE RRILEEEBNIE
MBEEINKIEREXER R
REEREERXRBEAAEENT
BEBRZ— -
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Financial Summary

MBRE

Set out below is a financial summary of the Group for each of the

five years ended 31st December, 2020:

ATHIANEBBE_T_-F

#+=A

ST HLAEFESFZMBHME

RESULTS ¥4
For the year ended 31st December,
BET-RA=t+-HILEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

“E-RF “E—tF “E-N\F ZE-NEF —ZECFE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Revenue g 189,429 652,600 1,992,052 3,169,836 1,662,470
(Loss) profit before tax BREA (B8 RN (28,192) 257 4,29 (217,406) (42,237)
Income tax expense (credit) MERAY (HEe) - — 19,321 (1,917) (3,860)
(Loss) profit for the year FR(ER)EH (28,192) 257 23613 (219,323) (46,097)
(Loss) earnings per share Fhk(5E)&H
— Basic (HK cents) — EA(B) (5.8) 0.1 48 (44.8) (9.4)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERABRE

As at 31st December,
R+=R=+-8
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

“E-RF “E—tF “E-N\F ZE-NEF ZECFE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Total assets BEE 792,148 728,390 610,767 1,147,144 617,854
Total liabilities BEE (250,265) (182,684) (44,073) (812,222) (308,787)
Equity attributable to owners of NS DN/ A
the Company E# 541,883 545,706 566,694 334,922 309,067
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